	Hig	2019 Faculty of Medicine and Life Sciences
Stichting transnationale Universiteit Limburg (tUL) is a cooperation between Hasselt University (Belgium) and Maastricht University (the Netherlands) and can be considered as one university with a home base in each	gh-Intensity Interval	UHASSELT Maastricht University
	Training i	Doctoral dissertation submitted to obtain the degree of Doctor of Biomedical Sciences, to be defended by
	in Diabetic Cardiomyopathy	Maxim Verboven DOCTORAL DISSERTATION High-Intensity Interval Training in Diabetic Cardiomyopathy
▶ ▶	axim Ver	Promoter: Prof. Dr Virginie Bito UHasselt
UHASSELT www.uhasselt.be Hasselt University Martelarenlaan 42 BE-3500 Hasselt	.boven	Co-promoters: Prof. Dr Dominique Hansen UHasselt Prof. Dr Bert Op't Eijnde UHasselt
KNOWLEDGE IN ACTION		

"Progress is made by trial and failure; the failures are generally hundred times more numerous than the successes; yet they are usually left unchronicled."

William Ramsay (1852 - 1916)

Members of the jury

Prof. dr. M. Ameloot, Hasselt University, Diepenbeek, Belgium, *chairman*Prof. dr. V. Bito, Hasselt University, Diepenbeek, Belgium, *promotor*Prof. dr. D. Hansen, Hasselt University, Diepenbeek, Belgium, *copromotor*Prof. dr. B.O. Eijnde, Hasselt University, Diepenbeek, Belgium, *copromotor*Prof. Dr. P. Dendale, Hasselt University, Diepenbeek, Belgium, *jury member*Prof. Dr. B. Cosyns, Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Brussel, Belgium, *jury member*Prof. Dr. D. J. Duncker, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam, The Netherlands, *jury member*

Table of Contents

Table of Contents		I
List of Figures		VII
List of Ta	List of Tables	
List of ab	breviations	XI
1 IN	ITRODUCTION AND AIMS	2
1.1 W	hat is Diabetes Mellitus?	2
1.1.1	Diabetes classification and importance of insulin	2
1.1.2	Prevalence and incidence of diabetes worldwide	4
1.1.3	Prediabetes and diagnosis of diabetes	5
1.1.4	Lifestyle factors in diabetes	7
1.2 Dia	abetic cardiomyopathy	8
1.2.1	Myocardial substrate utilisation and cardiac lipotoxicity	8
1.2.2	Altered insulin signalling	9
1.2.3	Hyperglycemia	10
1.2.4	Inflammation and diabetic cardiomyopathy	12
1.2.5	Calcium handling	15
1.2.6	Mitochondrial dysfunction	15
1.2.7	Oxidative stress in the diabetic heart	16
1.2.8	The renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system	17
1.3 Ex	ercise as a therapy for diabetic patients	20
1.4 Ex	ercise in cardiovascular diseases	21
1.5 Ex	ercise modalities	23
2 0	BJECTIVES AND GENERAL OUTLINE	28
3 W	ESTERN DIET GIVEN TO HEALTHY RATS MIMICS THE HUMAN	
PHENOTYPE OF DIABETIC CARDIOMYOPATHY		32
3.1 Ab	stract	32

3.2	Ba	ckground	33
3.3	Re	search design and methods	35
	3.3.1	Study protocol	35
	3.3.2	Conventional echocardiographic measurements	35
	3.3.3	Hemodynamic measurements	36
	3.3.4	Oral glucose tolerance test and insulin resistance assessment	36
	3.3.5	Lipid profile determination	36
	3.3.6	Fibrosis measurement	36
	3.3.7	Western blot	37
	3.3.8	Real-time PCR	37
	3.3.9	AGEs determination	38
	3.3.10	Statistical analysis	38
3.4	Re	sults	39
	3.4.1	Effect of Western diet on animal characteristics	39
	3.4.2	Glucose tolerance is progressively altered with Western diet	40
	3.4.3	Western diet promotes the development of early signs of cardiac alteration	42
	3.4.4	Other associated hallmarks of DCM are present after 18 weeks Western diet	43
3.5	b Dis	cussion	45
	3.5.1	Relevance of the animal model used	45
	3.5.2	Unanswered questions and future research	47
3.6	i Co	nclusion	47

4 HIGH-INTENSITY TRAINING IMPROVES CARDIAC FUNCTION IN

HEA	LTH	Y RATS	50
4.1	Ab	stract	50
4.2	Bad	ckground	51
4.3	Me	thods	53
4.	.3.1	Study protocol and exercise intervention	53
4.	.3.2	Conventional echocardiographic measurements	53
4.	.3.3	Hemodynamic measurements	54
4.	.3.4	Citrate synthase activity in cardiac homogenates	54

4.3	.5	Fibrosis and capillary density measurements in tissue sections	54
4.3	.6	Endothelin-1, OXPHOS and NOX2 protein levels	55
4.3	.7	Complex II enzyme activity	55
4.3	.8	Statistical analysis	55
4.4	Re	sults	57
4.4	.1	Different exercise types improve cardiac function to the same extent	57
4.4	.2	As opposed to MIT, HIIT training is able to increase capillary density	59
4.5	Dis	cussion	61
4.5	.1	Both HIIT and MIT lead to beneficial cardiac remodelling, resulting in an	
		improved cardiac function through reduced afterload	61
4.5	.2	What is the added value of HIIT?	63
4.6	Co	nclusion	64

5 EFFECT OF EXERCISE INTERVENTION ON CARDIAC FUNCTION		Ν	
T١	'PE 2	DIABETES MELLITUS: A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW	68
5.1	L At	ostract	68
5.2	5.2 Introduction		69
5.3	8 M	ethods	70
	5.3.1	Literature Search and Selection Criteria	70
5.4	l Re	sults	73
	5.4.1	Quality Control of Included Studies	73
	5.4.2	Human studies	73
	5.4.2.	1 Diastolic Function	73
	5.4.2.	3LV Dimensions and Structure	83
	5.4.3	Animal Studies	84
5.5	5 Di	scussion	89
	5.5.1	Exercise Improves Cardiac Function	89
	5.5.2	Type of Exercise Does not Seem to Affect Outcome	90
	5.5.3	Different Underlying Mechanisms of Exercise Training Modalities in T2DM w	/ith
		DCM Remain Unclear	91
	5.5.4	Limitations	94

6	6 IS HIGH-INTENSITY INTERVAL TRAINING AS EFFICIENT AS		
M	ODER	ATE INTENSITY TRAINING IN REVERSING THE ADVERSE	
EF	FECT	S OF DIABETIC CARDIOMYOPATHY?	98
6.1	L Ab	stract	98
6.2	6.2 Introduction		100
6.3	B Me	ethods	101
	6.3.1	Experimental set-up	101
	6.3.2	Conventional echocardiographic measurements	102
	6.3.3	Hemodynamic measurements	103
	6.3.4	Oral glucose tolerance test and insulin resistance assessment	103
	6.3.5	Lipid profile determination	103
	6.3.6	Fibrosis measurement	103
	6.3.7	Western blot	104
	6.3.8	Citrate synthase activity in cardiac homogenates	104
	6.3.9	Statistical analysis	104
6.4	Re	sults	105
	6.4.1	Both exercise modalities are equally efficient on general animal	
		characteristics	105
	6.4.2	Cardiac function is restored after both exercise modalities in diabetic	
		animals	106
	6.4.3	Molecular mechanisms in the development of diabetic cardiomyopathy	109
6.5	5 Dis	cussion	111
	6.5.1	Mechanisms behind diabetic cardiomyopathy and the effect of exercise	112
6.6	5 Co	nclusion	115

7	DETRAINING IN TYPE 2 DIABETES MELLITUS AN	ID UNDERLYING
MEC	CHANISMS: A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW	118
7.1	Abstract	118
7.2	Introduction	119

7.3 N	ethods	120
7.3.1	Literature search, selection criteria and quality control	120
7.3.2	Quality control of the selected articles	122
7.4 R	sults	122
7.4.1	Quality assessment of the included studies	122
7.4.2	Human studies	122
7.4.3	Animal studies	123
7.5 D	scussion	129
7.5.1	Effects of different exercise modalities on the occurrence of detraining	
	effects	129
7.5.2	Underlying mechanisms	130
7.5.3	Limitations	131
7.6 C	nclusion	131
8 S	UMMARY AND GENERAL CONCLUSIONS	134
8.1 A	animal model representing T2DM and DCM	134
8.2 TI	e effects of exercise on healthy and diabetic animals	135
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
8.3 W	hat after revalidation?	139
8.3 W 8.4 Li	hat after revalidation? nitations	139 139
8.3 W 8.4 Li 8.5 Fu	hat after revalidation? nitations ture perspectives	139 139 140
 8.3 W 8.4 Li 8.5 Fu 8.5.1 	hat after revalidation? nitations ture perspectives Is exercise able to prevent the development of T2DM and DCM?	139 139 140 140
 8.3 W 8.4 Li 8.5 Ft 8.5.1 8.5.2 	hat after revalidation? mitations ture perspectives Is exercise able to prevent the development of T2DM and DCM? Is HIIT more efficient in sustaining the exercise effects after a period of	139 139 140 140
 8.3 W 8.4 Li 8.5 Ft 8.5.1 8.5.2 	hat after revalidation? mitations ture perspectives Is exercise able to prevent the development of T2DM and DCM? Is HIIT more efficient in sustaining the exercise effects after a period of detraining in DCM?	 139 139 140 140 140
 8.3 W 8.4 Li 8.5 Fu 8.5.1 8.5.2 8.5.3 	hat after revalidation? mitations ture perspectives Is exercise able to prevent the development of T2DM and DCM? Is HIIT more efficient in sustaining the exercise effects after a period of detraining in DCM? Mechanisms and evolution of T2DM and DCM.	 139 139 140 140 140 142
 8.3 W 8.4 Li 8.5 Fu 8.5.1 8.5.2 8.5.3 	hat after revalidation? mitations ture perspectives Is exercise able to prevent the development of T2DM and DCM? Is HIIT more efficient in sustaining the exercise effects after a period of detraining in DCM? Mechanisms and evolution of T2DM and DCM.	 139 139 140 140 140 142
 8.3 W 8.4 Li 8.5 Fu 8.5.1 8.5.2 8.5.3 9 N 	hat after revalidation? mitations ture perspectives Is exercise able to prevent the development of T2DM and DCM? Is HIIT more efficient in sustaining the exercise effects after a period of detraining in DCM? Mechanisms and evolution of T2DM and DCM. EDERLANDSE SAMENVATTING	 139 139 140 140 140 142 144
 8.3 W 8.4 Li 8.5 Fu 8.5.1 8.5.2 8.5.3 9 N 	hat after revalidation? mitations ture perspectives Is exercise able to prevent the development of T2DM and DCM? Is HIIT more efficient in sustaining the exercise effects after a period of detraining in DCM? Mechanisms and evolution of T2DM and DCM. EDERLANDSE SAMENVATTING	 139 139 140 140 140 142 144
 8.3 W 8.4 Li 8.5 Fu 8.5.1 8.5.2 8.5.3 9 N 10 C 	hat after revalidation? mitations ture perspectives Is exercise able to prevent the development of T2DM and DCM? Is HIIT more efficient in sustaining the exercise effects after a period of detraining in DCM? Mechanisms and evolution of T2DM and DCM. EDERLANDSE SAMENVATTING THER	 139 139 140 140 140 142 144 148
 8.3 W 8.4 Li 8.5 Fu 8.5.1 8.5.2 8.5.3 9 N 10 C Reference 	hat after revalidation? mitations ture perspectives Is exercise able to prevent the development of T2DM and DCM? Is HIIT more efficient in sustaining the exercise effects after a period of detraining in DCM? Mechanisms and evolution of T2DM and DCM. EDERLANDSE SAMENVATTING THER le list	139 139 140 140 140 142 144 148 148
8.3 W 8.4 Li 8.5 Fu 8.5.1 8.5.2 8.5.3 9 N 10 C Reference Curricula	hat after revalidation? mitations ture perspectives Is exercise able to prevent the development of T2DM and DCM? Is HIIT more efficient in sustaining the exercise effects after a period of detraining in DCM? Mechanisms and evolution of T2DM and DCM. EDERLANDSE SAMENVATTING THER te list im Vitae	139 139 140 140 140 142 144 148 148 207

Dankwoord

List of Figures

Figure 1: Insulin deficiency in diabetes mellitus.

Figure 2: Overview of mechanisms in diabetic cardiomyopathy.

Figure 3: Schematic presentation of my PhD project.

Figure 4: Western diet leads to T2DM.

Figure 5: Western diet increases cardiac fibrosis through an increase in LOX expression.

Figure 6: Other hallmarks of DCM are also present after 18 weeks Western diet.

Figure 7: Exercise intervention reduces cardiac collagen content.

Figure 8: Exercise intervention increases citrate synthase activity and capillary density.

Figure 9: Flowchart summary of the search for and selection of the human studies.

Figure 10: Flowchart summary of the search for and the selection of the animal studies.

Figure 11: Exercise affects both cardiomyocyte function itself and circulating factors in DCM.

Figure 12: The effect of a combined Western diet with exercise intervention on insulin and glucose levels in T2DM.

Figure 13: Effect of exercise in interstitial cardiac fibrosis.

Figure 14: Cardiac inflammation in trained and untrained diabetic animals.

Figure 15: Effect of exercise training on markers of mitochondrial mass and function in DCM.

Figure 16: Prism flowchart of search on Web of Science and PubMed.

Figure 17: A comparison of the effects of exercise in both healthy and diabetic animals.

List of Tables

Table 1: Diagnostic criteria for both T2DM and prediabetic states.

Table 2: Animal characteristics following 18 weeks Control or Western diet.

Table 3: Conventional echocardiographic parameters after 13 weeks of exercise training.

Table 4: Hemodynamic parameters after 13 weeks of exercise training.

Table 5: Summary of studies in humans included in the review, showing training type and intensity, and effects on diastolic and systolic function and left ventricle morphology.

Table 6: Summary of studies in animals included in the review, showing training type and intensity, and effects on diastolic and systolic function and left ventricle morphology.

Table 7: Animal characteristics 30 weeks after the start of the study.

Table 8: Echocardiographic analyses and hemodynamic measurements atsacrifice.

Table 9: Overview of the included studies with effects of training and detraining in the diabetic population.

List of abbreviations

ACE2	Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2
Ach	Acetylcholine
ADA	American Diabetes Federation
ADA	American Diabetes Association
AGE	Advanced glycated end-product
AMPK	Adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase
Ang II	Angiotensin II
AP	Arterial pressure
AP-1	Activating protein-1
AT1R	Angiotensin II receptor type 1
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
AUC	Area under the curve
AWT	Anterior wall thicknesses
BMI	Body mass index
BRS	Baroreflex sensitivity
BW	Body weight
cGMP	Cyclic guanosine monophosphate
CAD	Coronary artery disease
CICR	Ca ²⁺ - induced Ca ²⁺ release
СО	Cardiac output
CRP	C-reactive protein
CTGF	Connective tissue growth factor
CVD	Cardiovascular diseases
DAB	3, 3-diaminobenzidine
DAG	Diacylglycerol
DCM	Diabetic cardiomyopathy
DIO	Diet-induced obesity
DM	Diabetes mellitus
Drp-1	Dynamin-related protein 1
eNOS	Endothelial nitric oxide synthase
ECL	Enhanced chemiluminescence

ECM	Extracellular matrix
EDP	Left ventricle end diastolic pressure
EDV	End-diastolic volume
EF	Ejection fraction
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated protein kinase
ESC	European Society of Cardiology
ESV	End-systolic volume
EXPERT	Exercise Prescription Everyday Practice and Rehabilitative Training
FAT	Fatty acid translocase
FATP	Fatty acid transport protein
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
FFA	Free fatty acid
FPG	Fasting plasma glucose
FS	Fractional shortening
GAD	Glutamic acid decarboxylase
GDM	Gestational diabetes mellitus
GLUT4	Glucose transporter 4
HbA _{1C}	Glycated haemoglobin
HBP	Hexosamine biosynthetic pathway
HDL	High-density lipoproteins
HF	Heart failure
HFD	High-fat diet
HFpEF	Heart failure with preserved ejection fraction
HFrEF	Heart failure with reduced ejection fraction
HIIT	High-intensity interval training
HIPA	High-intensity physical activity
НК	Hexokinase
HOMA	Homeostatic model assessment
HR	Heart rate
Hr _{max}	Maximal heart rate
HRV	Heart rate variability
HSP	Heat shock protein
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide synthase

ICAM-1	Intercellular adhesion molecule 1
IFG	Impaired fasting glucose
IFN-γ	Interferon-gamma
IGT	Impaired glucose tolerance
IHF	Ischemic heart failure
IHR	Intrinsic heart rate
Ικβ	Inhibitor of κβ
IL-6	Interleukin-6
IRS-1	Insulin receptor substrate 1
IVRT	Isovolumic relaxation time
JNK	C-Jun N-terminal kinase
kcal	Kilocalories
L-ARG	L-arginine
LDL	Low-density lipoproteins
LIPA	Low-intensity physical activity
LOX	Lysyl oxidase
LV	Left ventricular
LVEDD	LV end-diastolic diameter
LVEDV	LV end-diastolic volume
LVESD	LV end-systolic diameter
LVESV	LV end-systolic volume
LVP	Left ventricle pressure
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MCP-1	Monocyte chemotactic protein-1
MDA	Malondialdehyde
MET	Metabolic equivalent
MIPA	Moderate-intensity physical activity
MIT	Moderate intensity training
MPTP	1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine
MR	Magnetic resonance
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
mtDNA	Mitochondrial DNA
MVC	Maximum voluntary contraction

NADPH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NCX	Sodium-calcium exchanger
NEAT	Non-exercise activity thermogenesis
NEFA	Non-esterified fatty acids
NEPA	Non-exercise physical activities
NF-kB	Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
NO	Nitric oxide
NOX	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase
02·	Superoxide anion radical
O-GlcNAc	β-O-linkage of N-acetylglucosamine
OGTT	Oral glucose tolerance test
OLETF	Otsuka Long-Evans Tokushima Fatty
OXPHOS	Oxidative phosphorylation
PAI-1	Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1
PFK	Phosphofructokinase
PG	Plasma glucose
PGC-1a	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alpha
РІЗК	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase
РКС	Protein kinase C
PKG	Protein kinase G
PPAR-a	Peroxisome proliferator activated receptor-a
(P)RR	(Pro)renin receptor
PVDF	Polyvinylidene fluoride
PWT	Posterior wall thicknesses
RAAS	Renin-angiotensin II-aldosterone system
RAGE	Receptor for advanced glycated end-product
RCT	Randomised clinical trial
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RWT	Relative wall thickness
RyR	Ryanodine receptor
S6K1	Ribosomal protein S6 kinase beta-1
SBP	Systolic blood pressure
SED	Sedentary
SEM	Standard error of the mean

SERCA	Sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca2+-ATPase
SIRT1	Sirtuin 1
SOD	Superoxide dismutase
SR	Sarcoplasmic reticulum
STZ	Streptozotocin
SV	Stroke volume
tPA	Tissue plasminogen activator
T1DM	Type 1 diabetes mellitus
T2DM	Type 2 diabetes mellitus
TAG	Triacylglycerol
TAPSE	Tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion
TBS-T	Tris-buffered saline containing Tween-20
TGF-	Transforming growth factor-B
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF-a	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
TR	Twist rate
TTE	Transthoracic echocardiography
UCP	Uncoupling protein
UCP-GlcNAc	Uridine diphosphate N-acetylglucosamine
USA	United States of America
UTR	Untwist rate
vWF	von Willebrand factor
VCAM-1	Vascular cell adhesion molecule 1
VO ₂ max	Maximal oxygen consumption
WHO	World health organisation
ZnT8	Zinc transporter-8

1

Introduction

1 Introduction and aims

1.1 What is Diabetes Mellitus?

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a chronic metabolic disease characterised by hyperglycemia, caused by insulin deficiency or insulin resistance (1). In insulin deficiency the pancreas is not able to produce a sufficient amount of insulin to regulate blood glucose, whereas insulin resistance is defined as the inability to effectively use the produced insulin (2). Currently, there are more than 420 million diabetic patients worldwide (3). As a chronic metabolic disease, DM can have severe complications affecting the kidneys, brain, eyes, blood vessels, nerves and the heart, resulting in premature death.

1.1.1 Diabetes classification and importance of insulin

Diabetes mellitus is defined as a group of metabolic disorders. The most accepted and conventional classification of diabetes is type 1 DM (T1DM), type 2 DM (T2DM) and gestational diabetes.

Type 1 diabetes, also known as insulin-dependent, juvenile or childhood-onset diabetes, is characterised by the inability of the pancreas to produce a sufficient amount of insulin (4). Generally, in T1DM, the pancreatic β -cells are destroyed by an immune-associated or direct immune-mediated response causing insulin defects (5). Therefore, a lifetime treatment with exogenous insulin is necessary for T1DM patients. While being able to be diagnosed with T1DM at any age, it is a common chronic disease of childhood (6). Mostly, diagnosis happens at the age of 5-7 or with the onset of puberty (7). Genetics play an essential role in the incidence and prevalence of diabetes, however the increase of T1DM in the last years can only be explained by lifestyle and environmental changes (8). In children, the development of two or more islet autoantibodies directed against insulin, glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD), insulinoma-associated antigen 2 or zinc transporter-8 (ZnT8) shows an increased risk of developing diabetes, with 70% of children having these antibodies progressing into diabetic patients (9). Other factors that can trigger the development of T1DM are infections (congenital rubella, enteroviral infection), diet (early exposure to cereals, root vegetables and

eggs and cow's milk) and toxins (steroid treatment) affecting children in utero, perinatally or during early childhood (10).

Only 10 % of the diabetic population suffers from T1DM. The majority of diabetic patients, 87 – 91 %, are having **type 2 diabetes** (11). T2DM, or non-insulindependent or adult-onset diabetes, is caused by the ineffectiveness of the body to use insulin (4). Symptoms of T2DM are similar to those of T1DM. However they are often dormant or less profound, making it possible for the patient to remain undiagnosed for several years. T2DM is a complex, heterogeneous disease with social, behavioural and environmental risk factors combined with genetics and heredity (12, 13).

Gestational diabetes (GDM) is temporary diabetes diagnosed during pregnancy, usually developed during the 24th week, with increased blood glucose levels but below critical/diabetic values (14, 15). Women with GDM are more likely to develop T2DM in the years following pregnancy (16, 17) and are at increased risk during pregnancy and delivery, as is their offspring (16, 18, 19).

Insulin plays a crucial role in the pathophysiology of all types of diabetes. Insulin is a hormone secreted by the β -cells of the pancreatic islets of Langerhans, aiding to maintain blood glucose levels. After a meal, glucose levels will increase, resulting in a glucose-mediated insulin secretion out of the β -cells of the pancreas. This insulin secretion will cause the storage and metabolism of glucose via the insulin receptor in insulin-sensitive tissues. During fasting periods, insulin secretion is decreased, urging the body to go for other energy sources as lipids (adipose tissue) and amino acids (protein stores in muscle and other tissues). These will be used for oxidation and as precursors for gluconeogenesis (20, 21). The uptake of glucose into the cell is carried out by the glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4). When unstimulated, the GLUT4 receptor is situated intracellular. Upon stimulation by the insulin receptor, a rapid shift from the intracellular location towards the membrane is observed for GLUT4 (22). In diabetes, the physiological working of insulin is disturbed, as shown in figure 1. As already described above, in T1DM autoantibodies destroy the β -cells of the pancreas, resulting in insulin deficiency and hyperglycemia. In T2DM cells are unable to utilise the present insulin, resulting in insulin resistance and hyperglycemia.



Figure 1: Insulin deficiency in diabetes mellitus A. Pathophysiology of insulin in Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus. B. Pathophysiology of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. GLUT 4: glucose transporter 4.

1.1.2 Prevalence and incidence of diabetes worldwide

Diabetes mellitus is a global pandemic of this time, with currently more than 422 million adult (> 18 years) diabetic patients (3). In the last decades, the number of diabetic patients has been risen due to multiple factors, such as population growth, increased life span and a higher diabetes prevalence at each age. Since 1980, the diabetic population has grown worldwide by a factor 4 (108 million in 1980; 422 million in 2014), showing the urge for a cure (4). A major concern is an increase in diabetic patients in low- and middle-income countries (23). Once considered as a disease from "Western countries", approximately 50 % of these patients are now located in the world health organisation (WHO) South-East Asia and Western Pacific Regions, with global spreading (4). The lowest numbers of diabetic patients are currently found in South and Central America and Africa, however it is estimated that in 2040 those will increase by 65 % in South and Central America and even double in sub-Saharan Africa (24). It should be taken into account that there are often inter- and intracountry differences, especially in Africa. There, 65 % of diabetic patients remain undetected, resulting in lower numbers as expected (25). Ethnicity is a significant risk factor in the development of T2DM. Chances of developing diabetes are significantly higher if one is a member of an ethnic minority group, compared with non-Hispanic whites (26). Immigration to developed countries contributes to an increased risk of T2DM (27). Minorities display a worsening in diabetic outcome with higher mortality rates, poor self-management and a higher burden of disease (27-29).

As stated before, diabetes was known as a "Western" disease. However, a remarkable increase in prevalence in developing countries is currently observed.

These countries experience rapid economic growth, conversing from low- to highincome economies rapidly, causing shifts in lifestyle habits and dietary structure (27, 30). Overnutrition is promoted by these changes, resulting in excess of energy. Animal fat and energy-dense foods are increasingly consumed, together with a decrease in fibres. Globalisation and global trade liberalisation led to increased accessibility of sugar and oils and made products more affordable (31). Fast food is on the rise, tilting the energy balance even further (30). Moreover, industrialisation causes an increasingly sedentary lifestyle, with more mechanisation and driving, replacing physical activity in daily life (32). This accumulating evidence emphasises the fact that diabetes is not only a "Western disease" anymore but a real global pandemic.

1.1.3 Prediabetes and diagnosis of diabetes

Between a healthy person and a diabetic patient, there is a diagnostic zone between 5.5 mmol/L (normal) and 7.0 mmol/L (diabetic) fasting plasma glucose, called prediabetes. Persons with prediabetes have an increase in their postprandial plasma glucose (PG) above the normal range (7.8 mmol/L) but below the borders of clinical diabetes (11.1 mmol/L) (33). Prediabetes includes patients with impaired fasting glucose (IFG) defined as a fasting plasma glucose (FPG) between 6.1 - 6.9 mmol/L. Patients with impaired glucose tolerance (IGT), defined as a postload plasma glucose of 7.8 - 11.0 mmol/L based on a 2h oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) are also considered prediabetic. At last, patients suffering from both IFG and IGT are prediabetic (33). All these patients – prediabetic, IFG, IGT – have an increased risk to develop T2DM (34, 35). There is not only the increased risk for T2DM development, but prediabetes is also often associated with other comorbidities such as cardiovascular disease, microvascular diseases, blood pressure abnormalities, metabolic syndrome and fatty liver (33). In the United States, 1 out of 3 adults is prediabetic according to the International Diabetes Federation, while only 7% of them are aware they have the condition (24). These numbers go even up to 50 % in persons over 65 years of age (36). The annualised incidence rate of diabetes is on average approximately 10 % according to different studies in prediabetic patients (37, 38). Prediabetic patients that have both IGT and IFG are at even higher risk of developing diabetes (34). Eventually, up to 70% of prediabetic patients will develop diabetes, according to the American Diabetes Federation (ADA) (35). However, prediabetic patients can reduce their risk in developing diabetes by interventions in lifestyle and with drug-based therapies (39-44).

Strict criteria are used to diagnose a person having diabetes. In table 1, the current WHO diagnostic criteria for diabetes are displayed, together with prediabetes criteria (45).

	Fasting	2h - Plasma glucose	HbA _{1C}				
	plasma						
	glucose						
T2DM	≥ 7.0 mmol/l	≥ 11.1 mmol/l (200 mg/dl)	≥ 6.5 %				
	(126 mg/dl)						
IGT	< 5.5 mmol/l	7.8 - 11.1 mmol/l (140 - 200	5.7 - 6.5 %				
	(100 mg/dl)	mg/dl)					
IFG	5.5 - 6.9	< 7.8 mmol/l (140 mg/dl)	5.7 - 6.5 %				
	mmol/l (100 –						
	125 mg/dl)						
Normal	< 5.5 mmol/l	< 7.8 mmol/l (140 mg/dl)	< 5.7 %				
	(100 mg/dl)						

Table	1: Di	agnostic	criteria	for both	T2DM	and	prediabetic s	states.
		ag	0				pi cui ab cei c	

HbA_{1C}, glycated haemoglobin

As no specific biological marker for the diagnosis of diabetes is available, plasma glucose remains the primary diagnostic criteria. Glycated haemoglobin (HbA_{1C}) can be used as a diagnostic marker since 2009 for the diagnosis of T2DM and prediabetes (46). HbA_{1C} is a stable parameter as it reflects the average plasma glucose over 2-3 months. Furthermore, the advantage of HbA_{1C} is that a single measurement can be taken any time a day without any special preparation such as fasting (47). Other measurements that increase the predicted probability of T2DM are lipid metabolites (triglycerides, cholesterol, and lipoproteins), small-molecule intermediates (2-hydroxybutyrate), and creatinine. These, combined with information about lifestyle factors such as smoking, an unhealthy diet and no physical activity, increase the probability to develop T2DM (48). Clinical trials to discover new biomarkers to check the susceptibility of T2DM in the general population are currently being performed, however specificity for T2DM is not yet

established. On the other hand, the detection of these markers occurs rather late in the development of T2DM, when patients are already showing metabolic disturbances (49, 50).

1.1.4 Lifestyle factors in diabetes

Genetics, heredity and family history are risk factors in the development of T2DM. However, not all risk factors are independent of the lifestyle of the patient. The main risk factors for T2DM are thought to be an unhealthy (or Western) diet combined with physical inactivity (51). Both factors are contributing to the global obesity pandemic, closely associated with the rise of T2DM prevalence (52). Body mass index (BMI), often used as a predictor for T2DM, is not a proper tool to estimate the risk of developing T2DM, while an increased visceral fat deposition correlates better with T2DM (53-55). Food consumption and choice of diet are important in the association with the incidence of T2DM. In general, plant-based food has a positive effect on health and prevention of diabetes, while meats are associated with an increased risk at T2DM (56). Furthermore, high-density energy foods, non-fermented dairy products, refined grains and sugar-sweetened beverages all promote higher chances of obesity and T2DM (57-67). Low-fibre diet and food with a high glycemic index are positively correlated with T2DM development (68). Fatty acids play a role in insulin resistance and diabetic risk, as well as total and saturated fat intake (69, 70). Over the last few decades, the intake of soft drinks, sweetened carbonated beverages and fruit drinks with added sugar are dramatically increased, especially in youth (71, 72). Currently, various artificially sweetened beverages and fruit juices are available on the market as alternatives for these sugar-sweetened beverages. However, their association with T2DM has not yet been established. Recently, a systematic review by Imamura et al. showed that persons consuming artificially sweetened beverages are tended to be overweight or obese or hypertensive (73-77). Either an intake of one sugar-sweetened or artificially sweetened beverage per day already increase the risk of T2DM incidence, however data of artificially sweetened beverages could be biased as stated in this review (78). Furthermore, other lifestyle factors contributing to an increased risk of developing T2DM are a sedentary lifestyle and physical inactivity. Physical activity can decrease T2DM risk by approximately 30%, independent of the type of leisure time (79). Insulin sensitivity and glycemic control have been proven to be improved after exercise (80-82). Independent of physical activity, an association is reported between obesity, diabetes, and sedentary time, with increased risk for diabetes incidence with prolonged sedentary time (83-87). Smoking is another independent risk factor for T2DM, but the mechanism is complex and not fully known yet (88-90). All these lifestyle factors increase diabetes incidence but are preventable by adaptations in personal habits. Preventing and treating diabetes should be a priority, as it is one of the major pandemics worldwide and healthcare expenditures for diabetic patients are assumed to be on average two-fold higher than non-diabetic persons. In 2015, more than 550 billion € was spent on healthcare due to diabetes (24).

1.2 Diabetic cardiomyopathy

Diabetic cardiomyopathy (DCM) is defined as diabetes-associated structural and functional changes in the myocardium, not directly attributable to other confounding factors such as coronary artery disease or hypertension, as first described by Rubler et al (91, 92). DCM is a major, chronic complication of T2DM whose prevalence is still increasing rapidly and being called a 'global emergency' (93). In diabetes, progressive structural and functional remodelling leads to gradual cardiac function impairment and ultimately compromises life expectancy. DCM is characterised by concentric hypertrophy, extracellular fibrosis, alterations at the cardiomyocyte level and changes in metabolism, leading to impaired cardiac output (94). Despite a lot of progress in understanding DCM aetiology during the last few decades, molecular mechanisms remain incompletely understood (95).

1.2.1 Myocardial substrate utilisation and cardiac lipotoxicity

In a healthy situation, the heart relies on the oxidation of substrates as free fatty acids (FFAs), glucose, lactate, ketone bodies and some amino acids to produce adenosine triphosphate (ATP). The choice of the used substrate depends mainly on availability, oxygen concentration and workload of the heart. Usually, >90 % of ATP is produced in the mitochondria, 70% using FFAs as oxidation substrate and approximately 30% glucose oxidation (96). These FFAs enter the cell via transporters, such as FA translocase/CD36 (FAT/CD36) and FA transport proteins (FATP1 and 6) (97). In the diabetic heart, despite the presence of hyperglycemia,

FFA oxidation remains the primary source of energy associated with reduced glucose oxidation (98-100). Due to failure of proper handling of insulin, it causes an abundance in circulating FFAs, which will in its turn lead to activation of the peroxisome proliferator activated receptor-a (PPARa). This latter is responsible for increased FA uptake, triacylglycerol (TAG) accumulation and reduced use of glucose (101). In addition, FFA delivery to the cardiomyocyte is increased, thereby increasing FA β -oxidation. Glucose uptake in the cardiomyocyte is mainly regulated by GLUT4, which will translocate from the intracellular compartment to the plasma membrane. However, insulin signal transduction is impaired, resulting in a decreased GLUT4 translocation and therefore less glucose uptake (102). The overutilization of fatty acids as energy substrate will result in reduced cardiac efficiency. Moreover, an altered cardiac metabolism is associated with the development of ventricular dysfunction in both animals and humans (98, 100, 102-104). Diacylglycerol (DAG) levels are elevated in cardiomyocytes of diabetic patients resulting in altered glucose metabolism through activation of protein kinase C (PKC) isoforms. This will affect insulin signalling and nitric oxide (NO) production (105, 106). Acyl-CoA dehydrogenases are enzymes helping in FFA oxidation. As cardiomyocytes are not specialised in storing lipids, an excess of acyl-CoA is stored as triacylglycerol, resulting in toxic accumulation of intermediates as diacylglycerol and ceramides, compromising cell viability and ATP production via stress kinases as PKC (107, 108).

1.2.2 Altered insulin signalling

Insulin resistance is one of the hallmarks of T2DM and DCM. Insulin signalling is mediated mainly through two different pathways. First, insulin binds to its receptor (insulin receptor substrate 1 (IRS-1)), resulting in activation of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) – protein kinase B (known as Akt) to cause metabolic responses. Eventually, activation of the Akt-pathway will lead to increased glucose uptake in the cardiomyocyte by GLUT4 translocation to the plasma membrane (109, 110). Alternatively, insulin can also use the mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway (110), resulting in myocardial hypertrophy by cellular growth and remodelling, increased collagen deposition and cell death of myocardial and endothelial cells (111). When insulin resistance occurs, a shift will take place towards the second MAPK-pathway, eliciting growth

factor-like responses. The primary controlling unit of this process is the docking protein IRS-1. Controlling the IRS-1 function occurs by phosphorylation by different types of kinases such as PKC, mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) and C-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) (112-114). In overnutrition or peripheral insulin resistance, an accumulation of FFAs and triglycerides occurs in the cardiomyocyte, resulting in increased levels of lipid molecules as DAG, FA and ceramides that affects the cell and contribute to even worse insulin resistance by activation of kinases that phosphorylase IRS-1. Phosphorylation of the serine kinase on IRS-1 leads to an impaired PI3K/Akt pathway stimulation, resulting in decreased glucose uptake causing diminished Ca²⁺ ATPase activity and make Ca²⁺ move back into the sarcoplasmic reticulum, eventually increasing intracellular Ca^{2+} (109, 115). Oxidative stress, caused by persistent hyperglycemia, triggers redox-sensitive kinases that on their turn increases phosphorylation of IRS-1. Hyperglycemia-induced oxidation activates PKC and upregulates angiotensin II (Ang II) signalling, and an abundance of glucose will active mTOR/ribosomal protein S6 kinase beta-1 (S6K1), resulting in further insulin resistance (112, 116-119). Obesity, closely associated with diabetes and a significant risk factor, and dysregulated adjpocyte function, together with macrophage activation causes cytokine secretion (tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-a, interleukin 6 (IL-6)) and release of adipokines (resistin) while decreasing adiponectin. Resistin has a positive correlation with obesity and insulin resistance and plays a role in inducing insulin resistance (120). TNF-a and IL-6 activate MAPK, PKC and mTOR/S6K1 resulting in insulin resistance (113, 121-125). Altered insulin signalling also affects insulin-stimulated coronary endothelial NO synthase activity and NO production, resulting in an even higher increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ through the cyclic guanosine monophosphate/ protein kinase G (cGMP/PKG) pathway (109). Another factor contributing to insulin resistance is the activation of the reninangiotensin II-aldosterone (RAAS) system. Ang II and aldosterone can activate membrane-bound nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase (NOX) enzyme complex. NOX emerged to be a major source of reactive oxygen species (ROS). Indeed, production of ROS will also result in the activation of redox-sensitive kinases as described previously, causing phosphorylation of IRS-1 leading to insulin resistance (126-128).

1.2.3 Hyperglycemia

Long-lasting states of hyperglycemia in diabetes can induce an increase in glycated proteins causing structural and physiological alterations in the cardiovascular system. These advanced glycated end-products (AGEs) are products derived from non-enzymatic glycosylation of lipids, lipoproteins and amino acids. AGEs can be found in cigarettes and in a Western diet, both risk factors for the development of T2DM (129, 130). AGEs can be obtained both exoas endogenously, appear in plasma and accumulate in tissue such as cardiac tissue. Elevated levels of AGEs are associated with diabetes and can lead to increased connective tissue crosslinking, fibrosis, cardiac stiffness and impaired diastolic relaxation (109). AGEs contribute to the development of cardiovascular dysfunction by two mechanisms. They can bind to their cell surface-named receptor for AGE (RAGE) or by crosslinking tissue proteins (131, 132). The crosslinking of myocardial or vascular collagen by AGEs alters the properties of the tissue and diminishes vascular elasticity, cardiac flexibility and promotes stiffness, both on vascular and myocardial level, which can ultimately lead to diastolic dysfunction (133-135). In diabetes and diabetic cardiomyopathy AGEs will also affect the ryanodine receptor (RyR) leading to impaired cardiac contractility (136, 137). Moreover, AGEs can alter Ca²⁺ homeostasis by cross-links in the RyR domains and the sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ - ATPase (SERCA) pump (136-138). AGEs play a role in heart failure not only by crosslinking but also by activation of RAGE inducing cardiac dysfunction in T2DM as showed by Nielsen et al (139). Other studies confirm the role of RAGE in heart failure (140, 141) and its negative effect on Ca^{2+} homeostasis (142). AGE-RAGE interaction is able to inhibit NO activity and can reduce endothelial NO synthase, which in turn causes a decrease in NO levels, all leading to increased cardiac stiffness (143). Additionally, AGE-RAGE can activate NADPH oxidase resulting in the production of ROS and increased oxidative stress, known to be deleterious for cardiac function (129).

Glycated low-density lipoproteins (LDL) are known to activate production of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) and reduce tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) in human vascular endothelial cells (144). PAI-1 is a serine-protease inhibitor that promotes fibrosis and thrombosis in cardiovascular and renal systems (145). In tissue, PAI-1 causes increased accumulation of the extracellular matrix, cardiac fibrosis and glomerulosclerosis (146-149). Patients with T2DM

have significantly higher levels of PAI-1 compared with controls, showing the link between PAI-1 and T2DM (150). Glycated high-density lipoproteins (HDL) affect the ability of monocyte adhesion in aortic endothelial cells (151). The study of Iribarren et al. showed that an increase of 1% in blood glycated haemoglobin (HbA_{1C}) results in an increased hospitalisation rate or heart failure-related death of 8% (152, 153). These data support the finding that hyperglycemia contributes to the development of DCM. Both hexokinase (HK) and phosphofructokinase (PFK) play a role in glycolysis as controllers, and their activity influences glycemic control (154-158). Both enzymes are inhibited in cardiac muscle of diabetic patients (156). Hyperglycemia in the heart can result in chronic activation of the hexosamine biosynthetic pathway (HBP) and an increase in oxidative stress (159). This increased oxidative stress is the result of NADPH produced by the pentose phosphate pathway due to hyperglycemia, leading to oxidative stress as described above (160, 161). On the other hand, HBP chronically activated by hyperglycemia is associated with insulin resistance (162, 163). Moreover, HBP will form a high-Nenergy alycoside precursor (UDP-GlcNAc; Uridine diphosphate acetylglucosamine) for post-translational modification of proteins, resulting in β-O-linkage of N-acetylglucosamine (O-GlcNAc), which plays a role in altering expression, function and translation of proteins, and this O-GlcNAcylation protein is elevated in several diabetes models (164-171). Hyperglycemia and the resulting elevated O-GlcNAcylation attenuates the function of mitochondrial electron transport complexes I, III and IV in neonatal rat cardiac myocytes (172). Secondarily, O-GlcNAc plays a role in calcium handling and thus cardiac contractile function. O-GlcNAcylation may modify the relation between phospholamban and SERCA2a, as in diabetes O-GlcNAcylation at Ser16 on phospholamban is increased (173). The result is reduced phosphorylation of phospholamban with decreased association with SERCA2a and thus ultimately diminished cellular and cardiac pump function (164).

1.2.4 Inflammation and diabetic cardiomyopathy

Overweight and obesity are major contributors in the development of T2DM and DCM (174). Obesity is characterized by chronic inflammation in the visceral adipose tissue and is in many cases the result of an unhealthy diet. This visceral adipose tissue acts as an endocrine organ that secretes adipokines and produces

pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g. IL-1 β , TNF-a, IL-18) causing systemic inflammation (175). During this process, hypertrophied adipocytes secrete monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1) which recruits macrophages. These macrophages infiltrate and expand, producing inflammatory cytokines including IL-6 and TNF-a. Furthermore, these cytokines enter the systemic circulation promoting the formation of C-reactive protein (CRP). Together, these molecules peripheral cellular dysfunction (i.e. endoplasmic reticulum and cause mitochondria) and interfere with insulin signalling (174). This is accompanied by lower adiponectin levels and higher levels of hs-CRP and FFAs, thus worsening insulin resistance. At cardiac level, arterial intima changes arise. Inflammatory molecules (i.e. CRP) activate monocytes which lead to the generation of ROS and oxidation of LDL-cholesterol. LDL-cholesterol and ROS are taken up by macrophages and transformed into lipid-loaden foam cells. In addition, injury and fibroblast migration further contribute to plaque formation (176). As a consequence, visceral adipose tissue distribution induces systemic inflammation in DCM.

The inflammatory process in cardiomyocytes generally occurs as an early response to myocardial injury. T2DM is characterised by insulin resistance, resulting in hyperglycemia (177). High glucose levels and dyslipidemia in diabetes directly increase the activation of nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF- $\kappa\beta$), cytokines (TNF-a), chemokines (MCP-1), interleukins (IL-1 β , IL-6) and adhesion molecules (ICAM-1, intercellular adhesion molecule 1; VCAM-1, vascular cell adhesion molecule 1) secretion in cardiac cells and migration of leukocytes into the myocardium (106). The secretion of cytokines and pro-fibrotic factors increases ROS production while leucocyte infiltration plays a role in the perpetuation of the inflammatory process.

Hyperglycemia, FFA and elevations in ROS activate NF- $\kappa\beta$, a transcription factor that regulates DNA transcription and the production of pro-inflammatory molecules (e.g. TNF-a, IL-6, IL-1 β) in DCM (178, 179). NF- $\kappa\beta$ is present in the cytoplasm as an inactive heterodimer bound to inhibitor of K β (IK β), which is an inhibitor protein subunit of NF- $\kappa\beta$. Phosphorylation of IK β relieves the inhibition of NF- $\kappa\beta$. NF- $\kappa\beta$ can translocate to the nucleus where it binds to specific promotor sequences on its target genes to start the transcription machinery and thus the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines. The produced cytokines contribute to a rapid degradation of IK β a, i.e. an IK β subunit, which further enhances NF- $\kappa\beta$ activation (180). NF- $\kappa\beta$ activation and ROS overproduction cause activation of cardiac Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and the inflammasome complex (NLRP3) in myocardial cells which are key inducers for cardiac inflammation and play a central role in the pathogenesis of DCM (106, 181). TLRs are membrane-anchored proteins which work as pattern recognition receptors in the innate immune system and are present on several cell types including macrophages, T cells, B cells and cardiomyocytes. Evidence showed that TLRs elicit inflammatory pathways culminating in ROS-induced activation of NF- $\kappa\beta$ and activating protein-1 (AP-1) (181). In cardiomyocytes of DCM patients, TLR2 and TLR4 are strongly upregulated and are upstream inducers of several pro-inflammatory molecules (TNF-a, ICAM-1, MCP-1, interleukins, chemokines, heat shock proteins (HSPs), interferon- γ (IFN γ) and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS)) (181, 182). An inflammasome is a group of multimeric protein complexes responsible for the activation of inflammatory responses. NLRP3 inflammasome is the best characterized complex and can be found in macrophages, cardiomyocytes and cardiac fibroblasts (181). It is activated by hyperglycemia, hyperlipidemia and ROS. NLRP3 increases the number of proinflammatory cytokines (IL-1β, IFNy, IL-18), promotes insulin resistance and takes part in apoptosis and macrophage transmigration. Therefore, TLRs and NLRP3 inflammasome both participate in DCM-associated inflammation of the heart (181).

Hyperglycemia, hyperlipidemia and oxidative stress also contribute to the formation of AGEs within cardiomyocytes. Increased AGE formation triggers the activation of NF- $\kappa\beta$ (183). AGEs bind to their RAGE receptors and induce a signalling cascade via MAPKs and PI-3K to activate NF- $\kappa\beta$ which in turn induces the production of inflammatory molecules (TNF-a, IL-6 and VCAM-1) and fibrosis. This contributes to the reduced cardiac contractility which is characteristic in DCM. In addition, RAGE itself is regulated in a positive feedback loop by NF- $\kappa\beta$ (183). Once NF- $\kappa\beta$ is activated, it drives growth factor expression of connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) and transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β). This in turn contributes to the production of extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins (i.e. collagen, fibronectin, proteoglycans) in the heart causing left ventricle remodelling, fibrosis and stiffness which impairs cardiac relaxation (179).

Besides NF-κβ, RAAS plays a role in the inflammatory process (184). Hyperglycemia in the diabetic heart increases tissue angiotensin II via p38-MAPK/ PPAR pathways which stimulate inflammation, endothelial damage, oxidative stress, vascular remodelling, vasoconstriction and myocardial hypertrophy (180, 185), all characteristics of DCM.

1.2.5 Calcium handling

Calcium and calcium handling are essential for excitation-contraction coupling of the cardiomyocytes. In physiological conditions, depolarization of the cardiomyocytes causes the opening of the voltage-dependent L-type Ca^{2+} channels resulting in a Ca^{2+} influx. Subsequently, Ca^{2+} - induced Ca^{2+} release mechanism (CICR) leads to more Ca^{2+} release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) by activation of the RyR. The increased intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration will ultimately activate the contractile machinery. During diastole, intracellular Ca²⁺ decreases due to the sodium-calcium exchanger (NCX) and sarcolemmal Ca2+-ATPase (SERCA2a) resulting in cardiomyocyte relaxation (186-189). However, in diabetes, Ca-homeostasis is altered. This is attributed to the combination of the decreased sensitivity of contractile proteins to Ca^{2+} (190, 191) and the alterations in SERCA2a and NCX function or expression (190, 191). Impaired Ca^{2+} reuptake will lead to prolonged action potential duration and thus a slower diastolic relaxation (109). Defects in the SERCA2a will result in different alterations such as altered SR Ca²⁺ load, prolongation of the intracellular Ca²⁺ decay, accumulation of both free radicals and long-chain acyl carnitines, cardiac myosin heavy chain alterations, phosphorylation of troponin I, and changes in regulatory and contractile proteins (187, 192, 193). Accumulation of those can increase oxidative stress, leading in turn to alterations in SERCA2a and NCX (190). Altered calcium handling, together with oxidative stress and endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress, can promote the cardiomyocytes to induce cell death via necrosis, apoptosis and autophagy (109).

1.2.6 Mitochondrial dysfunction

Several studies suggest that mitochondrial dysfunction, together with increased oxidative stress, is an important factor in DCM (188, 194-196). Injured mitochondria are considered the primary source of intracellular ROS in the diabetic
heart (197-200). Autophagy, the process in which long-living and injured organelles and proteins are degraded and recycled, is diminished in animal models of T2DM, further suggesting its contribution in the development of diabetic cardiomyopathy (201-204). Obesity and overfeeding can activate the mTORpathway, resulting in phosphorylation of the serine-threonine-protein kinase ULK1 and thus inhibiting the activation (205). Phosphorylation of ULK1 alters the relation between ULK1 and adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK), critical for its function in autophagy and mitochondrial homeostasis (205-208). AMPK is also involved in GLUT4 translocation, GLUT4-independent glucose uptake and glycogen synthase phosphorylation (209-212). Sirtuin 1 (SIRT1) is one of the regulators of AMPK and PPAR-y coactivator-1a (PGC-1a) and is involved in inflammatory processes and metabolic homeostasis (213). AMPK can improve mitochondrial biogenesis via activation of the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alpha (PGC-1a) pathway (106). PGC-1a controls multiple cellular processes, such as mitochondrial biogenesis and respiration, gluconeogenesis and glucose transport, fatty acid oxidation, glycogenolysis, peroxisomal remodelling, muscle fibre-type switching and oxidative phosphorylation (214). In advanced stages of DCM, PGC-1a and AMPK signalling pathways involved in β -oxidation are impaired, again progressing mitochondrial dysfunction (106, 109). Hyperlipidemia, as previously described, can lead to apoptosis of the cardiomyocyte due to ROS production and ER stress (215). Nutrient overflow, as seen in diabetes, causes electron transfer to oxygen without ATP production, increasing ROS, leading to oxidative stress and damage within the mitochondria (216). Furthermore, mitochondria are associated with the ER and its release of Ca²⁺ via inositol triphosphate. Calcium handling is also affected by mitochondria, with an excess of Ca^{2+} uptake resulting in Ca^{2+} overload and mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening (217).

1.2.7 Oxidative stress in the diabetic heart

Oxidative stress and ROS are increased in T2DM and play a significant role in diabetic cardiomyopathy. Hyperglycemia leads to elevations in ROS synthesis in the diabetic heart (198). Furthermore, there are multiple sources for ROS in the diabetic heart, as the AGE-RAGE interaction, activation of PKC, mitochondrial electron transport chain leakage, activity of NADPH oxidase, lipoxygenase (LOX)

enzymes and uncoupling of NO synthase (218). ROS, together with PKC activation cause upregulation of NF- $\kappa\beta$, increasing iNOS expression and eventually resulting in elevated NO production (219-221). When NO reacts with superoxide anion radical (O_2 ·), generation of peroxynitrite can occur which in turn can form 1methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP) and more ROS generation, cytochrome c leakage and apoptosis (220). Oxidative stress, ROS generation and mitochondrial dysfunction are associated with each other, with cardiac generated ROS causing further damage to mitochondria and altered mitochondrial DNA (222), with the latter leading to damaged synthesis of mitochondrial proteins resulting in turn in more ROS (220). Another pathway implicated in oxidative stress is with the redox-sensitive kinases extracellular signal-regulated protein kinase (ERK)1, ERK2 and JNK. Phosphorylation of these kinases is suggested to be involved in downstream signalling in the events of oxidative stress. ERK1/2 phosphorylation is showed to be increased in left ventricle hypertrophy, with increased phosphorylation correlating with more severe left ventricle hypertrophy (223). The activation of NF- $\kappa\beta$ is involved in many pro-fibrotic, pro-inflammatory and pro-hypertrophic genes. As already discussed above, inflammation plays a crucial role in diabetic cardiomyopathy and is a possible mediator of ROS-induced fibrosis and hypertrophy (224, 225). Studies of Nakamura et al. and Suzuki et al. showed that treatment with anti-oxidants abolished partially the harmful effects of oxidative stress, supporting the hypothesis that at least oxidative stress is partially responsible for fibrosis and hypertrophy (219, 226).

1.2.8 The renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system

RAAS plays a vital role in the development of DCM, as it contributes to atherosclerosis, cardiomyocyte loss and myocardial fibrosis (227-231). In early phases of diabetes, plasma renin activity is increased, together with the mean arterial pressure and renal vascular resistance emphasizing the involvement of RAAS upregulation in diabetes (232). Hyperglycemia can promote the production of Ang II in cardiomyocytes, cardiac fibroblast and endothelial cells, both in animal and human diabetic hearts (233-236). An increase in Ang II makes cardiomyocytes more susceptible for apoptosis as seen by Fiordaliso et al (237). Hyperglycemia can stimulate the RAAS by increased intracellular Ang II, which could cause oxidative stress and apoptosis, together with an elevated RAAS

expression (238). Secondly, increased glucose concentrations can promote tissue response to Ang II and the other way around. In vascular smooth muscle cells, Ang II can activate glucose-induced transcription factors, while the contractile aortic response to Ang II can be influenced by hyperglycemia (239, 240). Hyperglycemia is also able to promote aldosterone secretion by elevated Ang II levels. Aldosterone, like Ang II, can induce oxidative stress, fibrosis and apoptosis suggesting a role for aldosterone in diabetic cardiomyopathy (241). AGEs also promote the AngII/ Angiotensin II receptor type 1 (AT1R) pathway by upregulation of AT1R expression (242-245). By promoting Ang II expression and decrease in Ang 1 – 7, an imbalance occurs in RAAS induced by downregulation of angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2), as seen in diabetes (246). Recently, the increased pro-renin levels in diabetic patients have been unravelled as an exciting target. High levels of pro-renin are associated with an increased risk of microvascular complications in diabetes. Pro-renin can bind to the (pro)renin receptor ((P)RR), generating Ang I and stimulating its intracellular signalling. A study of Connely et al. showed that in diabetic cardiomyopathy, a 3-fold increase in (P)RR expression is observed (247).



Figure 2: Overview of mechanisms in diabetic cardiomyopathy. As shown in the figure, DCM pathophysiology is complex as many factors interact with each other. PPARa, peroxisome proliferator activated receptor alpha; CD36, cluster of differentiation 36; NFκβ, nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells; GLUT4, glucose transporter 4; PKC, protein kinase C; Ang II, Angiotensin II; mTOR, mammalian target of rapamycin; JNK, C-Jun N-terminal kinase; Nox, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase; IRS-1, insulin receptor substrate 1; PI3K, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase; TLR, Toll-like receptor; MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinase; ROS, reactive oxygen species; RyR, ryanodine receptor; SERCA, Sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca2+-ATPase; PLN, phospholamban; AGE, advanced glycated end-product; RAGE, receptor for advanced glycated end-product

1.3 Exercise as a therapy for diabetic patients

Exercise is an effective, low-cost and safe strategy for the prevention and treatment of cardiovascular diseases (CVD), with the scientific evidence of the beneficial effects being indisputable (248). The risks of exercise therapy in most adults are by far outweighed by the benefits of exercise (249-251). Therapy in T2DM patients is designed to maintain optimal blood glucose, lipid and blood pressure levels and prevent diabetic complications (252). Exercise affects T2DM and obesity, diseases associated with diet and a sedentary lifestyle, by improving both cardiovascular health and metabolic control (253). While obesity and hypertension frequently occur in T2DM patients and are well-known risk factors, studies have shown that cardiorespiratory fitness is a more powerful predictor of CVD (253). Prevention of CVD in T2DM related to exercise is thought to be caused via improved vascular function and hereby related tissue perfusion (254). The beneficial effects of moderate endurance intensity training (MIT) in normal as well as in pathological situations are often described (255). Currently, adding physical exercise therapy as a prescribed medication is reviewed by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in the United States of America (USA). However, to be approved as prescriptive medicine, some factors have to be revised (efficacy, efficiency, dosing, and safety).

Most common types of exercise are aerobic exercise training, anaerobic exercise training and resistance training (256). In general, the effect of exercise in diabetes has been tested using aerobic exercise (257). In aerobic training, large muscle groups are involved doing dynamic activities resulting in an increased heart rate and energy expenditure, for example running, walking or cycling. Current American Diabetes Association (ADA) guidelines state that individual sessions of aerobic activities should be performed at least 30 minutes per day for at least three days per week, with no more than two consecutive days without exercise (258). Aerobic exercise will improve the cardiovascular system and skeletal muscles, increase endurance performances and patients' quality of life (256, 259). Furthermore, aerobic exercise improves HbA_{1C} levels in diabetic patients and reduces fasting plasma glucose, insulin resistance, fasting insulin levels and systolic blood pressure in T2DM patients (258, 260-266). Anaerobic exercise training on the other hand is exercise performed at very high-intensity levels using

the glycolytic and phosphagens pathways with glycogen and phosphocreatine stores as energy sources (256).

In the last 20 years, resistance training is gaining more interest as a therapy and training option in T2DM patients. In resistance training, a person moves using free weights, weight machines, elastic resistance bands or performs body weight exercises. Improvements are observed in diabetic patients in strength, bone mineral density, blood pressure, lipid profiles, muscle mass, insulin sensitivity, HbA_{1C}, glucose responses and cardiovascular health (258, 267-269). These results indicate the effectiveness of resistance training, and their potential to be included in the diabetes care plan. It is suggested that through resistance training, increased skeletal muscle mass improves glycemic control by enhanced muscle glycogen storage (269, 270). Therefore, guidelines were updated to include resistance training for treatment and prevention of T2DM (271). A combination of both aerobic and resistance training could be the preferable exercise program in T2DM for controlling glucose and lipid levels. Many studies investigated the effects of combination programs, showing the additive effect of combination training in T2DM. Indeed, insulin sensitivity, HbA_{1C}, fasting glucose levels, postprandial glucose levels and fasting insulin levels were all improved after combination training (272-275).

1.4 Exercise in cardiovascular diseases

Historically, heart failure patients were advised to avoid physical activity in order to prevent exercise-induced events and hemodynamic overload of the affected ventricle (276, 277). However, in 1988, Sullivan et al. showed that heart failure (HF) patients experience beneficial effects on exercise tolerance by exercise training (278). These findings were the cornerstone of research on exercise training and heart failure. It is shown that exercise training in HF patients protects against cardiac mortality, with even small exercise being beneficial for survival rates after cardiac injury (279). Nowadays, exercise is added as a therapy in HF patients, stated by the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) HF guidelines that 'patients with HF are recommended to perform properly designed exercise training' (280, 281). However, only 10% of HF patients receive a proper cardiac rehabilitation program after hospitalisation for HF, despite their proven advantages (282). The effects of exercise on disease are modulated by multiple organ systems such as the heart, skeletal muscle, vascular functions, respiratory functions and neurohormonal systems (278, 283-286). Importantly, a distinction is being made in the HF spectrum between HF with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF) and HF with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) (287-289). In DCM, diastolic dysfunction with normal ejection fraction (EF) is present at the early stage of the disease (11). This early onset of DCM often progresses to HF with normal ejection fraction and eventually to systolic dysfunction with reduced ejection fraction (290). The outcome of clinical comorbidities between HFpEF and HFrEF also differs, such as with diabetes mellitus. DM leads to worse clinical outcomes in HFpEF than in HFrEF according to a study of MacDonald et al (291). Several studies imply that HFpEF and HFrEF are different phenotypes of DCM, with different outcomes in DM (292, 293). The mechanisms in both phenotypes are variable, with hyperglycaemia, lipotoxicity and insulin resistance being important in HFpEF phenotype. In the HFrEF phenotypes however autoimmunity is relevant. In both phenotypes AGE deposition and microvascular rarefaction are playing a role (292, 293). Thus, DM therapy should be evaluated specifically in HFpEF and HFrEF patient populations. In patients with preserved EF, both cardiorespiratory fitness and quality of life are improved after exercise training (294). Furthermore, in a study by Edelmann et al., exercise training improved diastolic function in HFpEF patients (295). A meta-analysis by Pearson et al. confirmed these data, observing a significant post-training effect on diastolic function. However, the subject remains controversial as other meta-analysis cannot confirm these findings (294, 296). Furthermore, in HF patients with preserved EF, exercise did not alter systolic function (296). In HFrEF, exercise has been shown to improve maximal cardiac output, reverse left ventricular remodelling, improve EF and decrease left ventricle end-diastolic diameter (285, 286, 297). Moreover, resting blood pressure is reduced, with improved endothelial function and afterload reduction and direct effects are visible at myocardial hypertrophy and fibrosis (285, 298-301). In HFpEF rats, an improvement in endothelial dysfunction was observed after exercise intervention, as both endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) expression and endothelial-dependent vasodilatation were recovered after exercise (302). However, endothelial function was not altered in a study of Kitzman et al (303). Inflammation and inflammatory cytokines as IL-6, IL-11 β and TNF-a are described to be upregulated in HF patients (304-311). In patients with reduced EF, exercise training was able to exert a positive effect on cytokine levels (312-316). In HFpEF, exercise training was reported to increase ghrelin, but no effect was observed in other inflammatory parameters in a study of Trippel et al (317). In short, exercise effects on inflammation in diabetes remain controversial (318-331).

Altogether, data combining exercise and cardiac function further suggest the possibilities of exercise as an adjuvant therapy in T2DM patients and DCM, but require further research in specific populations, such as diabetes and HFpEF.

1.5 Exercise modalities

Nowadays, different exercise modalities are available. However, to ensure the best treatment for each patient, the optimal training modality/intensity/duration/frequency has to be selected. Aerobic exercise modalities can vary from activities requiring minimal skill and physical fitness (e.g. walking) to activities requiring both skill and physical fitness levels to perform the preferred exercise (e.g. swimming). At the basic level, frequency, duration and intensity can be defined as the exercise dose. Frequency and duration are parameters reflecting the total amount of time invested in the exercise program. Duration is the amount of time spent in a single exercise session, mostly minutes or hours. Frequency of exercise reflects the amount of exercise over a period of time (per week/month). Lastly, the exercise intensity is a variable parameter. The intensity of exercise can be quantified using metabolic equivalents (METs) or using kilocalories (kcal) burned per unit of time. However, using absolute values, no distinction can be made in variability of fitness across individuals. Alternatively, one could examine relative exercise intensity determined by maximal physiologic parameters, such as heart rate and oxygen consumption. To use exercise prescription in clinical practice, relative exercise intensity measurements are preferable, as they are adapted to the individual capacities of the patient (332). The applied exercise intensity can vary from very light exercise training to maximal or sub-maximal intensities (251).

At one end of the exercise intensity continuum, **sedentary activity** is located. Activities comprising sedentary behaviour refer to those equal to an energy expenditure of maximum 1.5 METs, such as riding a car or sitting down (333, 334). Sedentary activities are often replacing **non-exercise physical activities** (NEPAs), activities performed at low intensity not perceived as exercise (334). High amounts of sedentary time are increasing the risk of developing metabolic diseases, such as T2DM (83). Moreover, the risk of developing cardiovascular disease and all-cause mortality is associated with a sedentary lifestyle (335, 336). Watching TV is a common cause of long sedentary time with non-contractive or inactive muscles. Prolonged sitting time during life appears to be associated with diabetes development, independent of BMI (83, 337, 338). The ADA encourages diabetic patients to reduce their sedentary time and to limit their sitting time to no more than 90 minutes (339). Replacing sedentary time with a large amount of non-exercise physical activity can exert beneficial effects at least similar to exercise. A study of Duvivier et al. reported that an increased NEPA-sedentary time ratio was more effective than exercise in reducing non-HDL cholesterol, postprandial insulin and plasma triglycerides (340). Furthermore, non-exercise activity thermogenesis (NEAT) scores - the energy expenditure of all physical activities other than volitional sporting-like exercise - were negatively correlated with insulin levels, waist circumference, both systolic and diastolic blood pressures, while a positive correlation was shown with HDL-C (341). In general, when an exercise program is prescribed, NEPA does not change during exercise training. However, exercise session duration can influence NEPA negatively increasing sedentary time, implicating that shorter exercise sessions could have less influence on physical activity outside of the exercise than when longer exercise bouts are implemented (342). Reductions in NEPA are often associated with less than expected weight loss during an exercise program, however these changes can occur in some but not all individuals following an exercise program (342, 343). These data suggest that when prescribing exercise, effects on NEPA time should be taken into account as in some patients, but not all, a reduction could be observed (342, 344, 345).

Low-intensity physical activity (LIPA) can be described as exercise performed until 3.0 METs, or at maximal heart rate (HR_{max}) of 63% (249). This exercise intensity is a major determinant of the total daily energy expenditure, and is inversely associated with the sedentary time as described above (346). Therefore, the recommendation to increase LIPA to counteract on sedentary behaviour and its deleterious effects on health outcomes should be supported (346, 347).

Moreover, according to the study of Balducci et al., low levels of LIPA are negatively associated with age, duration of diabetes, HbA_{1C}, FPG, BMI, fat-mass, inflammatory parameters and waist circumference (346). Even limited changes in LIPA already may provide beneficial effects on metabolic and cardiovascular risk factors in T2DM patients (346, 348-351). In a study performed by Aune et al., both walking and low-intensity activity was associated with a reduced relative risk of T2DM (79, 352-361). Furthermore, LIPA is capable of improving the metabolic and cardiovascular profile in T2DM patients (362).

Most commonly, moderate-intensity physical activity (MIPA) or MIT is used as prescribed exercise training. MIPA is performed at 55 - 70 % of HR_{max} or between 3 to 6 METs (333). According to the American Diabetes Association, adults with diabetes should perform at least 150 min of moderate- to vigorousintensity activity weekly, on at least 3 or more days, with no more than two consecutive sedentary days (363). Endurance or cardiorespiratory exercise training has been extensively investigated in T2DM, showing the beneficial effects of this type of exercise in the patient population. MIPA has been associated with reduced risks of diabetic microvascular complications and all-cause mortality in the diabetic patient population (364, 365). Moreover, a meta-analysis performed by Boulé et al. demonstrated improvements in both cardiorespiratory fitness and HbA_{1C} after 20 weeks of moderate intensity exercise (261). Furthermore, a recent meta-analysis performed by De Nardi et al. showed that MIPA improved maximal oxygen consumption (VO₂max), fasting glucose, HbA_{1C}, homeostatic model assessment (HOMA) values, blood pressures, lipid profile (total cholesterol, HDL, LDL, triglycerides), BMI, waist-to-hip ratio and waist circumference in diabetic and prediabetic patients (366).

Furthermore, higher than moderate intensities are used nowadays, such as vigorous, near maximal, maximal and even supramaximal intensities. These intensities start at 6 METs, or 70 % of HR_{max} , and end at 'all-out' efforts.

Currently, **high-intensity interval training** or **HIIT** is gaining more and more interest. HIIT consists of short bouts of relatively high-intensity exercise alternated with recovery periods of low-intensity exercise or rest (367). High-intensity physical activity (HIPA) is generally performed at near maximal levels, above 90% of HR_{max} , or requires \geq 9 METs (333). This kind of training can be

defined as anaerobic exercise, in which an intense physical activity is performed for a very short period of time, fuelled by the energy sources of the contracting muscles independently of inhaled oxygen (249). The cells therefore use the glycolysis and fermentation to provide themselves with the necessary ATP.

In the last decades, numerous reports indicate that HIIT could be more effective than MIT in patients with cardiometabolic diseases to improve their aerobic fitness (368-372). Moreover, bouts of higher intensity exercise induce physiological stimulus and adaptations greater than those observed with moderate intensity exercise (373). As lack of time is considered one of the barriers of adherence to physical activity, HIIT could be a potential option of short duration to encourage exercise and thus reduce the risks of developing chronic cardiovascular and metabolic diseases (366, 374, 375). As HIIT is perceived as more enjoyable than MIT, long-term adherence to HIIT possibly is higher compared to MIT (376). Typically, a HIIT program has a ratio of 1 min high-intensity exercise followed by 1 min of low-intensity exercise (377). Epidemiological and experimental data suggest that HIIT might provide additional benefits and be more potent than the classical MIT modality (378). In healthy subjects, sparse data suggest that the potential of HIIT in comparison to MIT to improve cardiac function is most likely to be attributed to a higher mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation and metabolism (379). A meta-analysis performed by Weston et al. concluded that in patients with lifestyle-induced cardiometabolic diseases, HIIT was more effective in improving the VO_2max compared with MIT trained patients (380), with other studies confirming these data (381-383). HIIT also improves systolic blood pressure (SBP), HbA_{1C}, HDL-C, malondialdehyde (MDA) levels, NO and von Willebrand factor (vWF) in T2DM patients (384). Furthermore, HIIT improves skeletal muscle oxidative capacity, glycemic control and insulin sensitivity in T2DM patients (385, 386). Additionally, HIIT seems to be more potent than MIT in reducing cardiovascular risk factors (377, 387, 388).

Overall, HIIT seems superior in improving vascular functions compared with MIT and a good time-efficient alternative approach for T2DM patients.

2

Objectives and general outline

2 Objectives and general outline

This PhD project includes three original research papers, combined with two systematic reviews, presented schematically in Figure 3. All studies presented in this manuscript are published, submitted or are ready for submission in peer-reviewed international journals. All the performed research fit in the research objectives and the main topic of this PhD, namely discovering the effect of two different exercise modalities (MIT vs HIIT) on diabetic cardiomyopathy. First, I developed an animal model that mimics the phenotype of the development of T2DM and DCM. Simultaneously, the second objective was to identify the nature of remodelling in the heart induced by the two exercise modalities in healthy animals. Hereafter, I combined my findings and investigated the effect of training modalities in the clinically diabetic rat model developed previously. Lastly, I report the known effects of detraining in diabetes in a systematic review.

The first objective (Chapter 3) of this PhD-project was to validate an animal model of T2DM and DCM. To date, many genetic models (e.g. ob/ob, db/db mice, Zucker diabetic fatty, Goto-Kakizaki and Otsuka Long Evans Tokushima fatty rats) have been used to understand the underlying mechanisms involved in disturbed energy homeostasis in DCM (389). However, despite shared common traits with human DCM features, none of these models reflects the human phenotype entirely. To avoid potential problems related to altered leptin signalling observed in the genetically modified rodents, many researchers have used diet-induced obesity and diabetes (389). Traditionally, these diets consist of an exchange of carbohydrate-derived calories with fat-derived calories (i.e. high fat diet) and have been extensively used to study DCM. The current obesity pandemic in Western countries however is associated with an increased sugar intake rather than an increase in fat intake (390). Therefore, using a diet based on high sugar rather than high fat, a so-called "cafeteria diet" or "Western diet" provides a highly relevant model to study DCM. It has been shown that rats undergoing the "cafeteria diet" display many features of DCM, including elevated glucose, insulin and non-esterified fatty acids accompanied with decreased glucose and insulin tolerance (166, 391). In addition, in this model, chronic inflammation of the liver and adipose tissues, typically seen in patients suffering from the syndrome, were observed (391, 392). Such an alternative model was used to mimic T2DM and

DCM in this project. Validation and characterisation of this model was the first objective of this PhD.

The second objective of this project (**Chapter 4**) was to identify the nature of the changes induced by physiological remodelling after 2 types of exercise on the healthy heart. MIT or HIIT was performed in healthy rats to investigate the similarities and differences between both exercise interventions on cardiac function and vascularity and to identify which of the two training modalities could be an added value later on in an unhealthy situation. While some studies demonstrate that MIT improves cardiac contractility, mainly due to improved myocardial perfusion and improved nitric oxide sensitivity, others report minimal changes. At the cellular level, studies with rodents undergoing MIT demonstrate an increase in LV cardiomyocyte length and cell surface, not accompanied by myocardial collagen accumulation. Data suggest that HIIT is overall better in improving micro- and macrovascular functions compared with MIT.

In **Chapter 6**, I combined the knowledge and results obtained in the previous studies in order to investigate the effect of MIT and HIIT in our animal model of DCM. Beforehand, a systematic literature search was performed to identify and analyse published data on the exercise effect on cardiac function in T2DM and DCM (**Chapter 5**).

At last, a review was written to report – in a systematic manner - the effects of detraining in diabetes (**Chapter 7**). Detraining is defined as the partial or complete loss of training-induced metabolic, respiratory and cardiovascular adaptations, in response to an insufficient training stimulus. The majority of patients will gradually or suddenly stop exercising, showing the urge to discover the possible jeopardies of detraining in diabetes and paving the road for future studies regarding the subject.

General overview



Figure 3: Schematic presentation of my PhD project.

3

Western diet given to healthy rats mimics the human phenotype of diabetic cardiomyopathy

Based on:

Western diet given to healthy rats mimics the human phenotype of diabetic cardiomyopathy

Verboven M¹, Deluyker D¹, Ferferieva V¹, Lambrichts I¹, Hansen D², Eijnde BO¹, Bito V¹.

The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry, 2018, 61: 140-146.

1 Biomedical Research Institute, Hasselt University, Diepenbeek, Belgium

2 REVAL, Hasselt University, Diepenbeek, Belgium

3 Western diet given to healthy rats mimics the human phenotype of diabetic cardiomyopathy

3.1 Abstract

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a major problem worldwide. Within this patient group, cardiovascular diseases are the biggest cause of morbidity and mortality. Diabetic cardiomyopathy (DCM) is defined as diabetes-associated structural and functional changes in the myocardium, not directly attributable to other confounding factors such as coronary artery disease or hypertension. Pathophysiology of DCM remains unclear due to a lack of adequate animal models reflecting the current pandemic of diabetes, associated with a high increased sugar intake and the 'Western' lifestyle. The aim of this study was to develop an animal model mimicking this 'Western' lifestyle causing a human-like phenotype of DCM. Twenty-four Spraque-Dawley rats were randomly assigned into a normal or a 'Western' diet group for 18 weeks. Glucose and insulin levels were measured with an OGTT. Heart function was assessed by echocardiography and hemodynamic measurements in vivo. Cardiac fibrosis and inflammation were investigated in vitro. 'Western' diet given to healthy rats for 18 weeks induced hyperglycemia together with increased AGEs levels, insulin levels and hypertriglyceridemia. Heart function was altered with increased end-diastolic pressure, left ventricle hypertrophy. Changes in vivo were associated with increased collagen deposition and increased PAI-1 levels in the heart. High-sugar diet or 'Western' diet causes T2DM and the hallmarks of DCM in rats, reflecting the phenotype of the disease seen in patients. Using this new model of T2DM with DCM might open new insight in understanding the pathophysiology of DCM and on a long term, test targeted therapies for T2DM with DCM patients.

3.2 Background

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a major chronic disease directly resulting from the socalled 'Western diet/lifestyle'. It affects approximately 300 million people worldwide, with an alarming increasing incidence. Estimations indicate that in 2030 about 450 million people will suffer from DM (93), which is an important risk factor for developing heart failure (393). In diabetes, progressive structural and functional remodelling leads to gradual cardiac function impairment and ultimately compromises life expectancy. Diabetic cardiomyopathy (DCM) is defined as diabetes-associated structural and functional changes in the myocardium, not directly attributable to other confounding factors such as coronary artery disease or hypertension (188, 394). In many cases, diabetes can lead to DCM, with left ventricular (LV) hypertrophy and diastolic dysfunction as early markers of cardiac dysfunction (187, 395) characterised in the clinic by an impaired relaxation, a decreased diastolic chamber compliance and increased end-diastolic pressure (396). DCM is characterised by concentric hypertrophy, extracellular fibrosis, alterations at the cardiomyocyte level and changes in metabolism, leading to impaired cardiac output (94). Despite a lot of progress in understanding DCM aetiology during the last few decades, molecular mechanisms involved are complex and multifactorial and remain incompletely understood (95, 394). It is currently speculated that oxidative stress, fibrosis, apoptosis, impaired autophagy, inflammation and impaired calcium handling are contributing factors to the development of DCM (91, 95, 106, 397). However, underlying pathophysiological mechanisms remain unclear due to a lack of adequate animal models mimicking the 'Western lifestyle' and human phenotype.

Currently, a variety of animal models examining underlying mechanisms of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and heart failure (HF) are available (389, 398, 399). Despite some common traits, none of the available animal models fully mimic the human phenotype of DCM, comprising obesity, polyphagia, altered lipid profile, altered cardiac function and inflammation. These are however essential as they are all consequences of the Western diet containing high sugar and high fat. The urge to develop a representative model reflecting this phenotype is then mandatory to further unravel mechanisms, treat and prevent developing stages of diabetes and DCM.

CHAPTER 3

A high intake of saturated fatty acids, high total fat intake and insufficient consumption of dietary fibres are risk factors for developing obesity and T2DM (400-402). In addition, recently, it has been demonstrated that sugar-sweetened beverages, common in our Western diet, are associated with an increased risk of developing T2DM and increase the likelihood for obesity (73, 78, 400, 403).

The aim of this study was therefore to develop an animal model that combines features observed in the human phenotype of T2DM with DCM using a high-sugar diet, or so-called Western diet.

3.3 Research design and methods

This investigation conformed to the EU Directive 2010/63/EU for animal experiments and was approved by the local ethical committee (Ethical committee for animal experimentation, UHasselt, Belgium, ID 201554).

3.3.1 Study protocol

Twenty-four male Sprague–Dawley rats (Charles River Laboratories, L'Arbresle, France), weighing 200–225 g, were randomly assigned in two experimental groups by using a randomisation tool (excel). Group 1 (n=12) received a normal rodent diet (ENVIGO, The Netherlands, Control diet) throughout the study and served as a control group. Group 2 (n=12) was fed a high-sugar and high-fat diet (Western diet) with underlying distribution (total fat=20%, sugars=61%, proteins=19%) comparable with a fast-food meal including sugar-sweetened beverage and dessert (391). All animals were housed per 3 in a cage and maintained in a controlled environmental condition and had water and food available ad libitum. Every morning, rats were provided freshly prepared food (Western or control diet). Daily food intake was calculated by weighing the residual food the next morning. After 18 weeks and an overnight fast, an OGTT performed. Blood samples, hemodynamic and echocardiographic was measurements were executed prior to sacrifice of the animals, 18 weeks after the start of the diet. A power analysis using G*Power was performed to determine sample size.

3.3.2 Conventional echocardiographic measurements

As described previously (133), transthoracic echocardiography parameters were assessed 18 weeks after the start of the diet with a Vividi ultrasound machine (GE Vingmed Ultrasound) using a 10 MHz linear array transducer under 2% isoflurane anaesthesia. Briefly, a standard parasternal long axis image and short axis views at the mid-ventricular level were obtained at a temporal resolution of approximately 200 frames per second. Conventional echocardiographic parameters (e.g., LV end-diastolic diameter (LVEDD), LV end-systolic diameter (LVESD), anterior wall thicknesses (AWT)) were obtained from the B-mode images at midpapillary level in the parasternal short-axis view. Left-ventricular end-

CHAPTER 3

systolic volumes (LVESV) and end-diastolic volumes (LVEDV) were calculated by $\pi^*DM2^*B/6$, where DM indicates the systolic/diastolic diameter of the ventricle in mid-ventricular short-axis view and B is LV length on parasternal long-axis image. Subsequently, ejection fraction (EF) was measured as (EDV-ESV)/EDV, and expressed in %. Analysis was done single blinded by coding of the animals.

3.3.3 Hemodynamic measurements

Pressure measurements were performed in all animals with the use of an SPR-320 MikroTip high-fidelity pressure transducer (Millar) that was advanced into the left ventricle via the right carotid artery. The pressure catheter (2F) was connected to a quad-bridge amplifier and PowerLab 26 T module (AD Instruments, United Kingdom) was used to transfer the data to LabChart v7.3.7 software (AD Instruments, United Kingdom).

3.3.4 Oral glucose tolerance test and insulin resistance assessment

Glucose tolerance was assessed at baseline, 6 weeks, 12 weeks and 18 weeks (i.e., the time of sacrifice), with a 1 h OGTT as described by Stevens et al (404). After an overnight fasting, glucose (2 g/kg) was administered via gastric gavage. Prior to glucose administration, blood glucose concentration was determined from capillary tail blood collection with Analox GM7 (Analis SA, Namur, Belgium), and repeated 15, 30 and 60, minutes after administration. Glucose response was expressed as total area under the curve (AUC). At baseline and after 60', serum insulin concentrations were measured by electrochemiluminescence (Meso Scale, Gaithersburg, MD).

3.3.5 Lipid profile determination

Triglycerides, total cholesterol and HDL cholesterol (HDLC) were determined in the Ziekenhuis Oost-Limburg (Genk, Belgium) using Roche/Hitachi cobas c systems (Rotkreuz, Switzerland). Quantification of the NEFA was assessed by colourimetry using a NEFA quantification assay kit (Abcam, ab65341, Cambridge, United Kingdom).

3.3.6 Fibrosis measurement

Transversal sections of 7 µm thick were obtained at the midventricular level of the left ventricle and stained using the Sirius Red/Fast Green kit (Chondrex). Fibrosis was assessed in all animals in 3–4 randomly chosen fields per section. The area of collagen deposition indicated by red staining was outlined and quantified using an automated image analysis program (Carl Zeiss, AxoVision 4.6, Zaventem, Belgium). Blood vessels were excluded. Total collagen deposition to the global cardiac area was calculated, normalised to total surface area and expressed as %.

3.3.7 Western blot

Protein concentrations of the LV tissues were determined by the BCA protein assay kit (Thermo Fisher, Erembodegem, Belgium). Western blot was performed as previously described (133). Briefly, equal amounts of proteins (15 μ g) were separated on a 12% SDS-PAGE gel with a mini protean 3 electrophoresis system (Bio-rad Laboratories, Temse, Belgium), transferred to a polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membrane and subsequently, blocked for 2 h with 5% milk in Tris-buffered solution containing 0.1% Tween-20 (TBS-T) followed by incubation overnight at 4 °C in the presence of a specific lysyl oxidase (LOX) antibody (1/1000, rabbit polyclonal IqG, Abcam, ab 31,238, Cambridge, United Kingdom), plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) antibody (1/200, Abcam, ab66705, Cambridge, United Kingdom) or TNF-a antibody (1/1000, goat polyclonal IgG, Santa Cruz, N-19, Heidelberg, Germany). Horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies (DAKO, Belgium) at a dilution of 1/2000 were used. Both primary and secondary antibodies were diluted in 5% milk-TBS-T, except for PAI-1 which was in 5% BSA. Visualisation was performed with the enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) technique using the Pierce ECL Plus Western Blotting Substrate (Thermo Fisher, Erembodegem, Belgium).

3.3.8 Real-time PCR

Total RNA was extracted using RNeasy fibrous tissue kit (Qiagen, Antwerpen, Belgium) following the manufacturer's guidelines. The concentration and purity of the RNA were assessed using a NanoDrop 2000 spectrophotometer (Isogen Life Science, Temse, Belgium). Synthetisation of cDNA was done by using a QuantiNova Reverse Transcription kit (Qiagen, Antwerpen, Belgium). The expression of TNF-a (forward primer: GTC-TGT-CC-TCA-GCC-TCT-TC, reverse

primer: CCC-ATT-TGG-GAA-CTT-CTC-CT) was evaluated. Primers were designed in the coding sequence of the mRNA. Real-time PCR was carried out in an optical 96-well plate using the StepOnePlus (Applied Biosystems, Belgium). SYBR Green (Invitrogen, Merelbeke, Belgium) chemistry-based qPCR was performed. Gene expression data were analysed with MIQE guidelines taken into account. Normalisation of the data with reference genes was performed using qBase software (Biogazelle, Zwijnaarde, Belgium).

3.3.9 AGEs determination

Plasma advanced glycated end-products (AGEs) were determined with an OxiSelect Advanced Glycation End Product (AGE) Competitive ELISA kit (Cell Biolabs, San Diego, CA, USA). Samples were added to the AGE conjugate preabsorbed ELISA plate. Hereafter, wells were incubated with a diluted anti-AGE antibody and an HRP-conjugated secondary antibody was added. Absorbance was measured at 450 nm.

3.3.10 Statistical analysis

Results were tested for normality prior to statistical tests. Accordingly, parametric test (t-test) or non-parametric test (Mann–Whitney U test) were performed comparing results of both groups. Data are presented as mean±S.E.M. or median [75th percentile; 25th percentile] accordingly. Simple linear regression model was applied to assess a possible correlation. Analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA). A value of P<.05 was considered statistically significant.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Effect of Western diet on animal characteristics

At baseline, no difference in global parameters was found between animals (data not shown). Eighteen weeks of Western diet (i.e., a diet based on high-sugar content) did not lead to any mortality. As shown in Table 2 and compared to control diet, 18 weeks of Western diet increased body weight significantly (+12.5%). Food intake, used as a surrogate for polyphagia, was significantly increased in animals undergoing Western diet. Global animal characteristics were accompanied with alterations in blood lipid profiles with augmented blood triglycerides and reduced HDLC levels with Western diet. Total cholesterol levels and NEFAs remained comparable.

	Control Diet	Western Diet
BW increase (%)	232 ± 6	261 ± 8*
Food intake (g/day)	35± 1	46±1*
Triglycerides (mg/dl)	211 ± 11	242 ± 4 *
Total Cholesterol (mg/dl)	148 ± 5	152 ± 4
HDLC (mg/dl)	22 ± 2	15±1*
NEFA (µM)	0.4 ± 0.1	0.6 ± 0.1
AWT (mm)	1.46 ± 0.02	1.71 ± 0.04 *
EF (%)	74 ± 2	69 ± 3
LVP (mmHg)	99 ± 3	105 ± 2

T - 1-1 -	D		6 - 11 !	10	C	M/+	11 - 4
lable	2: Animai	characteristics	tollowing	19 meeks	Control or	western	aiet.

BW, body weight; HDLC, High-density-lipoprotein cholesterol; NEFA, non-esterified fatty acids; AWT, anterior wall thickness; EF, ejection fraction; LVP, left ventricle pressure; EDP, left ventricular end diastolic pressure. Data are presented as mean ± SEM. * denotes p< 0.05 vs. control diet.

3.4.2 Glucose tolerance is progressively altered with Western diet

Fig. 4A summarises the evolution of glucose tolerance parameters over time in both groups. Total glucose levels, as measured as AUC, were progressively and significantly increased in animals undergoing Western diet already after 12 weeks diet (left panel). Similarly, fasting insulin increased with time in both groups but this increase was more pronounced in the Western diet (right panel).



Figure 4: Western diet leads to T2DM. (A) Fasting glucose and insulin levels over time in both groups. (B) Fasting and 60' post-glucose insulin and glucose levels after 18 weeks of control or Western diet. Left panel shows the fasting levels, right panel display s levels 60' after start of the OGTT. (n=12/group). Data are shown as mean \pm S.E.M. * denotes P<.05.

After 18 weeks Western diet, animals displayed a significantly increased fasting insulin levels to maintain comparable fasting glucose levels (Fig. 4B, left panel). After 60' glucose administration, the higher insulin level observed in Western diet was unable to maintain comparable glucose levels. Indeed, in the Western diet group, glucose levels after 60' glucose administration remained significantly higher than in control diet (Fig. 4B, right panel).

3.4.3 Western diet promotes the development of early signs of cardiac alteration

After 18 weeks of Western diet, heart rate, LV volumes, cardiac output and ejection fraction remained comparable between the groups (data not shown). However, despite unchanged global cardiac parameters, anterior wall thickness (AWT), an early marker of cardiac hypertrophy and remodelling, was significantly increased in animals fed with Western diet as seen in Table 2. Heart weight to tibia length ratio was comparable between control (39 ± 3 mg/cm) and Western diet (37 ± 2 mg/cm) fed animals.

This change in cardiac morphology was associated with changes in hemodynamic parameters. After 18 weeks Western diet, LV pressure was comparable between the groups (Table 2). EDP, an early marker of diastolic dysfunction, was however significantly increased in Western diet (Table 2). Parameters such as relaxation time constant (i.e., Tau), peak rate of pressure rise (i.e., dP/dtmax) and decline (i.e., dP/dtmin) remained comparable between the groups (data not shown).

Fig. 5A is a representative image of LV sections after 18 weeks diet from both groups, stained with Sirius red. As summarised in Fig. 5B (left panel), total interstitial collagen was significantly increased in animals undergoing 18 weeks Western diet. This increase was associated with an increased LOX levels (Fig. 5B, right panel).



Figure 5: Western diet increases cardiac fibrosis through an increase in LOX expression. (A) Transversal sections of the cardiac left ventricle of a rat undergoing control diet (left panel) and Western diet (right panel), 20 times magnified. Left panel is a normal rat heart, right panel is a rat heart after 18 weeks of Western diet. (B) Total interstitial collagen quantification in the left ventricle of the rat heart (left panel). Protein LOX levels normalized to β -actin (right panel) (n=12/group). Data are shown as mean±S.E.M. or median [75th percentile; 25th percentile], * denotes P<.05.

3.4.4 Other associated hallmarks of DCM are present after 18 weeks Western diet

Western diet given for 18 weeks resulted in a four times increase in circulating plasma AGEs levels (Fig. 6A).

CHAPTER 3



Figure 6: Other hallmarks of DCM are also present after 18 weeks Western diet. (A) Plasma AGEs in both groups measured 18 weeks after the diet. (B) Protein level of TNF-a normalised to β -actin, including Western blot image. Gene expression level of TNF-a (right panel) (C) Quantitative analysis of PAI-1 protein expression normalised to β -actin (left panel), including Western blot image. Correlation between end-diastolic pressure (i.e., EDP) and PAI-1 levels (right panel). (n=12/group, except for PAI-1 where n=11 for the Western diet group due to an outlier). Data are shown as mean±S.E.M. or median [75th percentile; 25th percentile], * denotes P<.05.

TNF-a protein level was not altered neither at gene level, nor at protein level (Fig. 6B). Protein levels of PAI-1 were significantly increased after 18 weeks Western diet (Fig. 6C, left panel) and positively correlated with the increased EDP (P<.05, R2=0.18) (Fig. 6C, right panel).

3.5 Discussion

In our study, we show that healthy rats undergoing 18 weeks of a Western-style diet comprising high sugar content display features of T2DM with DCM, such as hyperglycemia, hyperinsulinemia, hypertriglyceridemia, elevated EDP, LV hypertrophy and increased fibrosis. The present study clearly shows that Western-style diet given to rats results in a T2DM with DCM, with a phenotype similar to humans.

3.5.1 Relevance of the animal model used

To date, many genetic animal models (e.g., ob/ob, db/db mice, Zucker diabetic fatty, Goto-Kakizaki and Otsuka Long Evans Tokushima fatty rats) have been used to unravel the underlying mechanisms involved in disturbed energy homeostasis in T2DM with DCM (389, 405). However, despite shared common traits with human phenotype, models display either absence (406) or presence of obesity, hyperlipidemia and/or inflammation (407). Zucker diabetic fatty rats are an excellent model to observe T2DM. However, next to the fact that this model does not completely mimic the human phenotype as the phenotype occurs in rather young animals (8 weeks), altered leptin signalling observed in genetically modified rodents may also interfere with the interpretation of the data. To avoid potential misinterpretation resulting from phenotypes not directly attributed to the pathophysiology of the disease mechanisms, many researchers have used dietinduced diabetes as new alternatives (389). Traditionally, those diets consist of an exchange of carbohydrate-derived calories with fat-derived calories (i.e., high fat diet), mostly combined with a small dose of streptozotocin (HFD/STZ). In most models, animals exhibit hyperglycemia and hyperlipidemia associated with hyperinsulinemia. However, with the injection of STZ, the direct toxic effect of STZ on its own could likely be a cause for the observed phenotype (398, 408-412). In addition, in humans, pancreatic β -cell failure is multi-causal, including insulin resistance, hyperinsulinemia, stress, inflammation, lipotoxicity and glucolipotoxicity (413). Altogether, the relevance of such models for T2DM and DCM in particular remain questionable.

CHAPTER 3

Furthermore, the current obesity pandemic in Western countries is associated with an increased sugar intake rather than an increase in fat intake (390). Therefore in our study, we used a diet based on high sugar rather than high fat, a so-called "cafeteria diet" or "Western diet" providing a progressive and more relevant model to study T2DM with DCM. In fact, diet composition given to our model was 20% total fat, 61% sugars and 19% proteins. As a comparison, composition of a classical fast food menu (comprising a hamburger, fries, beverage and dessert) is 25% total fat, 58% sugars and 16% proteins, further emphasising the relevance of the diet used in our study.

Regarding the phenotype obtained following such a diet, our data are in accordance with previous data showing that rats undergoing the "Western diet" display many features of T2DM (166, 391). Overweight and obesity are the strongest risk factors, accounting for a large proportion of T2DM (414-417). In our study, animals given a Western diet displayed a significantly increased body weight associated with polyphagia, reflecting the human situation. Another characteristic of T2DM is the altered lipid profile and hyperlipidaemia, with increased circulating free fatty acids and triglycerides (418). Lipid profile observed in our model also confirmed those data, showing an increase in circulatory triglycerides, lower HDLC levels and the slightly increased NEFA.

Very interestingly in our study, animals undergoing Western diet did not only develop T2DM but also developed early signs of cardiac dysfunction as shown by LV hypertrophy, altered hemodynamic pressures and increased interstitial fibrosis. To our knowledge, our study is the first that combines changes in the metabolic profile with early structural and functional changes in cardiac function in the setting of a Western diet given to healthy rats, making our model unique of its kind.

Finally, T2DM with DCM is characterised by chronic inflammation of the liver and adipose tissues, typically seen in patients (391, 392). In our model, we did not specifically examine liver inflammation but examined inflammation directly in cardiac tissue. In our model, tissue PAI-1 levels were significantly increased in animals undergoing Western diet. In one hand, it has been shown that PAI-1 has an important role in adipocyte hypertrophy and insulin resistance (419-421). Whether this increase results in a downregulation of peroxisome proliferator-

activated receptor (PPAR-γ) is likely to occur but remains to be confirmed in our model. In the other hand, PAI-1 is known to play an important role in fibrinolytic process and inflammation resulting in fibroblast activation and increased cardiac fibrosis content (422, 423). Together with the increased circulating AGEs levels known to be involved in cardiac diastolic dysfunction through increased fibrosis (129, 133), the increased PAI-1 might play an important role in the pathophysiological mechanism of the disease development as levels of PAI-1 correlated with the increased EDP, being a hallmark of early cardiac remodelling. Finally, serum AGE compounds are closely related with poorly controlled diabetes, as reactive carbonyl compounds (such as glucose) are increased in diabetic patients. AGEs are known to affect myocardial function through binding with their receptor (RAGE) and initiating signalling pathways resulting in the release of growth factors, formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), endothelial dysfunction and angiogenesis (424, 425).

3.5.2 Unanswered questions and future research

In our study, we did not examine HbA1c. Changes in HbA1c levels is currently used as a diagnostic tool for diabetes (426). However, examining total AGEs rather than HbA1c might be a better marker for diabetes and pre-diabetes status as changes in circulating AGEs have been shown to occur even before changes in glycemia occur (133). TNF-a, a classical marker of inflammation was not changed in our model. However, we examined TNF-a levels in cardiac tissue specifically. Whether circulating levels of this inflammatory marker are changed remain to be determined. Finally, underlying pathophysiological mechanisms involved in the disease progression, including changes at the cardiomyocyte level and the role of oxidative stress in that process were not examined but would deserve further investigation.

3.6 Conclusion

In conclusion, the minimal clinical criteria to define DCM are not yet described in the clinic, but specific hallmarks could include diastolic dysfunction, fibrosis and LV hypertrophy, associated with hyperglycemia, hyperinsulinemia, disturbed lipid profile and signs of inflammation. Our animal model displays those features, indicating that Western diet is a cause not only for T2DM but also for DCM. CHAPTER 3

4

High intensity training improves cardiac function in healthy rats

Based on:

High intensity training improves cardiac function in healthy rats

<u>Verboven M¹</u>, Cuypers A¹, Deluyker D¹, Lambrichts I¹, Eijnde BO¹, Hansen D $^{1, 2\sim}$, Bito V^{1~}.

Scientific reports, 2019. 9 (1) 5612

1 Biomedical Research Institute, Hasselt University, Diepenbeek, Belgium

2 Heart Centre Hasselt, Jessa hospital, Stadsomvaart 11, 3500 Hasselt, Belgium

~ Equally contributing

4 High-intensity training improves cardiac function in healthy rats

4.1 Abstract

Exercise training is a low cost and safe approach for reducing the risk of cardiovascular disease development. Currently, moderate-intensity training (MIT) is the most preferred exercise type. However, high-intensity interval training (HIIT) is gaining interest especially among athletes and healthy individuals. In this study, we examined cardiac remodelling resulting from MIT and HIIT in healthy rats. Healthy male Spraque-Dawley rats were randomly assigned to MIT or HIIT for 13 weeks. Animals kept sedentary (SED) were used as control. Cardiac function was evaluated with echocardiography and hemodynamic measurements. Heart tissue was stained for capillary density and fibrosis. After 13 weeks of training, only HIIT induced beneficial cardiac hypertrophy. Overall global cardiac parameters (such as ejection fraction, cardiac output and volumes) were improved similarly between both training modalities. At tissue level, collagen content was significantly and similarly reduced in both exercise groups. Finally, only HIIT increased significantly capillary density. Our data indicate that even if very different in design, HIIT and MIT appear to be equally effective in improving cardiac function in healthy rats. Furthermore, HIIT provides additional benefits through improved capillary density and should therefore be considered as a preferred training modality for athletes and patients.

4.2 Background

Exercise training intervention is recognised as an important and low-cost and safe strategy to prevent and treat cardiovascular diseases (427, 428). Exercising on a regular basis is indeed associated with a decreased risk for coronary artery diseases and heart failure through a reduced blood pressure, increased myocardial perfusion capacity and improved cellular metabolism in the healthy heart (429, 430). Overall, physiological left ventricular (LV) remodeling, as generated by repeated bouts of endurance exercise, has been shown to improve cardiac performance in healthy subjects and increase tolerance for ischemia and reperfusion injury, resulting in a beneficial effect on disease progression and survival in patients with LV dysfunction (255, 431-433).

In that context, many studies have demonstrated that moderate-intensity endurance training (MIT) is beneficial for cardiac function, both in healthy and pathological situations (255, 434). Recently, high-intensity interval exercise training (HIIT) has raised much attention, not only to assist coaches in adjusting training programs for elite and recreational athletes (435), but also as a new approach to handle heart failure patients (369, 380). Indeed, HIIT is a widely used and effective training method in various sports, including endurance and sprint events, combining respectively glycolytic and oxidative metabolism (436). Recent data indicate that HIIT provides indeed additional benefits and could be even more potent than MIT in improving cardiorespiratory function, metabolic response and cardiac function in healthy adults (253, 378, 382, 437, 438). A number of studies attribute this potential to a higher cardiomyocyte mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation and metabolism (253, 378, 379, 437, 438). Data also suggest that HIIT might provide additive benefits compared with the classical MIT modality (379). In cardiac rehabilitation in T2DM patients, HIIT provides improved systolic blood pressure (SBP), HbA1C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), malondialdehyde (MDA) levels, Nitric Oxide (NO) and von Willebrand factor (vWF). Overall, HIIT seems superior compared with MIT in improving vascular functions (384). Importantly, molecular pathways and effects of these different exercise modalities on cardiovascular effects are however still equivocal and remain to be elucidated.
In this study, we hypothesised that HIIT could provide higher cardiovascular gain in physiological remodelling, potentially through improved mitochondrial metabolism and tissue vascularisation. The aim of the current study was therefore to perform a thorough comparison on the beneficial effects induced by either MIT or HIIT on cardiac function in healthy rats. This could lead to optimisation of exercise programming for healthy individuals, athletes and heart failure patients seeking for strategies to enhance cardiac function.

4.3 Methods

This investigation conforms to the EU directive 2010/63/EU for animal experiments and was approved by a local ethical committee (Ethische Commissie Dierproeven, UHasselt, Diepenbeek, Belgium). All experiments and methods were performed according to the relevant guidelines.

4.3.1 Study protocol and exercise intervention

Twenty-six male Spraque-Dawley rats (Charles River Laboratories, L'Arbresle, France), weighing 200-225 g were used throughout the study. All animals were familiarised with the treadmill (IITC, California, United States of America) prior the experiment (for 3 days/week) and were randomly assigned (by randomisation program) to one of the three experimental groups after two weeks familiarisation. Group 1 did not undergo exercise training throughout the study (SED, N=10). Group 2 was subjected to moderate intense endurance training schedule, consisting in running on a treadmill, 18m/min, 5° inclination, 1h/day, 5days/week (MIT, N=8). Group 3 consisted in 10 bouts of high-intensity treadmill running (18m/min, 30° inclination), separated by 1 min of active rest, 5 days/week (HIIT, N=8). Sample size was calculated by a Power analysis based on previous results. The intensity of exercise training was assessed by measuring blood lactate levels directly after exercise with an Analox apparatus (Analis, Namur, Belgium). Levels >4 mmol/l lactate were considered HIIT (439). Training modalities were adjusted to lead to an equal energy expenditure between interventions by calculating the net caloric cost (kcal/min) using following calculations:

- $VO_2 \max = S_a * 0.2 + (S * G_b) * 0.9 (S_a = speed (m/min), S = speed (m/min), G_b = inclination);$
- Net caloric cost (kcal/min) = VO₂ max * 3.5 * body mass (kg) / 200

All animals were maintained in a controlled environmental condition of temperature and humidity and had water and food (normal rodent diet, ENVIGO, The Netherlands) available *ad libidum*. Blood samples, hemodynamic measurements and echocardiographic measurements were executed 13 weeks after the start of the training program.

4.3.2 Conventional echocardiographic measurements

Prior to sacrifice, transthoracic echocardiography was performed under 2% isoflurane in all animals with a Vivid I ultrasound machine (GE Vingmed Ultrasound) using a 10 MHz linear array transducer. The protocol used is as described previously (133, 440). Briefly, a standard parasternal long axis image and short axis views at the mid-ventricular level were obtained at a temporal approximately 200 resolution of frames per second. Conventional echocardiographic parameters (e.g. LV end-diastolic diameter (LVEDD), LV endsystolic diameter (LVESD), posterior wall thicknesses (PWT) and anterior wall thicknesses (AWT)) were obtained from the B-mode images at midpapillary level in the parasternal short-axis view. End-systolic volumes (ESV) and end-diastolic volumes (EDV) were calculated by π *DM2*B/6, where DM indicates the systolic/diastolic diameter of the ventricle in mid-ventricular short-axis view and B is LV length on parasternal long-axis image. Subsequently, ejection fraction (EF) was measured as (EDV-ESV)/EDV, and expressed in %.

4.3.3 Hemodynamic measurements

Pressure measurements were performed in all animals with the use of an SPR-320 MikroTip high-fidelity pressure transducer (Millar Inc) that was advanced into the left ventricle via the right carotid artery, as described previously (440). The pressure catheter (2F) was connected to a quad-bridge amplifier and PowerLab 26T module (AD Instruments, United Kingdom) was used to transfer the data to LabChart v7.3.7 software (AD Instruments, United Kingdom).

4.3.4 Citrate synthase activity in cardiac homogenates

Citrate synthase activity was determined in LV cardiac homogenates using a citrate synthase assay kit (CS0720; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) (441).

4.3.5 Fibrosis and capillary density measurements in tissue sections

Transversal sections of 7 μ m thick were obtained at cardiac midventricular level and stained using the Sirius Red/Fast Green kit (Chondrex). Fibrosis was assessed in all animals in four randomly chosen fields per section. The area of collagen deposition indicated by red staining was outlined and quantified using an automated image analysis program (Carl Zeiss, AxoVision 4.6, Zaventem, Belgium). Blood vessels were excluded. Total collagen deposition to the global cardiac area was calculated and expressed as percent collagen deposit.

Capillary density was quantified from histological sections by immunohistochemical staining for CD31 (SC-1506, Santa Cruz, 1/100). Capillaries were visualised by 3-3-diaminobenzidine (DAB) and counterstained using hematoxylin. The amount of blood vessels were counted in 10 different fields per section and averaged. Data are expressed as amount of capillaries per µm2.

4.3.6 Endothelin-1, OXPHOS and NOX2 protein levels

Protein concentrations of the LV tissues were determined by the BCA protein assay kit (Thermo Fisher, Erembodegem, Belgium). Western blot was performed as previously described (133). Briefly, equal amounts of proteins (15 μ g) were separated on a 12% SDS-PAGE gel with a mini protean 3 electrophoresis system (Bio-rad Laboratories, Temse, Belgium), transferred to a polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membrane and subsequently, blocked for 2h with 5% milk in Tris-buffered solution containing 0.1% Tween-20 (TBS-T) followed by incubation overnight at 4°C in the presence of a specific endothelin-1 antibody (1/2500, Abcam, ab117757, Cambridge, United Kingdom), NOX2 antibody (1/2500, Abcam, ab31092, Cambridge, United Kingdom) or an OXPHOS antibody (1/1000, Abcam, ab110411, Cambridge, United Kingdom). Horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies (DAKO, Belgium) at a dilution of 1/2000 were used. Both primary and secondary antibodies were diluted in 5% milk-TBS-T. Visualisation was performed with the enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) technique using the Pierce ECL Plus western Blotting Substrate (Thermo Fisher, Erembodegem, Belgium). Data were normalised to β -actin protein levels.

4.3.7 Complex II enzyme activity

Complex II enzyme activity in cardiac tissue was determined using a Complex II Enzyme Activity Microplate Assay Kit (Abcam, ab109908, Cambridge, United Kingdom). Samples were prepared as described in the protocol, and added to an anti-Complex II monoclonal antibody-coated 96-well plate. Absorbance was measured at OD600 nm for 60 minutes, measuring every 20 seconds.

4.3.8 Statistical analysis

Results were tested for normality prior to statistical tests. Subsequently, one-way ANOVA test was performed combined with a post- hoc test, dependent of normality. If data were normally distributed, Tukey's range test was performed. Elsewise, the Dunn's test was used. Analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA). A value of p<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Different exercise types improve cardiac function to the same extent

At baseline, no differences were observed neither in body weight nor in cardiac function assessed by conventional echocardiography between the three groups (data not shown). Thirteen weeks after the start of exercise intervention, sedentary animals gained significantly more weight than trained animals (body weight SED: 596 ± 16 g; MIT: 483 ± 18 g; HIIT: 472 ± 13 g, p<0.05). Body weight change was comparable between the two training groups.

Conventional echocardiographic characteristics of the animals are summarized in Table 3. Ejection fraction, a parameter for global cardiac function, was significantly improved after 13 weeks of exercise training (p < 0.05). Furthermore, animals undergoing HIIT specifically displayed changes in LV morphology with wall hypertrophy (increased of 24% for AWT and 17% for PWT compared to SED, p<0.05) while MIT did not induce wall hypertrophy. Finally, EDV was not different between groups, while ESV significantly and progressively decreased with MIT and HIIT intervention (p< 0.05). These changes resulted in a significant increase in SV of 27% in both training groups (p< 0.05), while cardiac output (CO) was preserved.

	SED	MIT	HIIT
	(N=10)	(N=8)	(N=8)
HW (g)	1.6 ± 0.06	1.4 ± 0.04	1.5 ± 0.05
HR (bpm)	347 ± 7	325 ± 10	314 ± 13
AWT (mm)	1.4 ± 0.1	1.5 ± 0.1	1.7 ± 0.4*
PWT (mm)	1.4 ± 0.1	1.4 ± 0.1	$1.6 \pm 0.1^*$
EDV (µL)	413 ± 24	436 ± 27	426 ± 12

 Table 3: Conventional echocardiographic parameters after 13 weeks of exercise

 training

ESV (µL)	154 ± 10	107 ± 10*	95 ± 7*
SV (µL)	259 ± 17	329 ± 22*	331 ± 7*
CO (ml/min)	89.4 ± 5.5	106.7 ± 7.6	104.0 ± 5.7
EF	63 ± 1	76 ± 2*	78 ±1*

HR, heart rate; AWT, anterior wall thickness; PWT, posterior wall thickness; EDV, enddiastolic volume; ESV, end-systolic volume; SV, stroke volume; CO, cardiac output; EF, ejection fraction. Data are shown as mean \pm SEM. * denotes p<0.05 *vs.* SED

Hemodynamic measurements are summarised in Table 4. Both exercise modalities were equally able to decrease LVP as compared to SED animals (p < 0.05). Contractility, as evaluated with dP/dtmax, as well as relaxation parameters, i.e. dP/dtmin and tau, were comparable in all groups (p < 0.05).

	SED	MIT	HIIT
	(N=10)	(N=8)	(N=8)
LVP (mmHg)	108 ± 3	96 ± 2*	96 ± 2*
EDP (mmHg)	5.2 ± 0.4	3.9 ± 0.4	3.7 ± 0.6
Tau (ms)	0.01 ± 0.001	0.01 ± 0.001	0.008 ± 0.002
dP/dt _{max} (mmHg/s)	7354 ± 274	7382 ± 277	7340 ± 258
dP/dt _{min} (mmHg/s)	-7530 ± 211	-7489 ± 215	-7190 ± 203

Table 4: Hemodynamic parameters after 13 weeks of exercise training

LVP, left ventricular pressure; EDP, end diastolic pressure; Tau, relaxation time constant; dP/dt_{max}, peak rate of pressure rise; dP/dt_{min}, peak rate of pressure decline. Data are shown as mean ± SEM. * denotes p<0.05 *vs.* SED

Overall, data indicate beneficial cardiac remodelling following exercise training, most global improvements are independent of the exercise modality.

4.4.2 As opposed to MIT, HIIT training is able to increase capillary density

Figure 7A are representative images of interstitial collagen obtained with Sirius red/Fast Green in heart sections after 13 weeks of exercise training. As summarised in Figure 7B, total interstitial collagen was significantly and equally decreased in animals subjected to exercise training. Citrate synthase activity, a marker of aerobic capacity and mitochondrial mass, improved equally in both groups undergoing a training program (p< 0.05) (Figure 8A). Additionally, capillary density, evaluated by a CD31 staining in cardiac tissue sections, was unchanged with MIT (p> 0.05) but was significantly increased with HIIT (p< 0.05) (Figure 8B). Finally, no difference was observed in Endothelin-1 (Figure 8D), NADPH Oxidase 2 (NOX2) nor oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) protein levels (Figure 8E). Complex II enzyme activity levels were not altered after exercise, however, a positive trend was observed in HIIT animals (Figure 8F).



100 µm



Figure 7: Exercise intervention reduces cardiac collagen content.

Representative images of interstitial collagen, as indicated by the arrows, in LV sections obtained with Sirius red/Fast Green in SED, MIT and HIIT groups. B. Total interstitial collagen quantification in SED (N=10), MIT (N=8) and HIIT (N=8). Data are shown as mean \pm SEM. * denotes p<0.05 *vs.* SED.



Figure 8: Exercise intervention increases citrate synthase activity and capillary density.

A. Citrate synthase activity, measured in LV homogenates, in all groups. B. Capillary density expressed as blood vessels per surface area, in the three groups. C. Protein level of endothelin-1, normalised to β -actin. D. Protein level of NADPH Oxidase 2 (NOX2), normalised to β -actin. E. Protein level of oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) complex IV, normalised to β - actin. F. Enzyme activity of complex II in cardiac tissue. G. Results of representative Western blots. Cropped images of Western blot. All blots were performed individually. Data are shown as mean ± SEM from SED (N=10), MIT (N=8) and HIIT (N=8) for graphs, blots represent a partial blot. * denotes p<0.05 *vs.* SED.

4.5 Discussion

In this study, we demonstrate that both MIT and HIIT intervention, although very different training types, lead to beneficial effects on cardiac function in healthy animals. Importantly, HIIT might provide additional benefits as opposed to MIT as HIIT is able to increase blood capillary density, an important feature for optimal cardiac muscle metabolism.

4.5.1 Both HIIT and MIT lead to beneficial cardiac remodelling, resulting in an improved cardiac function through reduced afterload

While some studies demonstrate that MIT improves cardiac function, others report very little changes (442). The beneficial effects of exercise training are believed to be mainly attributed to improved neurohumoral, inflammatory, metabolic and central hemodynamic responses as well as on endothelial, skeletal and cardiovascular function, leading to an overall cardiac improvement and an improved tolerance for ischemia and reperfusion injury (432, 433). One major hallmark of LV remodelling related to endurance exercise training, independent of the applied training modality, is the increase in LV mass. Cardiac hypertrophy is commonly accepted to be physiological and not associated with adverse effects, as opposed to pathological hypertrophy which involved substantially different signalling pathways (443-446). Pathological hypertrophy is related with an increase in collagen accumulation and wall thickness, causing reduced cardiac function (427) which was not observed here. In our study, we have shown that unlike MIT, HIIT increases AWT and PWT, markers of LV wall hypertrophy, as also confirmed in the study of Hafstad et al (427, 447). In the study of Kemi et al. a HIIT modality was more efficient in inducing LV hypertrophy compared when moderate-intensity training was applied (448). These data suggest that HIIT might be more efficient than MIT in physiological cardiac remodelling. However, whether this is related to activation of different/specific signaling pathways remains to be elucidated. Endothelin-1 is known to promote hypertrophic remodeling, but no change was observed in the different groups in our study, indicating alternative pathways for remodeling after exercise.

Physiological adaptation of cardiac function to exercise training involves structural and metabolic remodeling, resulting in a lower resting HR, improved CO and changed volumes (449). In our study, independent of the applied training modality, HR and EDV were not statistically different from sedentary animals. Noteworthy, EF, a marker of global cardiac function, was significantly improved with both exercise training interventions. As also shown by Dawes et al (449), the improved global cardiac function was associated with an increased SV in MIT and HIIT groups. The increase in SV, together with unchanged EDV but reduced ESV, indicates an increased cardiac contractility and/or reduced afterload in trained animals (450). The effect of endurance training on cardiac contractility remains however controversial. While some studies demonstrate an increased contractility attributed to an improved oxygen delivery, angiogenesis and nitric oxide (NO) sensitivity after endurance exercise training (444, 451), others report very little changes (442). In our study, dP/dtmax, a parameter reflecting cardiac contractility, was not changed, indicating that the beneficial cardiac changes observed are likely to be attributed to a decreased afterload, rather than a major change in contractility. This is further confirmed by the decreased LVP, which, combined with a CO that tended to be higher, indicates a decrease in vascular resistance, resulting in a reduced afterload. In that context, the effect of exercise training on endothelial function and, as a result, on vasodilatation, was already well described by others in humans and experimental models (369, 452-454). Indeed, exercise training has been shown to lead to vascular adaptation and improved vascular function through increased NO levels (455, 456). Our in vivo data indicate that an improved cardiac function is likely attributed to vascular adaptations, leading to a reduced afterload. However, the exact mechanisms and further study on endothelial function, examining the effect of the different training interventions on NO levels remain to be performed.

It has been shown in rodents that exercise training is not necessarily accompanied by myocardial collagen change (444). In our study, we show that both exercise interventions were able to substantially decrease interstitial collagen content in cardiac muscle. This decrease in fibrosis was however not strongly associated with improvements of diastolic function as previously described (457-460). Indeed, despite the unchanged EDV and unchanged CO, EDP only tended to be decreased in both training modalities (p=0.07). Whether an improved diastolic function related to a decreased fibrosis content following exercise training can be completely ruled out remains to be further confirmed as it has been shown that diastolic function (i.e. EDP) is directly associated with cardiac fibrosis level (133, 440). However, most experiments examining fibrosis and diastolic function have been performed under pathological settings (457, 461). In our study, we examined physiological remodelling in healthy rats. Therefore, the effect of exercise on cardiac fibrosis level and its impact on diastolic function is likely to be substantially more important in pathological situations as levels of fibrosis in pathological settings are at least two times larger than what is reported in healthy situations (133, 404).

4.5.2 What is the added value of HIIT?

It is known that an increase in cardiac capillary density is important for the development of physiological hypertrophy (462, 463). In that context, the link between angiogenesis and hypertrophy has been previously emphasised (462) where the seen effects were shown to be mediated through paracrine effects and secretion of NO and growth factors (such as VEGF, NRG-1). In our study, only HIIT was able to increase capillary density, indicating a somehow higher potential for HIIT as compared to MIT. Very recently, further confirming our results, the study of Machado et al. demonstrated that exercise training was able to prevent capillary rarefaction in obese rats with the metabolic syndrome (464). An adequate capillary density allows for greater oxygen transport to the cardiac muscle and improves ultimately cardiac metabolism. In our study, citrate synthase activity, a measure of mitochondrial mass, was significantly improved after MIT and HIIT. Together with this, complex II enzyme activity seemed to be increased in HIIT compared with sedentary animals, however not significantly. Our data therefore suggest that HIIT might provide additional benefits compared to MIT, through increased capillary density and the resulting improved oxidative metabolism, not limited to the skeletal muscle as shown by Takada et al. (465) but also in the heart, as suggested in the current study and by others (466). Cardiac metabolism requires aerobic production of ATP. In our study, HIIT provides increased cardiac vascularity to counter high oxygen requirements during exercise, as in HIIT exercise is performed at almost maximal oxygen consumption. Increased mitochondrial activity and mass will result in an increased ATP production, necessary to keep up with the cardiac energy demand (467). Since blood supply is essential to improve cardiac function, particularly in pathological situations where blood vessels are dramatically reduced (468) or when angiogenesis needs to be restored to optimise cardiac repair through stem-cell therapy for instance (469), HIIT might be a great advantage compared to MIT. However, further investigation is required to draw conclusions as underlying changes related to the different training interventions on endothelial function, including mitochondrial morphology and mitochondrial function, are so far unknown. Exercise and oxidative stress have a complicated relationship, as exercise can have both a positive and negative effect on oxidative stress (470). NOX-2 plays a role in hypertrophy and interstitial fibrosis, and is a superoxide generating enzyme playing a role in oxidative stress and reactive oxygen species (ROS) (471). However, in our study, no effect on oxidative stress levels was observed after exercise. This can be due to multiple causes, as mode, intensity and duration of the exercise are known to play an important role in the observed result.

Finally, because training modalities used in HIIT are short in time, motivation and adherence of patients to HIIT training as compared to MIT, could be potentially higher. This could be a serious advantage in the clinical setting since both trainings offer beneficial cardiac remodelling with an added value to HIIT at the molecular level. Last but not least, not limited to a pathological setting, one could speculate that HIIT could be a way to improve in a more efficient and faster way, cardiovascular function in athletes. However, translation of results from bench to bed-side should be done with caution taking into account the differences between animal and human studies.

4.6 Conclusion

Our data indicate that even if very different in design, HIIT and MIT appear to be equally effective in improving cardiac function in healthy rats. Furthermore, HIIT shows some promising results and might provide additional benefits through improved capillary density. Therefore, it could be considered as a preferred training modality for athletes and for patients for whom improvements in cardiac function are aimed at.

5

Effect of Exercise Intervention on Cardiac Function in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: A Systematic Review

Based on:

Effect of Exercise Intervention on Cardiac Function in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: A Systematic Review

<u>Verboven M^{1*}</u>, Van Ryckeghel L^{1, 2*}, Belkhouribchia J^{1, 2}, Dendale P^{1, 3}, Eijnde BO¹, Hansen D^{1, 2, 3*}, Bito V^{1*}.

Sports Medicine, 2018. 49 (2): 255-268

1 Biomedical Research Institute, Hasselt University, Diepenbeek, Belgium

2 REVAL-Rehabilitation Research Centre, Faculty of Rehabilitation Sciences, Hasselt University, Diepenbeek, Belgium

3 Heart Centre Hasselt, Jessa Hospital, Hasselt, Belgium

*Authors contributed equally

5 Effect of Exercise Intervention on Cardiac Function in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: A Systematic Review

5.1 Abstract

Background: The effect of exercise on cardiac function/structure in type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) with or without diabetic cardiomyopathy (DCM) is not yet completely understood. To date, results of studies have been controversial with variable outcomes due to the variety of exercise modalities.

Objective: The aim of the present review was to examine the impact of exercise intervention, and different types of exercise, on cardiac function and structure in T2DM through a systematic literature review, combining both pre-clinical and clinical studies.

Methods: A systematic literature search was performed on PubMed, Web of Science, and PEDro to identify studies up to 2 April 2018. Articles were included when well-defined exercise protocols were provided, and cardiac function in T2DM patients or validated animal models was examined.

Results: In diabetic animals, improvements in both diastolic and systolic function through exercise therapy were mainly attributed to reduced collagen deposition. In T2DM patients, improvements were observed in diastolic function, but not consistently in systolic function, after endurance (and combined resistance) exercise training. Different exercise intervention modalities and exercise types seemed equally effective in improving cardiac structure and function.

Conclusion: Exercise training elicits significant improvements in diastolic function and beneficial remodelling in T2DM and DCM animal models, but not necessarily improvements in systolic function and left ventricular structure, regardless of exercise type. Therefore, exercise intervention should be a cornerstone in the treatment of T2DM patients not only to improve glycemic control but also to specifically enhance cardiac function.

5.2 Introduction

Diabetes is a major global health problem, affecting>400 million individuals worldwide, where the majority have type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) (3). In T2DM patients, cardiovascular diseases are the major cause of mortality and morbidity. The risk of developing heart failure in T2DM is closely related to an increase in blood haemoglobin A_{1c} (Hb A_{1c}) levels, and is closely associated with insulin resistance and/or hyperglycemia (109). In addition, diastolic dysfunction and left ventricular (LV) hypertrophy, early markers of cardiac failure, occur in T2DM patients, respectively, in 19.6-54.4% and 21% of the cases (395, 472). Diabetic cardiomyopathy (DCM) is defined as diabetes-associated structural and functional changes in the myocardium, not directly attributable to other confounding factors such as coronary artery disease (CAD), valve disease, or hypertension (188, 394). The prevalence of DCM is not yet clear due to the lack of large cohort studies on different diabetic populations and the discrepancy in outcomes (473). DCM is characterised by extracellular and cardiomyocyte remodelling, both contributing to the observed impaired cardiac output (94) and resulting in impaired diastolic and/or systolic function. These molecular changes are also known to be partially driven by inflammation, hyperglycemia, hyperinsulinemia, and lipotoxicity (474). Patients diagnosed with T2DM and DCM generally receive medication that is aimed at better glucose control and/or lipid-lowering therapies, but for these patients, specific cardiac remodelling is often neglected.

Exercise intervention is an effective, low-cost, and safe strategy for the prevention and treatment of cardiovascular diseases (CVD) (427). Indeed, repeated bouts of endurance exercise lead to advantageous LV remodeling, improvements in cardiac performance, and greater tolerance for ischemia and reperfusion injury (432, 433), resulting in a slower myocardial disease progression and greater survival and/or lower hospital admission rates (255, 431, 475). In addition, exercise is known to exert anti-inflammatory effects, reduce blood HbA_{1c} concentrations, oxidative stress and hyperglycemia, and improve insulin action and lipid profile in T2DM (260, 347, 476-479). In this context, supplementing current approaches with exercise interventions could substantially improve cardiac outcome for T2DM with DCM, which would be of great advantage for the patient and society. However, it remains unclear which type of exercise intervention (with regard to intensity, type, duration, etc.) can improve cardiac function and reverse adverse remodelling. In this review, we therefore systematically evaluated the impact of different exercise training modalities on cardiac function and structure in T2DM with or without DCM. Because underlying mechanisms can only be unravelled in animal models, it was deliberately decided to examine and combine outcomes from pre-clinical and clinical studies in the present systematic review, which represents a further novelty of our approach.

5.3 Methods

5.3.1 Literature Search and Selection Criteria

The primary objective of this systematic review was to assess the impact of exercise intervention on cardiac function in animals and patients with T2DM [PICO: P=patients (with T2DM), I=intervention (exercise), C=comparison (of different exercise types), O=outcome (cardiac function)]. The secondary objective was to assess the impact of different types of exercise on cardiac function. In this systematic review, databases were searched for articles published from inception until 2 April 2018, for both animal and patient studies. For animal studies, the electronic databases PubMed and Web of Science were used with the following Mesh Terms: 'diabetic cardiomyopathy,' 'exercise,' and 'training'. For human studies, the electronic databases PubMed and PEDro were used. In PubMed, the following keywords were used: (training OR exercise) AND (type 2 diabetes OR diabetic cardiomyopathy OR diabetic*) AND (diastolic OR systolic OR cardiac OR heart). In PEDro, the search strategy was adjusted to Diabet*, exercis*, and train* to find all relevant articles. Literature searches for animal and patient studies were independently performed by two reviewers (LVR and MV). In case of disagreement, a consensus-based decision was made by the two reviewers (LVR and MV) and the last authors (DH and VB) to include/ exclude an article. Results of the search are shown in Fig. 9 for the patient studies and in Fig. 10 for the animal studies. Quality assessment was based on the table of Kilkenny et al. for animal studies (480), examining 20 criteria. For the patient studies, methodological quality was evaluated via manually calculated PEDro scores including 11 criteria, and PEDro scores≥6 were considered as "good quality" (481). Outcome parameters (relating to cardiac function and structure) for animal and patient studies were based on echocardiographic assessments, hemodynamic measurements, or measurements of myocardial fibrosis.



Figure 9: Flowchart summary of the search for and selection of the human studies. IHF = ischemic heart failure, T2DM = type diabetes mellitus, CAD = coronary artery disease



Figure 10: Flowchart summary of the search for and selection of the animal studies. DCM = diabetic cardiomyopathy, STZ = streptozotocin

5.4 Results

5.4.1 Quality Control of Included Studies

All patient studies consisted of clinical trials, of which nine were randomised (RCT) and four were non-randomized (non-RCT). In all of them exercise therapy was used as an intervention for T2DM patients. Five out of nine RCTs displayed a score of≥6 for PEDro and were therefore considered as "good quality." The lack of blinding of subjects and therapists were the main limitations. The use of control groups was only applied in the RCTs. In all animal studies, exercise therapy was used to treat DCM in rats or mice models of T2DM. According to the Kilkenny et al. table, all animal studies were considered to be "good quality" (480).

5.4.2 Human studies

5.4.2.1 Diastolic Function

As shown in Table 5, primary read-out parameters and manner of comparison (within- or between-group analyses) differed substantially between studies. In order to specifically investigate the isolated effect of exercise training, only studies reporting between-group analyses are discussed; other comparisons can be found in Table 5. Between-group analyses were reported for the following diastolic parameters: early diastolic filling E (n=3 out of four studies), atrial filling (A) (n=1out of two studies), LV filling pressure (E/e') (n=3 out of five studies), E/A (n=3out of five studies), early diastolic tissue velocity (e') (n=3 out of four studies), and deceleration time (Dt) (n=2 out of three studies). Exercise training was not able to exert superior effects on E or A compared with the control group or alternative exercise training (e.g., high-intensity interval training (HIIT) compared with moderate intensity training (MIT)) (482-484). However, it should be noted that one study reported an increase in E after HIIT training, which did not occur in the MIT group (482). Results for E/A are inconsistent. Two studies reported a between-group interaction; however, one of these studies reported an increase in E/A in the exercise group (485), whereas the other study reported an increase in the control group (484). Comparable to the effect on E, Hollekim-Strand et al. (482) reported an increase for E/A after HIIT training, which was not the case for MIT training. Further, two studies reported superior effects of exercise training in

terms of increases in e' (482, 485), although another study failed to confirm this (431). Again, HIIT seemed to be superior compared to MIT (482). Lastly, one study reported superior effects of exercise training with respect to reductions in E/e' and Dt (485), although other studies failed to confirm these effects (482, 484). Again, Hollekim-Strand et al. (482) reported reductions in E/e' in the HIIT group and not in the MIT group. Overall, these studies indicate that endurance (and/or resistance) exercise training can to a certain extent ameliorate or at least positively influence different aspects (E/A, E/e', e', Dt) of diastolic function. The influence of type and modality of exercise intervention remains unclear. Although the study by Hollekim-Strand et al. (482) justifies the current interest in HIIT training.

Table 5: Summary of studies in humans included in the review, showing training type and intensity, and effects on diastolic and systolic function and left ventricle morphology

	Training			Method	Effect on cardiac function			
Study	Type of training	Intensity	Duration and frequency	Outcome	Diastolic function	Systolic function	<i>LV structure and other measurements</i>	
Brassard et al. (2008)	Endurance exercise training Cycling	60-70% VO2max	12 weeks (3/week)	TTE	Normalisation of LVDD → E/A → A wave ↔ Dt, E wave	↔ LVEF	 ↔ LV dimensions, LV mass, LA volume, posterior wall thickness ↗ IVRT (control group) 	
Cassidy et al. (2016)	HIIT Cycling	Borg Rating of Perceived Exertion (16-17)	12 weeks (3/week)	Cardiac MRI	 ✓ Early filling rate, early diastolic filling rate ↔ Late diastolic filling rate Significant between-group 	 ✓ SV and LVEF ↔ Cardiac output and longitudinal shortening Significant between-group comparisons of changes: 	 > LV wall mass, EDV ↔ ESV > Wall thickness during systole and diastole (control group) Significant between-group 	

					comparisons of changes: → Early filling rate (control group < exercise group)	✓ SV and LVEF (control group < exercise group)	comparisons of changes: → LV wall mass, EDV (control group < exercise group)
Cugusi et al. (2014)	Endurance exercise training Aquatic exercises	50-75% VO2max	12 weeks (3/week)	TTE	∖s E/e′	↔ LVEF, S wave, strain rate	\leftrightarrow EDV and ESV
Hollekim- Strand et al. (2016)	HIIT vs. MIT HIIT: walking/ru nning MIT: home- based exercise	HIIT: 90- 95% HRmax MIT: guidelines	12 weeks (3/week)	TTE			 > Time to peak basal UTR, time to peak apical UTR and time to peak UTR (both groups) > Apical UTR (MIT group) ↔ Peak apical and basal rotation, basal twist and untwist rate (TR and UTR), apical TR, peak twist, peak TR and UTR

							Significant between-group comparisons of changes: See Electronic Supplementary Table 2.
Hollekim- Strand et al. (2014)	HIIT vs. MIT Home- based exercise	HIIT: 90- 95% HRmax MIT: unknown	12 weeks (3/week)	TTE	 ✓ e' (both groups) ✓ E, E/A ↔ E/e' Significant between-group comparisons of changes: ✓ e' (HIIT group > MIT group) 	 ✓ S wave ✓ Global strain rate Significant between-group comparisons of changes: ✓ S wave (HIIT group > MIT group) ✓ Global strain rate (HIIT group > MIT group) 	

Hordern et al. (2009)	Endurance exercise training Gym sessions and home- based exercise	Moderate (Borg scale 12- 13)	1 year (3/week)	TTE	↗ e' (both groups)	 ✓ S wave, myocardial strain* (both groups) ↔ LVEF and myocardial strain rate 	↔ LV mass, LV mass index, LV dimensions
Howorka et al. (1997)	Endurance exercise training Cycling	60-70% HRmax	12 weeks (2/week)	TTE	Improvements in relaxation disturbances		↔ Intraventricular wall thickness and LVEDD
Jonker et al. (2013)	Endurance/ resistance exercise training Individualiz ed training program	Moderate intensity	24 weeks (4/week)	MRI, magnetic resonanc e spectrosc opy	↔ E/A and E/e'	↔ LVEF, SV and cardiac index	 ↔ LV mass, LV mass index and LV dimensions (EDV and ESV) ↔ Epicardial fat and myocardial triglycerides content > Pericardial fat

Loimaala et al. (2007)	Endurance/ resistance exercise training Running/w alking	Running/ walking: 65-75% VO2max Resistanc e exercise: 70-80% MVC	12 months (2/week)	TTE	 ↔ E, A, mean peak mitral annular early diastolic velocity and mean peak mitral annular late diastolic velocity 	 ↔ Mean peak mitral annular systolic velocity 	
Sacre et al. (2014)	Endurance/ resistance training Gym sessions and home- based exercise	Moderate -vigorous	24 weeks (2/week)	TTE	 ➢ E/A (control group) ➢ e' (both groups) ↔ Dt ➢ E/e' Significant between-group comparisons of changes: ➢ E/A (control group > exercise group) 	 ✓ Strain* and strain rate* (both groups) ↔ S wave and LVEF 	↔ LV mass index

Schmidt et al.	Endurance exercise	Unknown	24 weeks (2/week)	TTE	\nearrow E/A, E' and e'	↗ TAPSE	↗ LVEDD, EDV and LV mass index
(2013)	Soccer training		(2) week)		 > Dt, E/e' ↔ A' Significant between-group comparisons of changes: ↗ E/A, E' and e' (control group < exercise group) > E/e' (control group < exercise group) 	 ✓ Global strain and LV displacement (both groups) ↔ LVEF, S wave Significant between-group comparisons of changes: ✓ TAPSE (control group < exercise group) ✓ Global strain and LV displacement (control group > exercise group) 	Significant between-group comparisons of changes: → LVEDD, EDV and LV mass index (control group < exercise group)
Schrauwe n- Hinderlin g et al. (2011)	Endurance/ resistance exercise training	55% of predeter mined maximal workload	12 weeks (3/week)	MRI, magnetic resonanc e spectrosc opy		 LVEF, cardiac index, cardiac output 	 > ESV ↔ EDV and cardiac lipid content

	Unknown	(aerobic exercise) 55-75% of MVC (resistanc e exercise)				
Schultz et al. (2011)	Endurance/ resistance exercise training Gym sessions and home- based exercise	Moderate intensity (Borg scale 12- 13)	12 months (4 weeks: 2x/week, thereafter: home- based)	TTE		↔ LV mass index, LV RWT ratio

Changes refer to exercise group, unless stated otherwise A atrial mitral inflow velocity, A' peak late diastolic velocity measured at the annulus, Dt deceleration time, E early mitral inflow velocity, E' peak early diastolic velocity measured at the mitral annulus, e' peak early diastolic tissue Doppler velocity, E/e' left ventricle filling pressure, E/A ratio of early (E) and atrial (A) inflow velocity, EDV end-diastolic volume, ESV end-systolic volume, HIIT High-intensity interval training, HRmax maximal heart rate, LV left ventricle, LVDD left-ventricular diastolic dysfunction, LVEDD LV end-diastolic diameter, LVEF left ventricular ejection fraction, IVRT Isovolumic relaxation time, MIT moderate-intensity training, MR magnetic resonance, MRI magnetic resonance imaging, MVC maximum voluntary contraction, RWT relative wall thickness, S wave systolic tissue velocity, SV stroke volume, TAPSE tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion, TR twist rate, TTE transthoracic echocardiography, UTR untwist rate, VO2max maximal oxygen uptake, \nearrow increase, \searrow decrease, \leftrightarrow no changes *:Strain rate analyses positively expressed

5.4.2.2 Systolic Function

Between-group analyses were reported for the following parameters: left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) (n=3 out of seven studies), strain rate (n=4out of five studies), stroke volume (n=1 out of one study), cardiac output (n=1out of one study), systolic tissue velocity (n=5 out of six studies), and tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion (TAPSE) (n=1 out of one study). HIIT training was able to improve LVEF and SV compared to the control group (427), although endurance exercise-training studies failed to exert these effects on LVEF (484, 485). Regarding strain rate and systolic velocity, only one study reported improvements with HIIT training compared to MIT training (482), whereas these effects were not confirmed in the study by Cassidy et al (427). The same applies to endurance exercise-training studies, as only the study by Schmidt et al. (485) reported improvements in strain rate compared to the control group, whereas this could not be confirmed in other studies (431, 483, 484). Schmidt et al. (485) also reported superior effects on TAPSE compared to the control group (485). However, it is worth noting that LVEF was normal at baseline in the majority of the studies, which may suggest that LVEF was not suitable as a surrogate for impaired systolic cardiac function. Lastly, one study reporting twist (systolic function) and untwist (diastolic function) rates found contradictory results, as different results were observed in regional domains (486). Overall, only three studies indicated a superior effect on one of the systolic parameters. Given these heterogeneous results, it is objectively impossible to draw unambiguous conclusions regarding the effect and the type of exercise training on systolic function, even if the general perception of exercise training and systolic function is different

5.4.2.3 LV Dimensions and Structure

Between-group analyses were reported for the following parameters: LV mass (n=2 out of four studies), LV mass index (n=3 out of four studies), LV dimensions (n=1 out of three studies), end-diastolic volume (EDV) (n=2 out of five studies), end-systolic volume (ESV) (n=1 out of four studies), LV end-diastolic diameter (LVEDD) (n=1 out of one study). HIIT training superiorly increased LV mass (427) whereas MIT was not able to exert this effect (431). For LV mass index, only one

study reported a superior effect of exercise training (485). Regarding EDV, both endurance training and HIIT training were able to increase this parameter (427, 485). However, exercise training was not able to exert superior effects on ESV or LV dimensions (427, 431).

5.4.3 Animal Studies

As shown in Table 6, the majority of animal studies were performed in genetically modified mice or rats mimicking T2DM (6/8), and only one study used female mice.

5.4.3.1 Diastolic Function

Despite the fact that T2DM is characterised by important changes in cardiac diastolic function, only 3/8 studies specifically examined the effect of exercise intervention on cardiac diastolic parameters (Table 6). In these studies, exercise intervention was able to improve cardiac diastolic function, as assessed by hemodynamic parameters (e.g., -dP/dt) (447, 487) and time to 50% relengthening (488). In the articles included, only the studies of Hafstad et al. and Boardman et al. compared the effect of exercise type on diastolic function (447, 487). In their studies, MIT and HIIT were equally effective in improving diastolic function.

5.4.3.2 Systolic Function

Changes in systolic function as a result of exercise intervention were assessed in 7/8 studies. All studies reported improved systolic function, by examining either LVEF, fractional shortening (FS), or arterial pressure after exercise training (447, 487-492). Both MIT and HIIT training appeared to be equally effective in improving systolic function.

5.4.3.3 Cardiac Remodelling

Interstitial fibrosis is also a common feature observed in the diabetic heart and is partially responsible for the impaired diastolic function. In all studies examining collagen content (4/8 studies), exercise intervention was able to reduce myocardial fibrosis (447, 489-491). However, only MIT, but not HIIT, was able to exert such an effect in the study by Hafstad et al (447). Regarding LV hypertrophy,

one study reported a less pronounced hypertrophy after exercise training (493) and another decreased cell volume after exercise intervention (488), while in the studies by Hafstad et al. (447) and Boardman et al. (487) only HIIT was able to induce physiological hypertrophy.

Table 6: Summary of studies in animals included in the review, showing training type and intensity, and effects on diastolic and systolic function and left ventricle morphology

Study	Animal	Training		Outcome	Effect on cardiac function			
	model				assessment			
		Туре	Intensity	Duration	method	Diastolic	Systolic	Cardiac
						function	function	remodelling
Ko et al.	Male OLETF	Resistance	Moderate	12	Echocardiography	/	↗ Systolic	/
(2018)	rats (28	exercise					function	
	weeks)	(ladder						
		climbing)						
Boardman	Male	Running	High and	l 10 or 3	Hemodynamic	Diastolic	⊅ Systolic	↗ Hypertrophy in
et al.	C57BL/6J		moderate		measurements	function	function	НІІТ
(2017)	mice +							
	high-fat							
	diet							
Veeranki et	Male db/db	Running	Low to	5	Echocardiographic	/	⊅ FS	∖ Fibrosis
al.	mice		moderate		analyses, blood		⊅ EF	
(2016)					pressure recording,		⊅ SV	
					Sirius Red staining		Mean	
							arterial	
							pressure	

Wang et al.	Male db/db	Running	Moderate	15	Echocardiographic	/	⊅ EF	∖ Fibrosis
(2015)	mice				analyses, Masson's		⊅ FS	
					trichrome staining			
Kesherwan	Female	Swimming	Low	8	Echocardiographic	/	↗ %EF	∖ Fibrosis
i et al.	C57BL/6J				analyses, Masson's		↗ %FS	
(2015)	+ high-fat				trichrome staining			
	diet							
Hafstad et	DIO mice,	Running	High and	8 to 10	Hemodynamic		Systolic	↘ Fibrosis in MIT
al.	high-fat		moderate		measurements,	diastolic	function	↗ Hypertrophy in
(2013)	diet				Sirius Red staining	function		HIIT
	initially,							
	after 9							
	weeks							
	Western							
	diet							
VanHoose	Male	Running	Low to	7	Electrocardiogram	/	/	↘ Hypertrophy
et al.	Zucker		moderate					
(2010)	Diabetic							
	Fatty rats							
Stolen et	Male db/db	Interval	High	13	Echocardiographic	↘ Time to 50%	⊅ SV	/
al.	mice	running			analyses	relengthening	⊅ FS	
(2009)								
-------------	-----------------	------------------	---------------	-----------------	---------------------	---------------------	-------------	---------------
OLETF Ot	suka Long-Eva	ans Tokushima	Fatty, db	diabetes, DIC	diet-induced obesi	y, FS fractional	shortening,	, EF ejection
fraction, S	SV stroke volur	ne, HIIT high-ir	ntensity inte	erval training,	MIT moderate intens	ity training, / not	applicable,	↗ increased,

↘ decreased

5.5 Discussion

According to this systematic literature review, exercise training elicits significant improvements in diastolic function in T2DM with or without DCM and a reduction in myocardial fibrosis, but not necessarily improvements in systolic function. The impact of different exercise modalities on these outcomes remains uncertain.

5.5.1 Exercise Improves Cardiac Function

In both T2DM patients and animal models for T2DM with or without DCM, cardiac function improves significantly following exercise intervention. Effective improvements were observed in diastolic function after only 12 (human studies) and 3 (animal studies) weeks of exercise training (mainly endurance). These data thus indicate that significant improvements in diastolic function can be achieved by exercise training in a relatively short timeframe of 12 weeks in T2DM patients. However, it should be noted that studies examining the effects of shorter-term exercise interventions (<12 weeks) in the T2DM population have not thus far been performed. Targeting diastolic function with exercise intervention is important as impaired diastolic function is an early marker of DCM, and can eventually lead to heart failure.

Systolic function in animal models shows substantial improvements after just 3 weeks of exercise training associated with a decrease in myocardial collagen deposition (after 5 weeks). Conversely, effects of exercise on systolic function in T2DM patients remain controversial. An explanation for this apparent discrepancy could possibly rely on the fact that LVEF was preserved in the T2DM patient groups included in this review. It is therefore likely that the potential positive effects of exercise intervention on systolic function were underestimated and/or could not be detected in the patient studies due to non-impaired LVEF at baseline. The impact of exercise intervention thus remains to be studied in T2DM patients with impaired systolic function.

Currently, it is recommended that diabetes patients perform exercise at least 150 min/week at moderate to vigorous intensity and for at least 3 days/week (266, 363). Regarding HIIT, the American Diabetes Association (ADA) states that vigorous-intensity or interval training for at least 75 min/week may be sufficient

for younger adults and more physically fit individuals. For four out of the 13 studies, it was doubtful whether the prescribed exercise training volume was sufficient to comply with current guidelines (427, 483, 485, 494). However, the outcomes from these studies seemed comparable with those of the other studies. Nevertheless, these are guidelines aiming to specifically improve glycemic control, rather than cardiac function. For a patient with diabetes and impaired cardiac function, the European Association of Preventive Cardiology Exercise Prescription in Everyday Practice and Rehabilitative Training (EXPERT) tool could be useful (495). To improve cardiac function and glycemic control, the EXPERT tool recommends daily activity of at least 30 min/session at moderate intensity for at least 8 weeks. Therefore, it appears to be appropriate to use the ADA recommendations.

5.5.2 Type of Exercise Does not Seem to Affect Outcome

Surprisingly, the variance in applied training modalities was small and different parameters were used to describe cardiac function/structure, thus impeding the detection of a clear relation between exercise modalities and changes in cardiac function/structure. Recently, the impact of HIIT has attracted greater interest in cardiovascular rehabilitation. Epidemiological and experimental data suggest that HIIT might provide additional benefits and be more potent than the classical MIT modality (378). In healthy subjects, sparse data suggest that the potential of HIIT in comparison to MIT to improve cardiac function is most likely attributable to a higher mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation and metabolism (379). HIIT, but not MIT, also lowers systolic blood pressure (SBP), and reduces HbA1C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDLC), malondialdehyde (MDA) levels, nitric oxide (NO), and von Willebrand factor (vWF) in T2DM patients (384). Overall, HIIT seems superior in improving vascular functions compared with MIT. In animal studies, three studies focused on HIIT, while all others examined MIT. We observed no difference between diastolic and systolic improvements after both exercise modalities. However, only MIT and not HIIT was able to reduce cardiac fibrosis, while only HIIT induced physiological hypertrophy. Physiological hypertrophy is a result of developmental growth and exercise with normal cardiac structure without dilated cardiomyopathy, while in diabetes pathological hypertrophy can occur through pathological stimuli (pressure or volume overload) creating a compensating response (443, 496). For clinical studies, three studies investigated the effect of HIIT in diabetic patients. Two of these studies investigated mitral inflow pattern as a marker of diastolic function and reported beneficial results. However, only one study used echocardiography, whereas the other used magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), further complicating the comparison with the MIT studies and making it unable to draw firm conclusions. In addition to exercise mode, exercise frequency (from two up to four sessions/week) and applied continuous intensity [50–75% of maximal oxygen uptake (VO2max)] were comparable between studies and did not display different beneficial patterns. Finally, it is important to mention that beneficial changes in cardiac function (mainly diastolic) were already noticed after a relatively short exercise intervention (12 weeks) in most studies (Table 5). These data may thus contradict the widely held belief that prolonged exercise interventions are mandatory to enhance cardiac function.

5.5.3 Different Underlying Mechanisms of Exercise Training Modalities in T2DM with DCM Remain Unclear

Underlying mechanisms involved in T2DM and DCM from animal studies and the potential beneficial effects of exercise intervention are shown in Fig. 11. Altered contractile and electrophysiological cardiomyocyte function combined with an increased fibrosis are known to contribute to impaired cardiac function in T2DM, especially in the presence of inflammation, hyperglycemia, hyperinsulinemia, and elevated blood free fatty acid (FFA) concentrations (94). Although HbA_{1C} decreased significantly (up to 0.7%) after exercise intervention in most human studies, this was not always accompanied by decreased fasting blood glucose concentrations. In addition, exercise training intervention did not consistently modulate blood insulin concentrations or indicators of insulin resistance (431, 483, 497). However, diastolic function was enhanced. As a result, it appears that improvements in blood glucose and insulin concentrations are not prerequisites to enhancement of cardiac function in T2DM patients, but probably other blood parameters may be (such as FFAs or inflammatory factors). This is further suggested in animal studies where blood glucose concentrations do not consistently improve after exercise intervention, despite improvements in cardiac function (447, 488-490). Indeed, as shown in the studies by Stolen et al. (488), Ko et al. (492), and Hafstad et al. (447), exercise did reduce FFAs and triglycerides in the plasma of diabetic animals (487). In addition, the balance between inflammation markers, i.e., interleukin 10 (IL-10) and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-a), was positively affected after exercise in heart tissue itself (489). Taken together, data indicate that changes in lipids rather than changes in glucose levels play a role in the improved cardiac function. However, the importance of improved inflammation parameters in enhancing cardiac function in T2DM with or without DCM and the underlying mechanisms involved remain to be determined. It is well described that an excess of lipid accumulation in cardiac tissue results in cardiac lipotoxicity, leading to myocyte apoptosis and contractile dysfunction (498, 499). Alterations in the lipid metabolism at the cardiac level contribute to the pathogenesis of diabetic cardiomyopathy by increasing myocardial triacylglycerol (TAG) and ceramide content (500, 501).

Extracellular remodelling and reduced fibrosis are known to be associated with improved cardiac function (459, 502). All studies that were included showed a reduction of fibrotic tissue in the heart, together with less apoptosis after exercise intervention. However, whether exercise modality and duration play differential roles in the beneficial remodelling remains unclear.

In addition, adequate mitochondrial function to ensure proper metabolism is mandatory to induce improved cardiac function, given the high energetic demand of the heart. In that context, it is well known that mitochondrial function is decreased in DCM (103). Energy availability and demand in the diabetic heart are imbalanced, resulting in a heart with reduced working capacity. In the studies included, exercise training was able to restore impairments in mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) transcription and replication and increase mtDNA. Dynamin-related protein 1 (Drp-1) levels were normalised after exercise, balancing the excessive mitochondrial fission in DCM and repairing contractile defects in the myocytes. In addition, mitochondrial transmembrane depolarisation improved mitochondrial cytochrome c levels contributing to improved myocyte function, and exercise also reduced myocardial reactive oxygen species (ROS) content and increased mitochondrial superoxide dismutase (SOD), further emphasizing the beneficial effect of exercise on mitochondrial function (447, 492). After exercise intervention, mitochondrial respiratory capacity and efficiency will be improved, resulting in enhanced cardiac function due to improved ATP synthesis and energy handling (107).

Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-a (PGC-1a) plays a key role in the regulation of myocardial energy metabolism and is important in mitochondrial biogenesis. After diabetic animals were subjected to exercise, messenger RNA (mRNA) and protein levels of PGC-1a and other components of the pathway were upregulated, while inhibition of Akt phosphorylation in the heart was reversed (491, 492). However, another study showed no difference between diabetic animals and wildtype animals in PGC-1a (488). Finally, Hafstad et al. showed an increased myocardial glucose oxidation metabolism and lower fatty acid oxidation rates, resulting in a mild change in substrate utilisation after exercise (447). The altered substrate metabolism was confirmed by Ko et al., where exercise upregulated protein expression levels of glucose transporter type 4 (GLUT4), while peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha (PPARa) levels were lowered (492). Changes in [Ca2+] homeostasis are disrupted in DCM animals and were reversed after exercise (107). Indeed, diastolic and systolic Ca2+ levels were normalised with HIIT training (488). These changes were associated with improved SR Ca2+ load, sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) Ca2+ leak, phospholamban (PLB) phosphorylation, sarcoplasmic/endoplasmic reticulum Ca(2+) ATPase 2a (SERCA2a), and sodium-calcium exchanger (NCX) protein expression and function, all contributing to improved cardiomyocyte function with exercise (488). However, changes in SERCA2a or Ryr2 mRNA expression were not confirmed by others (447).



Figure 11: Exercise affects both cardiomyocyte function itself and circulating factors in DCM. The circulatory concentrations in pro-inflammatory cytokines, as well as FFAs, decrease during exercise intervention, which relates to less fibrotic tissue in the heart. Balance in substrate metabolism between FFA and glucose oxidation is restored after exercise intervention. Mitochondrial function is improved, with less mitochondrial fission and less oxidative stress. Calcium handling in the cardiomyocyte is improved and communication between cells through increased gap junctions is significantly altered after exercise intervention. DCM diabetic cardiomyopathy, FFAs free fatty acids, TNF-a tumor necrosis factor alpha, PLB phospholamban, SERCA sarcoplasmic/endoplasmic reticulum Ca (2+) ATPase 2a, SR sarcoplasmic reticulum, NCX sodium-calcium exchanger, GLUT-4 glucose transporter type 4, PGC-a peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1a, Drp-1 dynamin-related protein 1, mtDNA mitochondrial DNA, SOD superoxide dismutase, Cyt-c cytochrome-c, ROS reactive oxygen species, IL-10 interleukin-10, P phosphorylated, ? No disclosure about effect between groups

5.5.4 Limitations

The main limitation of our review was that conducting a meta-analysis was very difficult, mostly due to the substantial heterogeneity of outcome parameters, the different techniques/methods used (e.g., some researchers included both septal and lateral early diastolic velocity to calculate E/e', whereas others used only one of these) and the lack of explanation in the methodology sections; these

considerations impeded appropriate comparisons and the performance of a metaanalysis. This emphasises the need for the standardised use of echocardiographic parameters as per official guidelines (e.g., guidelines for the evaluation of diastolic dysfunction (503) or speckle tracking echocardiography for deformation imaging (504)) and detailed explanations of methodologies, which would enable appropriate comparisons to be made. In addition, as very few human studies have explored the molecular pathways leading to improvements in cardiac function/structure, conclusions on underlying mechanisms involved are solely based on results obtained from animal studies. Therefore, translation of the observed mechanisms in the clinical context remains speculative. Finally, in patient studies, an accurate PEDro score could only be assessed in 9/13 studies due to study design. Quality scores were lower than expected (due to lack of blinding subjects, therapist administering the exercise therapy, and assessors who evaluated the tests). Indeed, 4/9 studies had a score < 6 and were considered "poor guality" studies. However, the outcomes for low- and high-guality studies were similar.

5.6 Conclusion

Our systematic literature review shows that exercise intervention in patients with T2DM results not only in improved metabolic parameters but also in molecular adaptations Effect of Exercise Intervention in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (e.g., extracellular remodelling and reductions in fibrosis) that enhance cardiac function in most cases. More specifically, exercise training ameliorates (or at least positively influences) different aspects (E/A, E/e', e', Dt) of diastolic function and leads to beneficial remodelling in T2DM and DCM animal models. However, exercise training is not necessarily accompanied by improvements in systolic function and LV structure, and more extensive studies are therefore required to elucidate these issues, particularly in terms of unravelling the roles of specific types of exercise. Nevertheless, our review strongly suggests that exercise training should be a cornerstone in the treatment of T2DM, not only to improve glycemic control but also to specifically enhance cardiac function.

6

Is high-intensity interval training as efficient as moderate intensity training in reversing the adverse effects of diabetic cardiomyopathy?

Based on:

Is high-intensity interval training as efficient as moderate intensity training in reversing the adverse effects of diabetic cardiomyopathy? <u>Verboven M¹</u>, Colson D¹, Cuypers A¹, Evens L¹, Deluyker D¹, Lambrichts I¹, Eijnde BO¹, Hansen D^{1, 2}, Bito V¹ In preparation

Biomedical Research Institute, Hasselt University, Diepenbeek, Belgium
Heart Centre Hasselt, Jessa hospital, Stadsomvaart 11, 3500, Hasselt, Belgium

6.1 Abstract

<u>Introduction</u>: Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM) is affecting more than 400 million people worldwide and leads to diabetic cardiomyopathy. Exercise intervention is a low cost and safe approach in reducing the adverse effects of diabetic cardiomyopathy. Moderate intensity training (MIT) has been so far the most preferred exercise therapy in the clinic, however high-intensity interval training (HIIT) is gaining interest as a potentially more efficient therapy. In this study, we examined the effect of both training modalities on the cardiac function in a rat model of T2DM.

<u>Methods</u>: Rats were randomly assigned into control (chow diet, N=10) or high sugar diet (Western diet, N=22) for 18 weeks to induce T2DM. After 18 weeks, diabetic rats were assigned to the 3 different training modalities, i.e. sedentary (SED, N=8), MIT (N=7) or HIIT (N=7) for 12 additional weeks. Animals undergoing chow diet were kept sedentary and used as controls. Blood samples, echocardiography and hemodynamic measurements were evaluated to assess cardiac function and lipid profile. Inflammation, fibrosis and other mechanisms were measured from LV tissue homogenates and tissue sections respectively.

<u>Results:</u> After 30 weeks, diabetic animals displayed hypertrophy and altered lipid homeostasis. Both exercise modalities were able to significantly improve all these parameters. However, only HIIT was capable to normalise circulating free fatty acid levels. End-diastolic pressure was increased in sedentary diabetic animals, but normalised after exercise training. In addition, both training modalities were able to reduce the increased collagen deposition observed in diabetic animals, as well as pathological LV wall hypertrophy. Finally, fractional shortening and inflammatory status of the cardiac tissue were improved only with MIT.

<u>Conclusion</u>: Despite very different training modalities, both exercise interventions reversed to the same extent adverse remodelling in diabetic cardiomyopathy. MIT seems however to additionally reduce cardiac inflammation.

6.2 Introduction

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a disease on the rise, already affecting > 420 million individuals worldwide, with 90% type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) patients. Predicting models estimate that in 2040, these numbers could rise to > 640 million diabetic patients worldwide (3). Globally, DM is ranked as seventh cause of death since 2016 according to the World Health Organization (WHO) (505), making it one of the largest health care challenges of the 21st century. In diabetic patients, the major cause of mortality and morbidity are cardiovascular diseases (109). Diastolic dysfunction, together with increased fibrosis and left ventricle hypertrophy, a hallmark of diabetic cardiomyopathy (DCM), is present in 19.6 % to 54.4 % of the T2DM patients (395, 472). DCM is defined as diabetes-associated structural and functional changes in the myocardium, not directly attributable to other confounding factors such as coronary artery disease or hypertension (91). It is characterised by extracellular and cardiomyocyte remodelling, resulting in impaired cardiac output, diastolic and systolic function (94). Despite a lot of progress in understanding its aetiology during the last few decades, molecular mechanisms remain incompletely understood (95). Risk factors in the development of T2DM and DCM are a sedentary lifestyle, a lack of physical activity and an unhealthy diet (417). Exercise intervention is an effective, low-cost and safe strategy for the prevention and treatment of cardiovascular diseases (CVD). Exercise decreases the risk of developing T2DM and obesity. Moreover, an active lifestyle and a healthy diet affects both cardiovascular health and metabolic control. While obesity and hypertension occur frequently in T2DM patients and are well-known risk factors, studies have shown that cardiorespiratory fitness is a more powerful predictor of CVD. Prevention of CVD in T2DM related to exercise is thought to be attributed to improved vascular function and hereby related tissue perfusion.

The beneficial effects of moderate intensity training (MIT) in normal as well as in pathological situations are often described. However, high-intensity interval training (HIIT) has gained much attention recently. HIIT is characterised by session consisting of successive bouts of short duration at a relative high-intensity workload, alternated with small periods of active rest. Epidemiological and experimental data suggest that HIIT might provide additional benefits and be

more potent than the classical MIT modality. There is growing evidence showing that the beneficial effects of HIIT over MIT in both healthy and chronic diseased populations. In healthy adults, HIIT provides greater improvements in cardiorespiratory fitness compared with MIT (382, 383). Research in patients with coronary heart disease and cardio-metabolic disorders confirmed these findings (506, 507). In T2DM, patients are showing a good adherence to dietetic and pharmacologic interventions, but not to exercise (385, 508). This is mostly due to barriers of physical activity, such as lack of time and a difficulty to participate in exercise (375, 509). In that context, HIIT might be more interesting as a training modality of short duration in the diabetic population to encourage physical activity and thus reduce their chances of chronic complications (374). Previous studies reported that HIIT improves patient adherence to physical activity (510, 511), glycemic control (512, 513) and mitochondrial function (514).

In this study, we compared the effects of two exercise modalities, namely HIIT and MIT, on cardiac function in a rat model of DCM and identified the different underlying mechanisms.

6.3 Methods

This investigation conforms to the EU directive 2010/63/EU for animal experiments and was approved by a local ethical committee (Ethical Committee for Animal Experiments, UHasselt, Diepenbeek, Belgium). All experiments and methods were performed according the relevant guidelines.

6.3.1 Experimental set-up

Thirty-two male Sprague-Dawley rats (Charles River Laboratories, L'Arbresle, France), weighing 200-225 g were used throughout the study. Rats were randomly assigned in two experimental groups by using a randomisation tool (Excel). Group 1 (n=10) received a normal rodent diet (ENVIGO, The Netherlands, Control diet) throughout the full experiment and served as control group. Group 2 (n=22) was fed a high-sugar and high-fat diet (Western diet) as described previously by our group (515). Animals were housed per 3 in a cage, were maintained in a controlled environmental condition and had water and food available *ad libitum*. Every morning, rats were provided freshly prepared food

(Western or control diet). After 18 weeks of diet, animals of group 2 were randomly divided to one of the three experimental training groups during 12 additional weeks, as described previously by our research group (516). Group 2A (n=8) did not undergo exercise training throughout the study. Group 2B (n=7) was subjected to moderate intensity training (MIT), consisting in running on a treadmill, 18m/min, 5° inclination, 5 days/week, time-depending on energy expenditure of the comparable modality (High-Intensity Interval Training; HIIT). Group 2C underwent 10 bouts of high-intensity treadmill running (18m/min, 30° inclination), separated by one minute of active rest, 5 days/week (HIIT). Sample size was calculated by a power analysis based on previous results in our research group (516).

The intensity of exercise training was assessed by measuring blood lactate levels directly after exercise with an Analox apparatus (Analis, Namur, Belgium). Levels >4 mmol/l lactate were considered HIIT (439, 516). Training modalities were adjusted to lead to an equal energy expenditure between interventions by calculating the net caloric cost (kcal/min) as previously described (516). Blood samples, echocardiographic measurements and an oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) were executed at baseline, 18 weeks and 30 weeks after the start of the diet. Hemodynamic measurements were performed at sacrifice, 30 weeks after start of the experiment.

6.3.2 Conventional echocardiographic measurements

Prior to sacrifice, transthoracic echocardiography was performed under 2% isoflurane in all animals with a Vivid I ultrasound machine (GE Vingmed Ultrasound) using a 10 MHz linear array transducer. The protocol used is as described previously (515). Briefly, a standard parasternal long axis image and short axis views at the mid-ventricular level were obtained at a temporal resolution of approximately 200 frames per second. Conventional echocardiographic parameters (e.g. LV end-diastolic diameter (LVEDD), LV endsystolic diameter (LVESD), posterior wall thicknesses (PWT) and anterior wall thicknesses (AWT)) were obtained from the B-mode images at midpapillary level in the parasternal short-axis view. End-systolic volumes (ESV) and end-diastolic volumes (EDV) were calculated by π *DM2*B/6, where DM indicates the systolic/diastolic diameter of the ventricle in mid-ventricular short-axis view and

B is LV length on parasternal long-axis image. Subsequently, ejection fraction (EF) was measured as (EDV-ESV)/EDV, and expressed in %.

6.3.3 Hemodynamic measurements

Pressure measurements were performed in all animals with the use of an SPR-320 MikroTip high-fidelity pressure transducer (Millar Inc) that was advanced into the left ventricle via the right carotid artery, as described previously (515). The pressure catheter (2F) was connected to a quad-bridge amplifier and PowerLab 26T module (AD Instruments, United Kingdom) was used to transfer the data to LabChart v7.3.7 software (AD Instruments, United Kingdom).

6.3.4 Oral glucose tolerance test and insulin resistance assessment

Glucose tolerance was assessed at baseline, 18 weeks and 30 weeks after the start of the diet, with a 1 h OGTT as previously described (404, 515). After an overnight fasting, glucose (2 g/kg) was administered via gastric gavage. Prior to glucose administration, blood glucose concentration was determined from capillary tail blood collection with Analox GM7 (Analis SA, Namur, Belgium), and repeated 15, 30 and 60, minutes after administration. Glucose response was expressed as total area under the curve (AUC). At baseline and after 60', serum insulin concentrations were measured by electrochemiluminescence (Meso Scale, Gaithersburg, MD) (515).

6.3.5 Lipid profile determination

Triglycerides, total cholesterol and HDL cholesterol (HDLC) were determined in the Ziekenhuis Oost-Limburg (Genk, Belgium) using Roche/Hitachi cobas c systems (Rotkreuz, Switzerland). Quantification of the NEFA was assessed by colourimetry using a NEFA quantification assay kit (Abcam, ab65341, Cambridge, United Kingdom) (515).

6.3.6 Fibrosis measurement

Transversal sections of 7µm thick were obtained at the midventricular level of the left ventricle and stained using the Sirius Red/Fast Green kit (Chondrex), as previously described (515). Fibrosis was assessed in all animals in 3–4 randomly chosen fields per section. The area of collagen deposition indicated by red staining

was outlined and quantified using an automated image analysis program (Carl Zeiss, AxoVision 4.6, Zaventem, Belgium). Blood vessels were excluded. Total collagen deposition to the global cardiac area was calculated, normalised to total surface area and expressed as %.

6.3.7 Western blot

Protein concentrations of the LV tissues were determined by the BCA protein assay kit (Thermo Fisher, Erembodegem, Belgium). Western blot was performed as previously described (133). Briefly, equal amounts of proteins (15 μ g) were separated on a 12% SDS-PAGE gel with a mini protean 3 electrophoresis system (Bio-rad Laboratories, Temse, Belgium), transferred to a polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membrane and subsequently, blocked for 2h with 5% milk in Tris-buffered solution containing 0.1% Tween-20 (TBS-T) followed by incubation overnight at 4°C in the presence of a NOX2 antibody (1/2500, Abcam, ab31092, Cambridge, United Kingdom), TNF-a antibody (1/1000, goat polyclonal IgG, Santa Cruz, N-19, Heidelberg, Germany) or an PPAR antibody (1/1000, Abcam, ab110411, Cambridge, United Kingdom). Horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies (DAKO, Belgium) at a dilution of 1/2000 were used. Both primary and secondary antibodies were diluted in 5% milk-TBS-T. Visualisation was performed with the enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) technique using the Pierce ECL Plus western Blotting Substrate (Thermo Fisher, Erembodegem, Belgium). Data were normalised to β -actin protein levels.

6.3.8 Citrate synthase activity in cardiac homogenates

Citrate synthase activity was determined in LV cardiac homogenates using a citrate synthase assay kit (CS0720; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) (516).

6.3.9 Statistical analysis

Results were tested for normality prior to statistical tests. Subsequently, one-way ANOVA test was performed combined with a post- hoc test, dependent of normality. If data were normally distributed, Tukey's range test was performed. Elsewise, Dunn's test was used. Analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA). A value of p<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

6.4 Results

6.4.1 Both exercise modalities are equally efficient on general animal characteristics

No differences were observed between animals at baseline. Hallmarks of T2DM were observed in cafeteria-fed animals after 18 weeks by OGTT examining glucose and insulin levels. Echocardiographic analysis showed left ventricle hypertrophy, as already previously described (515). An altered lipid profile was observed in CAF animals compared with CNTL animals (515). After 12 weeks of exercise, clear differences were found between sedentary and exercised diabetic animals. Cafeteria-fed sedentary animals were significantly heavier than their counterparts that did receive normal diet, while both exercise trainings were able to decrease body weight. Both heart weight and heart weight/tibia length were elevated in diabetic animals. Exercise training, independent of the training modality, prevented the increase in these parameters. A cafeteria diet induced an increase in liver weight, which was reduced by HIIT. Lipid profiles were altered in diabetic animals after 30 weeks compared with control animals, with increased triglycerides and free fatty acids (FFAs). Both exercise modalities were capable of reducing circulating triglycerides, however only HIIT was able to normalise circulating FFAs. All data are summarised in table 7.

	CNTL (N = 10)	CAF-SED (N = 8)	CAF-MIT (N = 7)	CAF-HIIT (N = 7)
BW (g)	578 ± 18	766 ± 20*	629 ± 27~	612 ± 19~
HW (g)	1.8 ± 0.1	2.2 ± 0.1*	1.9 ± 0.1	2.0 ± 0.1
HW/BW (mg/g)	3.0 ± 0.1	2.9 ± 0.3	3.1 ± 0.0	3.2 ± 0.1

Table 7: Animal characteristics	30 weeks after the start of the stu	dy
---------------------------------	-------------------------------------	----

HW/TL (g/cm)	40.4 ± 1.8	48.0 ± 1.5*	42.7 ± 1.8	42.6 ± 1.3
Lung weight (g)	1.8 ± 0.1	1.7 ± 0.1	1.8 ± 0.02	1.6 ± 0.1
Liver weight (g)	15.3 ± 0.6	19.4 ± 0.6*	17.7 ± 1.2	15.7 ± 0.8~
Triglycerides (mg/dl)	68.7 ± 7.0	132.1 ± 16.0*	65.3 ± 10.1~	60.4 ± 3.7~
Total cholesterol (mg/dl)	73.5 ± 4.1	69.1 ± 4.0	58.3 ± 3.4	59.4 ± 3.3
HDLC (mg/dl)	63.9 ± 3.8	56.0 ± 3.1	48.7 ± 3.4*	49.3 ± 3.8*
FFAs (µM)	2.4 ± 0.1	$2.9 \pm 0.1^{*}$	2.7 ± 0.1	2.4 ± 0.1~

BW, body weight; HW, heart weight; TL, tibia length; HDLC, high-density-lipoprotein cholesterol; FFA, free fatty acids. Data are shown as mean \pm S.E.M. * denotes p<0.05 vs. CNTL, ~ denotes p<0.05 vs. CAF-SED.

6.4.2 Cardiac function is restored after both exercise modalities in diabetic animals

Echocardiographic analysis revealed an increase in anterior wall thickness (AWT) after 18 weeks in animals subjected to the cafeteria diet (data not shown). Thirty weeks after the start of the experiment, this observation was confirmed by echocardiography in sedentary diabetic animals, where an increased AWT was shown. However, both MIT and HIIT were capable of reversing left ventricle hypertrophy (LVH) in diabetic animals. As shown previously (515), end-diastolic pressure (EDP) was increased after 18 weeks of cafeteria diet, together with an increase in fibrotic tissue in cardiac tissue. After 30 weeks diet and 12 weeks exercise training, end-systolic volume (ESV) was elevated in diabetic non-trained animals but not in trained diabetic animals. Both ejection fraction (EF) and fractional shortening (FS) were reduced in diabetic sedentary animals. Both HIIT

and MIT improved EF, but only MIT was capable of restoring FS. EDP remained significantly increased in diabetic animals after 30 weeks of diet, but not in those who underwent either exercise modality. Data are displayed in table 8.

	CNTL (N = 10)	CAF-SED (N = 8)	CAF-MIT (N = 7)	CAF-HIIT (N = 7)
HR (beats/min)	338 ± 12	334 ± 8	327 ± 19	320 ± 16
AWT (mm)	1.5 ± 0.02	1.8 ± 0.03*	1.6 ± 0.04	1.7 ± 0.05
EDV (µl)	329 ± 27	392 ± 33	413 ± 41	371 ± 31
ESV (µI)	75 ± 10	136 ± 12*	108 ± 18	110 ±10
CO (ml/min)	83 ± 7	86 ± 10	99 ± 12	85 ± 11
EF (%)	78 ± 2	65 ± 2*	75 ± 2	70 ± 3
FS (%)	47 ± 2	35 ± 1***	44 ± 3~	38 ± 2*
LVP (mmHg)	85 ± 2	99 ± 3*	97 ± 3	104 ± 5*
EDP (mmHg)	5.4 ± 1.3	14.1 ± 3.1*	5.6 ± 1.2~	6.7 ± 0.5
Tau (ms)	14 ± 0.95	28 ± 15	15 ± 0.17	35 ± 20

Table 8:	Echocardiog	raphic analyse	s and hemo	dynamic mea	asurements at	sacrifice.

HR, heart rate; AWT, anterior wall thickness; EDV, end-diastolic volume; ESV, end-systolic volume; CO, cardiac output; EF, ejection fraction; FS, fractional shortening; LVP, left ventricle pressure; EDP, end-diastolic pressure. Data are shown as mean \pm S.E.M. * denotes p<0.05 vs. CNTL, ~ denotes p<0.05 vs. CAF-SED.

After 18 weeks of high-sugar and high-fat diet, fasting glucose and insulin were significantly higher in diabetic animals compared with chow-fed animals. Moreover, 60 minutes after administering a glucose solution, insulin levels remained higher in diabetic animals. After 30 weeks of diet, no significant differences were observed between groups. However, a trend (p-value = 0.0591) was observed between control animals and sedentary diabetic animals in 60' post-glucose insulin levels. Furthermore, MIT but not HIIT training tended to reduce the insulin levels (p-value = 0.0773).



Figure 12: The effect of a combined Western diet with exercise intervention on insulin and glucose levels in T2DM. (A) Fasting glucose and insulin levels after 18 weeks of control or Western diet. (B) 60' post-glucose insulin and glucose levels after 18 weeks of diet. (C) Fasting glucose and insulin levels after 30 weeks of diet, combined with exercise intervention (MIT or HIIT). (D) 60' post-glucose insulin and glucose levels after 30 weeks of diet and exercise intervention on different groups. Data are shown as mean \pm S.E.M. in N = 10 in CNTL, N = 8 in CAF-SED, N = 7 in CAF-MIT and N = 7 in CAF-HIIT. * denotes p<0.05 vs. CNTL.

An increased collagen deposition in the heart, one of the hallmarks of DCM, is shown in figure 13. Diabetic animals kept sedentary displayed significantly more fibrotic tissue in the heart than control animals and diabetic exercised animals.

The increased collagen deposition was not associated with changes in LOX levels in this study.



Figure 13: Effect of exercise in interstitial cardiac fibrosis. (A) Total interstitial collagen quantification in the left ventricle of the rat heart. (B) Protein LOX levels normalised to β -actin. Data are shown as mean \pm S.E.M. N = 10 in CNTL, N = 8 in CAF-SED, N = 7 in CAF-MIT and N = 7 in CAF-HIIT * denotes p<0.05.

6.4.3 Molecular mechanisms in the development of diabetic cardiomyopathy

After 30 weeks of Western diet, protein levels of cardiac TNF-a levels were significantly increased compared with chow-fed animals. As shown is figure 14A, MIT could prevent the increase in this marker of cardiac inflammation, whereas HIIT could not. However, this result was not seen at the gene level, suggesting post-translational changes. In addition, no difference in IL-6 gene levels were seen in the different groups.



Figure 14: Cardiac inflammation in trained and untrained diabetic animals. (A) Protein TNF-a levels normalised to β -actin. (B) Gene expression level of TNF-a. (C) Gene expression of IL-6. Data are shown as mean \pm S.E.M. N = 10 in CNTL, N = 8 in CAF-SED, N = 7 in CAF-MIT and N = 7 in CAF-HIIT. * denotes p<0.05 vs. SED.

Both substrate metabolism and mitochondrial function are altered in diabetic animals (106). As shown in figure 15, PPAR-a – a regulator of fatty acid uptake in cardiomyocytes – attended to be increased in the CAF-SED group (p-value = 0.07). Exercise training prevented the increase in PPAR-a. NOX2 protein expression, known to be involved in generating ROS, was not different between groups.



Figure 15: Effect of exercise training on markers of mitochondrial mass and function in DCM (A) PPAR-a protein levels normalised to β -actin. (B) NOX protein levels normalised to β -actin. (C) Citrate synthase activity. (D) Cytochrome c oxidase enzyme activity. Data are shown as mean ± S.E.M. N = 10 in CNTL, N = 8 in CAF-SED, N = 7 in CAF-MIT and N = 7 in CAF-HIIT. * denotes p<0.05 vs. SED.

Citrate synthase activity, a marker of aerobic capacity and mitochondrial mass, improved significantly in HIIT trained animals compared with CAF-SED. Moreover, a trend was observed in MIT trained animals compared with sedentary animals (p-value = 0.07). As shown in figure 15D, cytochrome c oxidase activity, used as a surrogate for oxidative phosphorylation capacity, was not different between groups.

6.5 Discussion

Diabetes is becoming one of the challenges of this time, already affecting more than 400 million persons (93). DM is associated with an unhealthy diet, sedentary lifestyle and physical inactivity (517). In this study, we assigned rats to a highsugar and high-fat diet to induce T2DM and DCM, as previously shown by our research group (515). Diabetic rats were then subjected to a training intervention (MIT or HIIT) (516). Here, we show that both exercise modalities (MIT and HIIT) are effective in improving and reversing the negative phenotype of DCM. We found that outcome was comparable between the two different training modalities, demonstrating the efficiency of HIIT in this setting and further suggesting a potential role for HIIT as a therapy in T2DM patients. Physical activity plays a key role in the therapy and prevention of T2DM and DCM. Yet exercise adherence remains low in the diabetic population (518). As the lack of time is one of the major barriers for adherence to exercise training (509), HIIT is interesting due to its modality as being short in duration. There are concerns about the feasibility of implementing high-intensity exercise in the T2DM population, especially in older, sedentary and overweight participants. Primary barriers here are concerns over the risk of injury, poor adherence and low self-efficacy in implementing exercise (519-521). By administering high-intensity interval exercise, recovery periods are implemented in the training schedule, to lower these barriers of physical activity. Indeed, a study by Terada et al. has shown that adherence to HIIT was similar to MIT (522). Moreover, HIIT is more effective in improving aerobic fitness compared with MIT (369-372). Low aerobic fitness is associated with higher all-cause and cardiovascular mortality (523, 524). The feasibility of HIIT in a T2DM population is demonstrated recently by Hwang et al., showing completion rate for HIIT of 81% (368). Altogether, these data suggest HIIT as a preferable therapy for T2DM patients, with similar effects to the cardiac phenotype, in shorter exercise programs.

We already showed previously that after 18 weeks of high-sugar and high-fat diet, rats display a T2DM phenotype together with hallmarks of DCM (515). These hallmarks are increased fibrotic tissue, hypertrophy and diastolic dysfunction (187, 395). Again, after 18 weeks of diet, left ventricle hypertrophy was observed characterised by a significant increase in wall thickness (CNTL = 1.49 ± 0.019 ; $CAF = 1.69 \pm 0.031$). This hypertrophy remained present and further worsened after 30 weeks of diet (table 8). Exercise was able to reverse hypertrophy and further prevent its worsening. The beneficial effect of exercise on cardiac hypertrophy was also demonstrated by others (525). Furthermore, after 18 weeks of diet, only increased fibrosis and an elevated end-diastolic pressure were present, as described previously (515), indicating that DCM occurs early in the development of the disease. Indeed, impaired diastolic function combined with systemic insulin resistance are indicators of early DCM (111, 526, 527). When DCM progresses to the late stage, systolic function and metabolism will be affected (189, 528). Inflammation and ROS both promote the development of interstitial collagen deposition and crosslinking, both associated with increased fibrosis and impaired relaxation (109). In our model, we observed both increased fibrosis and cardiac inflammation after 30 weeks of Western diet, together with an impaired cardiac function. Systolic function was significantly altered, with diminished ejection fraction and fractional shortening, both indicators of systolic dysfunction. These data confirm the development of severe HF in diabetic patients, as also shown in the DIABHYCAR study (529). In this study, patients with DM and HF had a 12-fold higher annual mortality compared with patients that only had DM (530). By changing lifestyle – weight loss, physical activity, limitation of fat and total energy intake – positive effects were observed on metabolic, systemic and cardiac levels. In our study, we see that systolic function improves significantly with both MIT and HIIT. Moreover, both MIT and HIIT were able to reduce the increased end-diastolic pressure observed in CAF-SED animals. Together with a reduction in cardiac fibrosis, our data indicate that exercise improves functional hallmarks of DCM. Between exercise modalities, no differences were observed on cardiac function, suggesting that HIIT could be an interesting alternative therapy in diabetic patients that lack motivation to exercise due to its time-consuming nature.

6.5.1 Mechanisms behind diabetic cardiomyopathy and the effect of exercise

Both exercise modalities improve cardiac function in diabetic animals to the same extent. However, due to the nature of the training modality, underlying mechanisms and activated differential signalling pathways could differ between

both training interventions. DCM is a complex disease and the mechanisms behind the development and progress are yet to be established. Important contributors to DCM are hyperglycemia, hyperinsulinemia and lipotoxicity. In this study, an increase in circulating triglycerides and free fatty acids was observed in diabetic animals. In the diabetic heart, despite hyperglycemia, FFA oxidation is the primary source of energy with glucose oxidation reducing (98-100). Increased circulating FFAs are associated with cardiac mitochondrial uncoupling protein (UCP) 3 (531-535). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR)a regulate the uptake and oxidation of myocardial FFA. Transcriptional induction of enzymes involved in FA β -oxidation and transport enhance FA uptake, and consequently lead to suppressed glucose oxidation (107). Moreover, PPARa activation can also lead to accumulation of triacylglycerol, leading to toxic intermediates as diacylglycerol and ceramides in the cardiomyocyte resulting in reduced cell viability (101, 107, 108, 536). In exercised animals, both MIT and HIIT, triglycerides and FFAs were reduced or even normalised to CNTL levels. Our data suggest that both MIT and HIIT are able to partially restore the lipid profile in T2DM with DCM. An hypothetical explanation could be related to reduced circulating lipids (triglycerides and FFAs), leading to a diminished FA uptake and more glucose oxidation in the heart. Indeed, in our study, a trend to an increased PPARa expression was observed (p-value = 0.07) in CAF-SED, but not in trained animals. As shown by others, increased PPARa expression lead to higher FA oxidation and reduced glucose utilisation and triacylglycerol (TAG) accumulation (537), typically seen in T2DM and DCM. Insulin signalling will then be impaired by ceramides and diacylglycerol, leading to even further development of DCM (106). Eventually, excessive lipid accumulation contributes to inflammation, fibrosis, and diastolic dysfunction, all observed in this study. Moreover, an excess in fatty acid uptake could exert detrimental consequences on mitochondria (103).

Hyperglycemia, hyperlipidemia and insulin resistance are all improved after exercise therapy. Insulin resistance is associated with obesity, present in our diabetic animals (538). Animals subjected to a high-sugar and high-fat diet were significantly heavier as their counterparts that were fed a normal diet. Exercise training, independent of the modality, reduced body weight in Western diet-fed animals. Before training and as shown previously (515), insulin and glucose levels were significantly altered in diabetic animals. However, after exercise intervention, no significant differences were observed. Insulin handling in sedentary diabetic animals seemed to be affected compared with control animals. Exercise is known to improve insulin resistance in diabetic patients (258), with higher intensities exert greater effects on glycemic control and insulin sensitivity (370, 380, 447). However, this was not observed in this study, as only MIT but not HIIT seemed to improve insulin levels in diabetic animals.

Furthermore, obesity – specifically an excess in visceral fat – is associated with chronic low-grade inflammation and metabolic disorders (539). Importantly, a correlation has been found between inflammation and adverse effects of HF (540). One of the main inflammatory cytokines is TNF-a, which is increased in cardiac tissue in sedentary diabetic animals after 30 weeks. Previous studies have shown that increased levels of TNF-a are related to cardiac fibrosis, together with dilation and increased mortality (541-543). Cardiac inflammation is also partially responsible of fibrosis in the heart and therefore cardiac remodelling (307). Inflammatory signalling in the cardiomyocyte can indicate myocardial injury and is often coexisting with elevated mitochondrial ROS levels (181). Insulin resistance and TNF-a are also associated, as TNF-a activate intracellular kinases that phosphorylate the serine on insulin receptor substrate (IRS)-1, resulting in insulin resistance (544). This is confirmed in our study, as HIIT trained animals have both increased TNF-a levels while insulin levels were not reduced compared to CAF-SED.

In the diabetic heart, increased ROS levels and mitochondrial dysfunction play a crucial role in the development of cardiac tissue damage (188, 194-196). Most intracellular ROS in diabetes is originating from aged or injured mitochondria (197-200). In our study, citrate synthase activity, a measure of mitochondrial mass, was significantly increased in HIIT trained animals. The same trend was observed with MIT. These data suggest improved oxidative metabolism in trained animals compared with sedentary animals. Impaired mitochondrial function in diabetes can lead to an increase in ROS production and inflammation, causing eventually heart failure (106). However, no difference was observed in groups in cytochrome c oxidase enzyme activity. This could be explained by increased mitochondrial uncoupling, as partial uncoupling while maintaining sufficient ATP production could be a potential protective mechanism against increased ROS

(545). Indeed, in diet-induced DCM, increased uncoupling was observed as shown by an increased activity of uncoupling proteins (546-548). The increased PPARa expression in diabetic hearts is associated with a reduction in PGC-1a, a coactivator of transcription factors regulating mitochondrial numbers (103), further supporting our data on mitochondrial mass. Summarised, our study demonstrate that both inflammation and mitochondrial mass are improved by exercise training.

6.6 Conclusion

In this study, we report the positive effect of exercise training on the cardiac function in diabetic rats with DCM. Differences in modality, namely MIT or HIIT, does not seem to play a crucial role as both training modalities are able to improve cardiac function to the same extent. On a molecular basis, MIT and HIIT are beneficial regarding inflammation and mitochondria markers, both important factors in the development of DCM. For the first time, we show that exercise should be considered as a full-fledged therapy option in diabetic patients, with HIIT as a preferable option to conquer the lack of time barrier and still obtain the best cardiac outcome.



Detraining in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and underlying mechanisms: a systematic review

Based on:

Detraining in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and underlying mechanisms: a systematic review

Verboven M¹, Bito V¹.

In preparation

1 Biomedical Research Institute, Hasselt University, Diepenbeek, Belgium

7 Detraining in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and underlying mechanisms: a systematic review

7.1 Abstract

Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) is becoming a global pandemic, with over 400 million patients worldwide. Currently, exercise is advised as an adjuvant therapy in diabetic patients to help them in controlling their diabetes and metabolic disturbances. Even if beneficial effects of exercise are well-documented, the effects of detraining after an exercise period are however not yet completely understood. The aim of this review was to examine the impact of exercise intervention and importantly, the consequences and underlying mechanisms of a detraining period after exercise intervention. A systematic literature search was performed on PubMed and Web of Science to identify studies up to 15 April 2019. Articles were included when exercise and detraining protocols were well-defined and diabetes was present. In both diabetic patients and animals, improvements in both metabolic and cardiac health were observed after exercise training, while detraining blunted the positive changes after exercise. Here, we show that to prolong the effects of an exercise intervention, a combination of aerobic and resistance training should be implemented as this seems to delay detraining effects in the diabetic population. However, more research is necessary to determine the optimal exercise intervention and frequency to further delay deleterious detraining effects.

7.2 Introduction

Nowadays, the growing pandemic of diabetes mellitus (DM) poses a significant threat to public health across the globe, affecting more than 400 million individuals and being a 'global emergency' (3). Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) is the sixth leading cause of death worldwide. Nearly 70% of T2DM patients will develop cardiovascular diseases (CVD), being the major cause of mortality and morbidity in this patient population (434). It has been demonstrated that the risk of developing heart failure in diabetes is closely associated with levels of circulating HbA_{1C} levels, hyperglycemia and insulin resistance (549). Exercise intervention as such is known to be as efficient, if not more, than classical medication targeting glycemic and metabolic control. While obesity and hypertension frequently occur in T2DM patients and are well-known risk factors, studies have shown that cardiorespiratory fitness is a more powerful predictor of CVD (550, 551). Exercise intervention is an effective, low-cost and safe strategy for the prevention and treatment of CVD (427), as it improves T2DM and obesity, diseases associated with an unbalanced diet and a sedentary lifestyle. Exercise training improves both aspects, namely cardiovascular and metabolic health (271, 552, 553). Insulin sensitivity, blood glucose and HbA_{1C} are parameters reflecting the effect of exercise on metabolic control. As previously shown, HbA_{1C} reductions related to exercise are generally fairly modest (average HbA_{1C} reduction = -0.8%). However, it is demonstrated that even a small decrease in HbA1C levels exerts a clinically significant effect on macrovascular, microvascular and nonvascular events, comparable to the effects of pharmaceutical intervention (554). In addition, clinical trials examining exercise intervention have shown a reduction in body and fat mass, improved blood pressures, blood lipid profile and body composition in T2DM patients (273, 555, 556). Beneficial effects of exercise on the prevention of CVD in diabetes by exercise is thought to be mediated through improving vascular function and hereby related tissue perfusion (254). Exercise reduces TNF-a and IL-1 β circulating levels (557, 558), inflammation markers typically upregulated in T2DM and CVD, while data on exercise and oxidative stress markers are less consistent.

Overall, the effects of exercise on DM are positive (559), leading to its inclusion in adjuvant treatment guidelines for DM. Currently, exercise is indeed recommended as a therapy in diabetic patients by the American Diabetes Association (ADA) (560). However, taken into account the positive effects training has on blood glucose and insulin levels, cholesterol and lipid profile, blood circulation, pressure and cardiovascular complications, exercise should be seen as a complete part of therapy and not only recommended. Guidelines for physical activity in T1DM and T2DM adult patients are 150 min or more of moderate-to-vigorous intensity aerobic activity per week, spread over at least 3 days/week. More than 2 consecutive days without exercise should be avoided. This should be combined by 2-3 sessions/week of resistance training on nonconsecutive days. This resistance training is indeed recommended for improving strength, balance and glycemic control (266).

What remains so far underexplored is to what extent the beneficial effects of exercise intervention on cardiac function in T2DM are maintained once the supervised exercise intervention is stopped. Detraining (or de-conditioning) is defined as the partial or complete loss of training-induced metabolic, respiratory and cardiovascular adaptions, in response to an insufficient training stimulus (561, 562). This insufficient training stimulus can be caused by injury, immobilisation or fatigue. Although the current guidelines prescribe exercise and strongly advise DM patients to stay physically active throughout their entire lifetime in order to prevent CVD (563), a large majority of patients gradually or suddenly stop exercising (564-566). Indeed, as reported previously in CVD patients, only 30 – 60% of patients are still regularly exercising after 6 months (567-569).

In this review, we systematically evaluated the impact of detraining on metabolic status and cardiac function in T2DM. Because underlying mechanisms can only be unrevealed in animal models, we combined outcomes from pre-clinical and clinical studies in this review.

7.3 Methods

7.3.1 Literature search, selection criteria and quality control

In this systematic review, both animal and patient studies were included. For these studies, a literature search was performed on PubMed and Web of Science for articles published until 15/04/2019. The following Mesh Terms were used to

include articles: 'Diabetes' and 'Detraining'. Literature searches were performed by MV. Results of the search are shown in Figure 16. When no clear training and detraining protocol was present, studies were excluded out of our review.



Figure 16: Prism flowchart of search on Web of Science and PubMed.

7.3.2 Quality control of the selected articles

Quality assessment for the included animal studies was based on the Kilkenny et al (2010) table, examining 20 criteria (570). Patient studies were assessed by using manually calculated PEDro scores including 11 criteria (481).

In total, seven studies (including animal or human data) were included in this review.

7.4 Results

7.4.1 Quality assessment of the included studies

Three out of the five included patient studies were non-randomized while two of them were randomised. Only one study had a PEDro score of \geq 6, considered "good quality". For the others, the PEDro score ranged from 3 to 5. According to the criteria defined by Kilkenny et al, the two animal studies were considered of good quality (570).

7.4.2 Human studies

As reported in Table 9, five out of seven included articles were conducted in patients. In those, exercise training consisted of aerobic training and/or resistance training, at low-to-moderate intensity. When performed without resistance training, 6 weeks of aerobic training were able to reduce weight, body mass index (BMI), cholesterol levels and glycaemia (571). In this study, an equivalent detraining period of 6 weeks significantly worsened all parameters (571). In contrast, Kubota et al. showed that 12 weeks of mechanic horseback riding did not affect body weight, BMI, body fat, nor fasting glucose levels, HbA1C or insulin concentrations. Lipid levels (plasma cholesterol, HDL and triglycerides) remained unaltered after 12 weeks training (572). Only glucose infusion rate (GIR) increased significantly after 12 weeks training indicating an improved glucose uptake. After a detraining period of 12 weeks, a worsening e in GIR levels was observed (572). The lack of worsening in parameters could be attributed to the type of exercise program (mechanic horseback riding), being a balancing training exercise compared with running or weight lifting. As some patients are not able

to perform recommended exercises due to diabetic complications and numbness in the lower extremities, horseback riding could be seen as an alternative.

In the study of Farias et al., resistance training was capable of reducing cholesterol and triglyceride levels, together with glycaemia and HbA_{1C} levels. LDL levels remained altered after a period of 6 weeks detraining and the increase of HbA_{1C} seen in the aerobic training program was not shown after resistance training (571). Combining aerobic training with resistance training resulted in longer lasting effects, even after a six weeks detraining period. In the studies of Tokmakidis et al. and Park et al. however, training resulted in reduced body weight, BMI, waist circumference, postprandial glucose, LDL, cholesterol and an increase in strength (573, 574). Reductions on HbA_{1C} levels, although others reported to be improved with exercise training, were only seen in the study of Park et al. while Tokmakidis et al. did not observe any significant change. Three months detraining resulted in a reduced total strength that remained still significantly higher than the pre-training levels (574). After eight weeks of detraining, lipid profile returned to baseline values after this period of detraining, while the reduced HbA_{1C} observed with exercise in the study of Park, remained (573). Unlike controversial results on lipid profile, deleterious effects on insulinstimulated glucose clearance seem to occur very fast as they were already visible after six days detraining (575).

Overall, only aerobic or resistance training was insufficient to retain positive exercise effects after a relatively short period of detraining. Combining both exercise modalities delayed but did not prevent the occurrence of deleterious detraining effects on cardiometabolic profile.

7.4.3 Animal studies

To further investigate the underlying mechanisms, studies examining effect of detraining in animal models of diabetes were included in the search. Aerobic exercise intervention for 10 weeks significantly improved glycaemia while a detraining period of 3 weeks normalised these values to the baseline level (576). Systolic arterial pressure (AP) and heart rate (HR) were significantly increased in trained diabetic animals and were maintained after a period of 3 weeks detraining (576). Tachycardic and bradycardic responses were both improved after 10 weeks
of training. However, only tachycardic response remained improved after three weeks of detraining (576). In addition, exercise training increased intrinsic heart rate (IHR) and vagal tonus in diabetic rats with no detraining effect during a period of 3 weeks, while the positive training effects on pulse interval (PI) variance ceased after detraining (576). Finally, skin blood flow and endothelial function improved with exercise training. This effect was blunted after detraining in diabetic rats, likely related to the altered L-ARG/Nitric oxide (NO) pathway (577).

Altogether, data indicate that detraining blunted multiple positive effects of training in diabetic animals, including microvascular improvements in skin blood flow induced by exercise intervention.

Table 9: Overview of the included studies with effects of training and detraining	in the diabetic population.
---	-----------------------------

Author	Patient/animal	Type of	Training	Effects after	Detraining	Effect after detraining
	group	exercise	duration	training	duration	period compared with
				period		training period
Human studie	25					
Fariac at al	21 women and 0	Posistanco	2	Acrobic	6 wooks	Acrobic training
	21 Wolfiell allu 9	Resistance	S sessions/	Aerobic	o weeks	Aerobic training:
2015	men, aged 48.1	or aerodic	sessions/	training:		LDL, triglycerides,
	+- 1.7 year, BMI	training (65	week for 6	Weight, BMI,		glycaemia, HbA _{1C} ↑
	$= 26.0 \pm 2.1$	% of total	weeks	total		
	kg/m²	strengtn or		cholesterol,		
		maximum		LDL,		Resistance training:
		aerobic		glycaemia ↓		Weight DMI total
		capacity)				shelesterel trighteerides
						ducaomia HbA A
				Resistance		giycaenna, fibA _{1C}
				training:		HDL↓
				Total		
				cholostorol		
				LUL,		
				trigiyceriaes,		

				glycaemia, HbA _{1C} ↓ HDL↑		
Park et al. 2015	20 women and 17 men, aged over 65 year, BMI = 25.5 ± 2.5 and 23.6 ± 2.2 kg/m ²	Circuit training (combination of aerobic (9 - 14 RPE scale) and resistance training (45 - 75 % of 1 RM))	3 sessions/ week for 12 weeks	Strength ↑ HbA _{1C} , LDL, total cholesterol ↓	8 weeks	LDL, total cholesterol ↑

Tokmakidis et	13 women, aged	Aerobic (60	4	Weight, BMI,	3 months	Total strength \downarrow
al. 2014	55.8 +- 5.1	– 85 % HR)	sessions/	waist		
	year, BMI = 34.0	and strength	week for 9	circumference,		
	± 3.9 kg/m ²	training	months	postprandial		
		program (50		glucose ↓		
		- 80 1 RM		Total strongth		
		method)				
				1		
Kubota et al.	6 women, age 65	Riding using	4	GIR (glucose	12 weeks	GIR↓
2006	+- 3 years, BMI	the Joba	days/week	infusion rate) \uparrow		
	$= 22.8 \pm 1.1$	apparatus at	for 12			
	kg/m²	movement	weeks			
		intensity of				
		1.2 Hz				
Dela et al.	7 men, aged 58	One-legged	6 days/	Fasting	6 days	Insulin-stimulated glucose
1995	+- 3 years, BMI	ergometer	week for	plasma insulin		clearance ↓
	$= 29.1 \pm 0.4$	bicycle, 6	10 weeks	\downarrow		
	kg/m²	days/ week		Inculin-		
		for 10 weeks				
		(70 % VO2		sumulated		

			1			
		max), 6 days		glucose		
		of detraining		clearance ↑		
Animal studie	S					
Heidarianpour	Male Wistar rats	Low-	5	No baseline	5 weeks	Microvascular function (L-
et al. 2010	(8 weeks old),	intensity	days/week	data.		ARG and Ach) \downarrow
	STZ injection (60 mg/kg)	exercise training, twice a day, 5 days a week.	for 10 weeks	L-ARG and Ach-induced cutaneous ↑		
		Weekki				
Mostarda et	Male Wistar rats	Moderate-	5	Glycaemia ↓	3 weeks	Glycaemia ↑
al. 2009	(250 g), STZ injection (50 mg/kg)	intensity training, twice a day	days/week for 10 weeks	Bradycardic and tachycardic responses, IHR and vagal tonus ↑		Bradycardic response ↓

BMI, body mass index; LDL, low-density lipoproteins; HDL, high-density lipoproteins; HbA_{1C}, glycated haemoglobin; RPE, rate of perceived exertion; HR, heart rate; RM, repetition maximum; GIR, glucose infusion rate; STZ, streptozotocin; Ach, acetylcholine; L-ARG, L-arginine.

7.5 Discussion

According to this systematic literature review and as previously shown, exercise training elicits significant improvements in metabolic profile and cardiac function in diabetic patients and animals. However, most of these positive effects are lost, completely or partially, after a relatively short period of detraining. We show here that to maintain and delay the loss of exercise effects in the diabetic patient, both aerobic and resistance training should be combined.

7.5.1 Effects of different exercise modalities on the occurrence of detraining effects

In this systematic review, multiple exercise modalities were performed as an adjuvant treatment in T2DM patients. Moderate aerobic and resistance training were used either combined or separately. When used separately, both exercise modalities were shown to exert equal beneficial effects in T2DM patients (571). Weight and BMI are not reduced after resistance training but this is likely to be due to an increase in muscle mass (578). In studies where only aerobic training was performed, HbA_{1C} levels increased even more after a period of 6 weeks detraining (571). As the risk of developing heart failure in diabetic patients is closely associated with an increase in HbA_{1C} levels, independent of other risk factors (106), controlling HbA_{1C} levels in the T2DM patient population is crucial. Clearly, only aerobic or resistance training alone is not sufficient to keep these levels reduced after a period of detraining. However, when both modalities are combined, Park et al. observed a long-lasting decrease in HbA_{1C} levels (573). These results were however not confirmed in the study of Tokmakidis et al. where HbA_{1C} levels were not altered after training nor after detraining (574). Same results were found on body weight and waist circumference which remained after a period of detraining (574), while the effect on BMI was not consistent (573, 574). The latter can be related to the different patient population used in both studies, with a patient group of normal BMI (BMI = 25) in the study of Park et al., while a patient group of a larger BMI was present at start (BMI = 34) in the study of Tokmakidis et al. (573, 574).

Obesity is related with multiple risk factors for T2DM as insulin resistance, hyperglycemia, dyslipidemia and hypertension (579). Generally pro-inflammatory

markers are known to be elevated in obese and T2DM patients. However, when a more active lifestyle is conducted these levels are reduced, together with weight loss (580-585). In the study of Tokmakidis et al., a decrease in waist circumference, a predictor of intra-abdominal fat, was observed after training which is maintained after detraining (574). Reducing waist circumference in T2DM patients, who are often overweight or obese, is essential as intra-abdominal fat is a predictor of morbidity and mortality (586-590). This can be attributed to inflammation and its association with cardiovascular events as coronary heart disease (591-593). Finally, combining resistance training and aerobic training seems to be the best exercise modality in T2DM to reduce body weight in overweight patients and retain these beneficial effects after a period of detraining (574). Resistance training or aerobic training however was not sufficient enough to induce long-lasting effects in this patient population (571).

7.5.2 Underlying mechanisms

As molecular mechanisms and pathways are limited in patient studies, animal studies were included in this systematic review. Lipid profile, glycaemia and $Hb_{A1}C$ were all improved after exercise. However, detraining reversed the obtained beneficial effects after a relative short detraining period.

In T2DM, circulation is often reduced combined with poor vascularity and microand macrovascular complications, being a major cause of mortality in these patients (594, 595). Heidarianpour et al. emphasised the beneficial effects of chronic exercise on the vasodilatation of vessels in diabetic rats (577). They showed that both L-arginine (L-ARG) and acetylcholine (Ach)-induced cutaneous perfusions were increased, both being associated with NO production. Data indicate that this increased cutaneous blood flow during exercise could possibly alter endothelial function and increase sensitivity of stimulated endotheliumderived relaxing factor (EDRF)/NO release in skin vasculature, improving blood flow in diabetic rats (577). However, after five weeks of detraining, these beneficial effects obtained with exercise training were abolished. Where training did not affect endothelium-independent vasodilatation, detraining decreased it significantly (577). Detraining altered beneficial vascular exercise effects by increasing peripheral vascular resistance and reduced blood flow during exercise, with the latter one leading to smaller blood vessel diameters. These change could be attributed to lower levels of NO after a period of detraining (577).

In diabetic patients, the major cause of death is attributed to the development of cardiovascular diseases. In diabetic rats, systolic arterial pressure (AP), heart rate (HR), baroreflex sensitivity (BRS), intrinsic heart rate (IHR) and heart rate variability (HRV) were reduced. (576). Exercise improves these markers and even after a period of three weeks of detraining, diabetic animals display an improved autonomic control of circulation compared with sedentary rats (576). Additionally, exercise improved glycemic control in exercised animals. This could be attributed to an increased blood flow to skeletal muscle and the heart. An increased glycemic control is indeed known to improve AP, BRS, HR and HRV and thus suggesting exercise-induced an improvement in autonomic function (596).

7.5.3 Limitations

Diabetes is one of the major pandemics worldwide. When used in PubMed, the Mesh Term 'diabetes' gave 647701 results, showing that diabetic research is pending. Exercise proved to be an effective adjuvant therapy in diabetes patients and research in the effects of exercise in diabetes is performed widely, as shown by the resulting 23673 hits on PubMed with Mesh Terms 'diabetes' and 'exercise'. However, when combining 'diabetes' and 'detraining', only 29 results appeared. This result demonstrates the huge gap in knowledge about the effects of detraining in diabetic patients. As a consequence, it was only possible to add seven research articles in this systematic review from which only two are on animal studies, examining detraining in a relatively short period. In addition, specific changes in cardiac function, although being a major complication of diabetes and being influenced by exercise intervention (559), were not systematically evaluated and reported. Conclusion on the mentioned studies should be then taken with caution as extensive consistent knowledge on the subject is lacking.

7.6 Conclusion

The beneficial effects of exercise in diabetic patients are well described, showing the importance of exercise as an adjuvant efficient therapy. However, adherence to training programs in heart failure patient groups is low. Here, we show that detraining has clear negative effects in the diabetes population, meaning in other words that beneficial effects on cardiac function and metabolic profile are lost after a period of detraining. Even short periods of detraining are sufficient to negate most of the positive effects of exercise, with some parameters being worse than pre-training levels. A period of inactivity should thus be avoided by diabetic patients. However, training modality, intensity, load and duration should be identified and are currently lacking. More research is necessary to identify how maintenance of the beneficial effects of exercise can be guaranteed in T2DM patients, even after a period of detraining.

8

Summary and general conclusions

8 Summary and general conclusions

Diabetes is becoming one of the greatest challenges of this time, with currently more than 400 million patients worldwide and this number is expected to rise above 640 million adults by 2040 (597). Moreover, diabetes is closely associated with heart failure, with cardiovascular diseases responsible for up to 80% of diabetic mortality (598). In well-controlled diabetic patients, approximately 60% cardiac stiffness and diastolic dysfunction are observed (599, 600). The current diabetes pandemic is closely associated with the global obesity epidemic (52). Research suggests that both a sedentary lifestyle and an energy-dense Western diet are the major risk factors for the development of T2DM (51). One of the lifestyle and dietary risk factors that are related to the development of T2DM are the consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages, increasing the risk by 20 to 30% compared with non-consumers (65-67). A sedentary lifestyle and lack of physical activity promote even more the chances of developing T2DM by 40% (79, 601). The aim of this PhD was to study the effects of different types of exercise intensities on the development of T2DM and DCM. In that context, an animal model combining the risk factors of developing T2DM with the diabetic phenotype observed in the diabetic population was necessary and currently not available. In **Chapter 3**, we validated our animal model developing T2DM and DCM. To observe the effect of our chosen exercise modality on cardiac function, a first experiment was performed on healthy animals, as described in **Chapter 4.** To investigate the effect of exercise training on DCM and T2DM and to summarise the already known literature, a systematic review was written (Chapter 5) describing the known facts of exercise effects on T2DM and the cardiac function in diabetic patients. This review clearly demonstrated that there was a lack of knowledge of the effects of different kinds of exercise on cardiac function in T2DM. Here, we filled the gap by investigating the effect of different kind of exercise modalities (HIIT and MIT) on T2DM and DCM (Chapter 6). At last, in Chapter 7, we discussed what is currently known about detraining and diabetes.

8.1 An animal model representing T2DM and DCM

To investigate properly the complexity of T2DM and DCM, preclinical animal models reflecting the phenotype and pathophysiology of the disease are critical in

research. Most models used for induction of diabetes use toxic chemicals, as alloxan or streptozotocin (STZ) (602). However, by inducing diabetes using a toxin, tissue toxicity can be increased (603). Moreover, STZ will lead to β -cell toxicity and necrosis resulting in insulin deficiency (604). There is a close correlation between obesity and type 2 diabetes, and excessive weight is an established risk factor for the development of T2DM. However, in animal models using an STZ injection, diabetic animals often weigh less than the control groups. Thereby the obesity-associated effects in T2DM could not attribute to the development of DCM or T2DM in these animal models. Other models often used are genetically modified obese models as ob/ob and db/db mice. These models have a defect in the leptin synthesis or action while in humans a monogenic mutation is rarely observed in T2DM (605). Therefore we used a model based on a high-sugar and a high-fat diet representing a Western diet. In this model, we observed hyperglycemia, hyperinsulinemia and hyperlipidemia, three major hallmarks in diabetes. On cardiac function, we observed the hallmarks of DCM namely increased cardiac collagen deposition, diastolic dysfunction and left ventricle hypertrophy. These data demonstrate that indeed our model reflect the phenotype observed in patients as it is able to induce T2DM with cardiac failure after 18 weeks of diet.

8.2 The effects of exercise on healthy and diabetic animals

Exercise and physical activity are known to exert beneficial effects on both diabetes, metabolic disorders and cardiovascular diseases (606). In healthy rats, we showed that both exercise modalities had similar effects on cardiac function (**Chapter 4**). Moreover, HIIT seemed to improve vascularity in the heart significantly compared with MIT trained animals. It is well known that in diabetes, macrovascular and microvascular problems occur, resulting in visual impairment, diabetic cardiomyopathy, kidney failure, stroke and lower extremity dysfunction (607). Exercise will increase number and size of arterial blood vessels in both skeletal muscles and myocardium (608). These data demonstrate that exercise is an efficient adjuvant therapy in diabetes mellitus and other cardiovascular diseases. In healthy subjects, sparse data suggest that the potential of HIIT in comparison to MIT to improve cardiac function is most likely to be attributed to a

higher mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation and metabolism (379). We did not observe significant differences in citrate synthase activity – a marker for mitochondrial mass – between the two different exercise modalities. On the other hand, complex II enzyme activity tended to be increased compared with the control group, but only in HIIT trained animals. Furthermore, HIIT but not MIT was able to induce physiological hypertrophy in healthy trained animals. Functionally, both exercise modalities were equally efficient in improving cardiac function in T2DM and DCM. Altogether, our data suggest that HIIT could be a useful alternative to MIT for patients with cardiovascular disorders.

Our review in **Chapter 5** showed the importance of exercise on cardiac function in type 2 diabetes patients. Exercise improved metabolic and molecular parameters important in cardiac function, and improves diastolic function in humans and animals. The role of different kinds of exercise in the improvement of diabetic control and cardiac function remained however unknown, as insufficient research was performed to unravel the role of exercise types. This gap of knowledge was filled in with **Chapter 6**, as we used two different kinds of exercise modalities in our validated animal model of T2DM and DCM. No differences were observed in the functional parameters of cardiac function, making both MIT and HIIT equally in improving cardiac function in diabetic patients. On the molecular level, some differences, likely related to differential underlying mechanisms involved, could be observed. Indeed, HIIT but not MIT, was able to reduce circulating FFAs in diabetic rats while only MIT reduced cardiac inflammation. However, differences between exercise groups were small and not significant. Only HIIT increased citrate synthase, showing and confirming that HIIT is able to improve mitochondrial function and mass compared with MIT. Altogether, these data suggest that HIIT could be introduced as a therapy in diabetic patients, as in this group lack of time is one of the major barriers to exercise (264). One of the concerns of HIIT in a diabetic population, characterised by high cardiovascular mortality, could be the safety of implementing HIIT is this population. Multiple studies investigated the safety of HIIT in heart failure patients. In patients with coronary heart diseases no adverse effects were observed (609, 610). In chronic heart failure patients, safety parameters remained within acceptable values (611). A large study by Rognmo et al. showed no only two non-fatal cardiac events in 46.364 hours of HIIT and one fatal cardiac event in 129.456 hours of MIT, executed by 4846 cardiac rehabilitation patients (612). It has to be noted that all these patients underwent full medical screening and cardiopulmonary test before exercise. In addition, all exercise was supervised. These data suggest HIIT as a safe exercise strategy in diabetic patients, at least equally efficient as MIT. As important as safety of the exercise protocol is adherence to the exercise modality. HIIT was observed to be more pleasant by obese women, some T2DM patients and by coronary heart patients (610, 613). Moreover, patients preferred HIIT protocols with shorter intervals (614). Adherence to a HIIT protocol in a non-supervised environment has been demonstrated in multiple studies (427, 510, 615-617). These data of good adherence and safety of HIIT in the diabetic population, combined with the results of our study in animals on cardiac function, prove the potential of HIIT as a patient-tailored therapy in the diabetic population.

The effects of exercise differ partially between healthy subjects and diabetic rats, as shown in our research. In both diabetic and healthy animals, exercise reduced significantly collagen deposition in the heart. Indeed, it is known that exercise is recommended to both prevent and treat collagen deposition and heart disease (618). On the other hand, exercise increased hypertrophy in healthy animals but reversed left ventricle hypertrophy in diabetic rats with a reduction in AWT. Exercise training is however able to counteract structural and functional changes in cardiovascular diseases changing pathological to physiological hypertrophy, as described before (619-621). Furthermore, another cardiac parameter differing between healthy and diabetic animals is left ventricle pressure. In healthy animals both exercise modalities were capable of reducing LVP, while this effect was not observed in diabetic rats. Moreover, LVP was significantly increased after HIIT training, or HIIT was not capable of reducing systolic blood pressure in diabetic animals. End-diastolic pressure however was reduced by both exercise modalities. At last, differences in citrate synthase activity were observed between healthy and diabetic rats. Both exercise modalities increased citrate synthase or mitochondrial mass in healthy subjects, whereas in diabetic rats only HIIT slightly improved this parameter. It has been suggested before that mitochondrial dysfunction play a crucial role in diabetic cardiomyopathy (107). High-intensity interval training is shown to improve cardiac mitochondrial content in healthy and obese animal models, while a positive effect of MIT was not observed in these studies (447, 622).

The differences between exercise in healthy and diabetic animals are summarized in figure 17.





EDP, end-diastolic pressure. Data are shown as mean \pm S.E.M. * denotes p<0.05 vs. CNTL, \sim denotes p<0.05 vs. CAF-SED.

8.3 What after revalidation?

As described in **Chapter 7**, detraining is a problem in all cardiovascular patients. Detraining (or de-conditioning) is defined as the partial or complete loss of training-induced metabolic, ventilator and cardiovascular adaptions, in response to an insufficient training stimulus. This insufficient training stimulus can be caused by injury, immobilization or fatigue. Although the current guidelines prescribe exercise to DM patients, many patients does not remain regularly active. It is already shown that long-term exercise adherence is necessary to sustain the health benefits of exercise (623). In a systematic review, performed by our research group, we identified indeed the dangers of non-adherence to an exercise program. Most positive effects were at least deteriorating after periods of detraining rather rapidly. However, a lot more research needs to be done to define the negative effects of detraining in the diabetes population, as we could only include seven original research articles in our review. T2DM is a chronic disease and thus exercise adherence is critical for the welfare of the patient. As lack of time is one of the main parameters of non-adherence to an exercise program, HIIT could also be interesting to counter the effects of detraining and increase training adherence. Finally, as being very different in modalities, MIT and HIIT are likely to be triggered by differential underlying mechanisms. One could then speculate that HIIT, unlike MIT, could delay the occurrence of the deleterious detraining effects seen once exercise is stopped.

8.4 Limitations

Like all research, studies included in this doctoral thesis have some limitations. The main limitation is based on the exercise protocols executed in the studies performed. As we performed forced treadmill exercise running, our animals were subjected to a stress response which can result in counteracting some of the positive exercise effects like reduced inflammation (624). Animals forced to treadmill running also show higher levels of stress and anxiety (624). This could

affect the results obtained in the exercise studies. However, no alternative is available to compare two different kinds of exercise modalities. To show the effect of exercise, without comparing different kinds of exercise modalities, the optimal situation would be to give animals freedom of choice for running on a voluntary wheel-running rad. However, using this option was not possible for comparing MIT and HIIT.

Other limitations in these studies were related to the treadmill itself, as it was not possible to measure VO_{2max} to determine the high-intensity and the moderate intensity protocols. In optimal conditions, HIIT is corresponding to 85-90% of the VO_{2max} measured in a metabolic chamber equipped with a treadmill (447, 622). For MIT trained animals, VO_{2max} would be 60-70%. In our case, intensity of the training protocol was determined by lactate measurement and were approximated using calculations used for humans and not rodents, as not available.

8.5 Future perspectives

The research in this field is not finished with this doctoral thesis and future experiments should be added to strengthen the results obtained and move a step further.

8.5.1 Is exercise able to prevent the development of T2DM and DCM?

It is well-known that an unhealthy diet and a sedentary lifestyle are major risk factors for the development of T2DM and DCM. Multiple studies investigating the effects of exercise in T2DM use genetic models or toxin-induced diabetes. These models are not suitable to look to the preventive effect of exercise on the development of T2DM in animals. In our model, T2DM and DCM are induced by diet, making our model perfect for investigating the optimal modality to prevent T2DM in high-risk groups. The same approach could be used as in **Chapter 6**, with the difference that exercise would start at the onset of the diet. In this way, it would be possible to determine whether exercise is efficient enough in preventing T2DM and which exercise modality is better in that setting.

8.5.2 Is HIIT more efficient in sustaining the exercise effects after a period of detraining in DCM?

Here, the objective would be to identify whether HIIT could be more efficient to prevent or delay detraining effects. Generally, beneficial effects of exercise training are mainly attributed to improved neurohumoral, inflammatory, metabolic and central hemodynamic responses as well as on endothelial, skeletal and cardiovascular function, leading to an overall cardiac improvement and an improved tolerance for ischemia and reperfusion injury. However, to date, little is known of the specific effects of detraining and the role of different training modalities. DCM is defined as ventricular dysfunction that occurs in diabetic patients independent of a recognised cause such as hypertension or coronary artery disease. The structural effects of DCM are related to adverse remodelling, the most prominent changes being myocardial hypertrophy and fibrosis, increased wall thickness to chamber ratio and elevated left-ventricular (LV) mass relative to chamber volume. Diastolic dysfunction is recognised as the earliest functional effect of these structural changes, and is characterised by increased LV diastolic stiffness and relaxation disturbances. The hallmark of systolic dysfunction, the later stage of the dysfunction, is a depressed LV ejection fraction and an upregulation of the renin-angiotensin system.

Current exercise guidelines by the American Diabetes Association for people with diabetes suggest that adults should engage in 'minimal 150 minutes of moderateto-vigorous intensity activity weekly, spread over at least 3 days/week, with no more than 2 consecutive days without training `. However, when detraining occurs, the underlying mechanisms and early markers of detraining, including inflammatory markers, are currently unknown. As lack of time is one of the major barriers in non-adherence to exercise therapy in the T2DM population, HIIT can be an interesting alternative training modality. We showed that in healthy animals, no difference was observed between MIT and HIIT on cardiac function. Moreover, we observed increased vascularity in healthy hearts of HIIT-trained animals. This increases the potential of HIIT in the diabetic population, as vascularity and cardiovascular diseases are common. In the diabetic population, accelerated development of atherosclerotic lesions is present. Atherosclerosis is an inflammatory disease typically present at sites of endothelial injury in arteries. Endothelial cells will respond to the injury by overexpressing cell surface proteins as vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 and P-selectin, mediating the attachment and infiltration of circulating monocytes and T cells. Chronic inflammation is also involved in the pathophysiology of both T2DM and insulin resistance, tying up the different parts of this study. Exercise has proven to lower inflammation and atherosclerosis in diabetic patients.

8.5.3 Mechanisms and evolution of T2DM and DCM.

It would be interesting to go deeper into molecular and cellular mechanisms of DCM, and what goes wrong in this complex disease. As shown in **Chapter 1**, DCM is a complex and multifactorial disorder. It would be interesting to follow-up animals not only for 18 or 30 weeks, but longer to see the evolution of T2DM and DCM in a high-sugar fed animal. When comparing 18 weeks and 30 weeks fed animals, we can already observe a change from only diastolic failure (early phase) to diastolic and systolic failure (late phase). Therefore, to follow animals for a longer period of time such as 12 and 24 months and evaluate them at fixed time points, could give more insights on how T2DM and DCM are induced and are evolving in animals. Furthermore, it would be interesting to see at what point DCM becomes a life-threatening disease and how the molecular pathways change during progress of the disease, and what are the crucial parameters involved in the disease progression.

9

Nederlandse samenvatting

9 Nederlandse samenvatting

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is één van de grootste pandemieën van onze tijd, waarbij de meeste diabetes patiënten lijden aan type 2 DM (T2DM). Op dit moment zijn er wereldwijd meer dan 400 miljoen personen die lijden aan diabetes, en er wordt verwacht dat dit aantal de komende jaren zal blijven stijgen. De grootste doodsoorzaak bij deze patiënten zijn cardiovasculaire aandoeningen. In diabetes is er een specifiek soort van hartfalen, genaamd diabetisch cardiomyopathie (DCM). DCM wordt gedefinieerd als structurele en functionele veranderingen in de cardiomyocyten, onafhankelijk van ischemisch hartfalen of hypertensie. Diastolische dysfunctie - samen met een verhoging aan bindweefsel en hypertrofie van het linker ventrikel één van de kenmerken van DCM – is aanwezig in 19.6 % tot 54.4 % van de diabetes patiënten. Hierdoor zal de vulling van het hart vermindert zijn. De laatste jaren is er ontzettend veel onderzoek gevoerd naar de pathofysiology van DCM, maar nog steeds zijn de moleculaire mechanismen nog niet volledig geweten. Er zijn verschillende risicofactoren die een rol spelen in de ontwikkeling van T2DM, zoals een sedentaire levensstijl, een gebrek aan fysieke activiteit en een ongezond dieet. Het is reeds bewezen dat sport en fysieke training de fysiologische en psychologische gezondheid verbeterd in zowel diabetes patiënten als gezonde personen. Fysieke training zal onder meer insulinesensitiviteit, glycemische controle en vetoxidatie verbeteren in diabetes patiënten. Verder zijn een verbeterde cardiorespiratoire functie en fysieke activiteit geassocieerd met een verminderde cardiovasculaire mortaliteit in diabetes patiënten.

In deze doctoraatsdissertatie wordt er dieper ingegaan op de risicofactoren (een ongezond dieet en een sedentaire levensstijl) in T2DM, alsook het effect van fysieke training bij de diabetes patiënten. Voor dit laatste worden er twee soorten fysieke training toegepast, namelijk moderate-intensiteit training (MIT) en hogeintensiteit interval training (HIIT). Verschillende onderzoeksvragen worden er gesteld in dit manuscript. Wat is het effect van fysieke training bij gezonde dieren? Alsook, is het mogelijk om diabetes cardiomyopathie te induceren bij dieren door middel van een specifiek dieet? Is fysieke training ook in staat om diabetes cardiomyopathie te verbeteren of eventueel zelfs te genezen? In **hoofdstuk 3** wordt er gekeken of een hoog-suiker en hoog-vet dieet in staat is om diabetes cardiomyopathie te induceren in gezonde dieren. Hiervoor zijn de dieren gedurende 18 weken onderworpen aan dit dieet. De hartfunctie werd onderzocht door middel van echocardiografie en hemodynamische drukmetingen, terwijl de glucose en insuline waarden bekeken werden via een orale glucose tolerantie test (OGTT). Na analyse van de resultaten bleek de cardiale functie inderdaad aangetast te zijn na een hoog-suiker en hoog-vet dieet, en toonden de dieren tekenen van T2DM, zoals insulineresistentie en hyperglycemie. De kenmerken van DCM waren ook aanwezig, met een verdikking van de linkerventrikelwand, een verhoogde eind-diastolische druk en een verhoogde aanwezigheid van fibrose in het cardiale weefsel.

Wanneer gezonde dieren werden aangezet tot het verrichten van fysieke training (MIT of HIIT), konden er verscheidene effecten worden geobserveerd op de hartfunctie en de algemene gezondheid. Zo was het duidelijk dat de bloeddrukken verminderd waren en de ejectiefractie (EF) verbeterd was. Ook kon training er voor zorgen – onafhankelijk van welk soort training (MIT of HIIT) – dat het bindweefsel in het hart daalde. Verder zorgde HIIT, maar niet MIT, voor meer vascularisatie in het hart ten opzichte van sedentaire dieren. In gezonde dieren zorgt training – zowel MIT als HIIT – voor een verbetering van de hartfunctie, gewichtsverlies en verbeterde mitochondriale activiteit, én heeft HIIT het voordeel om ook nog eens de cardiale vasculariteit te verbeteren, zoals aangetoond in **hoofdstuk 4**.

Hoofdstuk 6 combineert de twee voorgaande studies, waarbij er wordt gekeken naar het effect van deze twee soorten training op diabetes dieren na 18 weken dieet. Alvorens deze studie te starten, is er een literatuurstudie uitgevoerd (**hoofdstuk 5**) om de reeds gekende literatuur te onderzoeken naar wat geweten is over training in diabetes of diabetes cardiomyopathie. Hierbij werd duidelijk dat DCM op verschillende manieren beïnvloed wordt door training, en dat voornamelijk de diastolische functie verbeterd na training. Dit maakt onze studie interessant, aangezien er een verhoging van de eind-diastolische druk aanwezig was in dieren met diabetes. In **hoofdstuk 6** is het effect van training op diabetes dieren duidelijk zichtbaar. Het lipidenprofiel (cholesterol, vrije vetzuren en triglyceriden) is na training duidelijk verbeterd, met verminderde circulerende lipiden ten opzichte van sedentaire dieren. Ook de cardiale functie was sterk verbeterd na training wanneer vergeleken met sedentaire diabetes dieren. Zowel de diastolische als systolische functie toonden vooruitgang na training, tekenend voor het belang van fysieke activiteit bij diabetes. De onderliggende mechanismen werden ook bekeken, waarbij inflammatie een rol leek te spelen. Ook de mitochondriale functie en het substraatmetabolisme van het hart leken aangetast bij diabetes dieren, terwijl training deze negatieve aanpassingen terugkeerden. De verschillen tussen MIT en HIIT in het genezen van DCM waren minimaal, en tonen het belang van training aan in de diabetes populatie. Ook bieden deze resultaten potentieel voor HIIT, aangezien dit trainingschema van kortere duur is, waarbij een gebrek aan tijd vaak wordt aangehaald door T2DM patiënten om niet te sporten.

Als laatste is er een literatuurstudie uitgevoerd om het effect van detraining na te gaan bij diabetes (**hoofdstuk 7**). Detraining is gedefinieerd als het gedeeltelijk of volledig verlies van de door training-geïnduceerde metabole, respiratoire en cardiovasculaire veranderingen, door een onvoldoende trainingstimulus. Hier is allereerst opnieuw aangetoond dat fysieke activiteit verschillende positieve effecten uitoefent bij diabetes patiënten. Na een korte periode van detraining, zijn de effecten van detraining echter reeds zichtbaar. Het is dus van belang dat een periode van inactiviteit bij diabetes patiënten vermeden wordt.

De algemene conclusies uit deze doctoraatsdissertatie zijn als volgend: (1) Een ongezond of Westers dieet kan leiden tot T2DM en DCM. (2) Zowel MIT als HIIT zijn in staat om positieve cardiale remodeling door te voeren, en de hartfunctie te verbeteren bij gezonde dieren. (3) Beide trainingsmodaliteiten hebben therapeutische mogelijkheden in T2DM, zonder verschil in effectiviteit op het verbeteren van cardiale functie tussen beidde modaliteiten. (4) De positieve effecten van een trainingsinterventie kunnen snel te niet gedaan worden door een periode van detraining, wat moet vermeden worden bij de diabetes patiënten.

10

Other

10 Other

Reference list

1. Blaslov K, Naranda FS, Kruljac I, Renar IP. Treatment approach to type 2 diabetes: Past, present and future. World J Diabetes. 2018;9(12):209-19.

2. Alberti KG, Zimmet PZ. Definition, diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus and its complications. Part 1: diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus provisional report of a WHO consultation. Diabet Med. 1998;15(7):539-53.

Ogurtsova K, da Rocha Fernandes JD, Huang Y, Linnenkamp U, Guariguata
L, Cho NH, et al. IDF Diabetes Atlas: Global estimates for the prevalence of diabetes for 2015 and 2040. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2017;128:40-50.

4. Organization WH. Global report on diabetes. 2016.

5. Todd JA. Etiology of type 1 diabetes. Immunity. 2010;32(4):457-67.

6. Gale EA. Type 1 diabetes in the young: the harvest of sorrow goes on. Diabetologia. 2005;48(8):1435-8.

Harjutsalo V, Sjoberg L, Tuomilehto J. Time trends in the incidence of type
diabetes in Finnish children: a cohort study. Lancet. 2008;371(9626):1777-82.
Patterson CC, Dahlquist GG, Gyurus E, Green A, Soltesz G, Group ES.
Incidence trends for childhood type 1 diabetes in Europe during 1989-2003 and predicted new cases 2005-20: a multicentre prospective registration study.

Lancet. 2009;373(9680):2027-33.

9. Ziegler AG, Rewers M, Simell O, Simell T, Lempainen J, Steck A, et al. Seroconversion to multiple islet autoantibodies and risk of progression to diabetes in children. JAMA. 2013;309(23):2473-9.

10. Rewers M, Ludvigsson J. Environmental risk factors for type 1 diabetes. Lancet. 2016;387(10035):2340-8.

11. Gulsin GS, Athithan L, McCann GP. Diabetic cardiomyopathy: prevalence, determinants and potential treatments. Ther Adv Endocrinol Metab. 2019;10:2042018819834869.

12. Florez JC. Clinical review: the genetics of type 2 diabetes: a realistic appraisal in 2008. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2008;93(12):4633-42.

13. Kiess W, Bottner A, Raile K, Kapellen T, Muller G, Galler A, et al. Type 2 diabetes mellitus in children and adolescents: a review from a European perspective. Horm Res. 2003;59 Suppl 1:77-84.

14. Diagnostic criteria and classification of hyperglycaemia first detected in pregnancy: a World Health Organization Guideline. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2014;103(3):341-63.

15. American Diabetes A. Standards of medical care in diabetes--2013. Diabetes Care. 2013;36 Suppl 1:S11-66.

16. Damm P. Future risk of diabetes in mother and child after gestational diabetes mellitus. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2009;104 Suppl 1:S25-6.

17. Reiher H, Fuhrmann K, Semmler K, Jutzi E, Besch W, Hahn HJ. [Effect, on the newborn infant, of carbohydrate metabolism in pregnancy in insulindependent diabetics]. Zentralbl Gynakol. 1984;106(8):524-9.

18. Dabelea D. The predisposition to obesity and diabetes in offspring of diabetic mothers. Diabetes Care. 2007;30 Suppl 2:S169-74.

19. Pettitt DJ, Bennett PH, Saad MF, Charles MA, Nelson RG, Knowler WC. Abnormal glucose tolerance during pregnancy in Pima Indian women. Long-term effects on offspring. Diabetes. 1991;40 Suppl 2:126-30.

20. Huang S, Czech MP. The GLUT4 glucose transporter. Cell Metab. 2007;5(4):237-52.

21. Boron WF, Boulpaep EL. The Endocrine Pancreas. Medical Physiology2012.

22. Bryant NJ, Govers R, James DE. Regulated transport of the glucose transporter GLUT4. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2002;3(4):267-77.

23. The mysteries of type 2 diabetes in developing countries. Bull World Health Organ. 2016;94(4):241-2.

24. Federation ID. IDF Diabetes Atlas. Brussels, Belgium; 2015.

25. Mbanya JC, Motala AA, Sobngwi E, Assah FK, Enoru ST. Diabetes in sub-Saharan Africa. Lancet. 2010;375(9733):2254-66.

26. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention USDoHaHS. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: National Diabetes Statistics Report. Atlanta; 2014.

27. Unnikrishnan R, Pradeepa R, Joshi SR, Mohan V. Type 2 Diabetes: Demystifying the Global Epidemic. Diabetes. 2017;66(6):1432-42.

28. Kirk JK, D'Agostino RB, Jr., Bell RA, Passmore LV, Bonds DE, Karter AJ, et al. Disparities in HbA1c levels between African-American and non-Hispanic white adults with diabetes: a meta-analysis. Diabetes Care. 2006;29(9):2130-6.

Quality AfHRa. Diabetes Disparities among Racial and Ethnic Minorities.
Contract No.: 02-P007.

30. Hu FB. Globalization of diabetes: the role of diet, lifestyle, and genes. Diabetes Care. 2011;34(6):1249-57.

31. Popkin BM. The nutrition transition and obesity in the developing world. J Nutr. 2001;131(3):871S-3S.

32. Bell AC, Ge K, Popkin BM. The road to obesity or the path to prevention: motorized transportation and obesity in China. Obes Res. 2002;10(4):277-83.

33. Buysschaert M, Medina JL, Bergman M, Shah A, Lonier J. Prediabetes and associated disorders. Endocrine. 2015;48(2):371-93.

34. Gerstein HC, Santaguida P, Raina P, Morrison KM, Balion C, Hunt D, et al. Annual incidence and relative risk of diabetes in people with various categories of dysglycemia: a systematic overview and meta-analysis of prospective studies. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2007;78(3):305-12.

35. Tabak AG, Herder C, Rathmann W, Brunner EJ, Kivimaki M. Prediabetes: a high-risk state for diabetes development. Lancet. 2012;379(9833):2279-90.

36. Prevention CfDCa. National Diabetes Fact Sheet: national estimates and general information on diabetes and prediabetes in the United States. Atlanta, G.A.; 2011.

37. Forouhi NG, Luan J, Hennings S, Wareham NJ. Incidence of Type 2 diabetes in England and its association with baseline impaired fasting glucose: the Ely study 1990-2000. Diabet Med. 2007;24(2):200-7.

38. Nathan DM, Davidson MB, DeFronzo RA, Heine RJ, Henry RR, Pratley R, et al. Impaired fasting glucose and impaired glucose tolerance: implications for care. Diabetes Care. 2007;30(3):753-9.

39. Diabetes Prevention Program Research G, Knowler WC, Fowler SE, Hamman RF, Christophi CA, Hoffman HJ, et al. 10-year follow-up of diabetes incidence and weight loss in the Diabetes Prevention Program Outcomes Study. Lancet. 2009;374(9702):1677-86.

40. Investigators DT, Gerstein HC, Yusuf S, Bosch J, Pogue J, Sheridan P, et al. Effect of rosiglitazone on the frequency of diabetes in patients with impaired

glucose tolerance or impaired fasting glucose: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2006;368(9541):1096-105.

41. Knowler WC, Barrett-Connor E, Fowler SE, Hamman RF, Lachin JM, Walker EA, et al. Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin. N Engl J Med. 2002;346(6):393-403.

42. Ramachandran A, Snehalatha C, Mary S, Mukesh B, Bhaskar AD, Vijay V, et al. The Indian Diabetes Prevention Programme shows that lifestyle modification and metformin prevent type 2 diabetes in Asian Indian subjects with impaired glucose tolerance (IDPP-1). Diabetologia. 2006;49(2):289-97.

43. Torgerson JS, Hauptman J, Boldrin MN, Sjostrom L. XENical in the prevention of diabetes in obese subjects (XENDOS) study: a randomized study of orlistat as an adjunct to lifestyle changes for the prevention of type 2 diabetes in obese patients. Diabetes Care. 2004;27(1):155-61.

44. Tuomilehto J, Lindstrom J, Eriksson JG, Valle TT, Hamalainen H, Ilanne-Parikka P, et al. Prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus by changes in lifestyle among subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. N Engl J Med. 2001;344(18):1343-50.

45. Organization WH. Definition and Diagnosis of Diabetes Mellitus and Intermediate Hyperglycaemia. 2006.

46. International Expert C. International Expert Committee report on the role of the A1C assay in the diagnosis of diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2009;32(7):1327-34.

47. Organization WH. Definition and diagnosis of diabetes mellitus and intermediate hyperglycemia: report of a WHO/IDF consultation. 2006.

48. Schulze MB, Weikert C, Pischon T, Bergmann MM, Al-Hasani H, Schleicher E, et al. Use of multiple metabolic and genetic markers to improve the prediction of type 2 diabetes: the EPIC-Potsdam Study. Diabetes Care. 2009;32(11):2116-9.

49. Guay C, Regazzi R. Circulating microRNAs as novel biomarkers for diabetes mellitus. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2013;9(9):513-21.

50. Urdea M, Kolberg J, Wilber J, Gerwien R, Moler E, Rowe M, et al. Validation of a multimarker model for assessing risk of type 2 diabetes from a five-year prospective study of 6784 Danish people (Inter99). J Diabetes Sci Technol. 2009;3(4):748-55.

51. Chatterjee S, Khunti K, Davies MJ. Type 2 diabetes. Lancet. 2017;389(10085):2239-51.

52. Ng M, Fleming T, Robinson M, Thomson B, Graetz N, Margono C, et al. Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980-2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet. 2014;384(9945):766-81.

53. Phillips CM. Metabolically healthy obesity: definitions, determinants and clinical implications. Rev Endocr Metab Disord. 2013;14(3):219-27.

54. Roberson LL, Aneni EC, Maziak W, Agatston A, Feldman T, Rouseff M, et al. Beyond BMI: The "Metabolically healthy obese" phenotype & its association with clinical/subclinical cardiovascular disease and all-cause mortality -- a systematic review. BMC Public Health. 2014;14:14.

55. Bluher M. Are metabolically healthy obese individuals really healthy? Eur J Endocrinol. 2014;171(6):R209-19.

56. Pan A, Sun Q, Bernstein AM, Schulze MB, Manson JE, Willett WC, et al. Red meat consumption and risk of type 2 diabetes: 3 cohorts of US adults and an updated meta-analysis. Am J Clin Nutr. 2011;94(4):1088-96.

57. Jannasch F, Kroger J, Schulze MB. Dietary Patterns and Type 2 Diabetes: A Systematic Literature Review and Meta-Analysis of Prospective Studies. J Nutr. 2017;147(6):1174-82.

58. Schwingshackl L, Hoffmann G, Lampousi AM, Knuppel S, Iqbal K, Schwedhelm C, et al. Food groups and risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. Eur J Epidemiol. 2017;32(5):363-75.

59. Fardet A, Boirie Y. Associations between food and beverage groups and major diet-related chronic diseases: an exhaustive review of pooled/meta-analyses and systematic reviews. Nutr Rev. 2014;72(12):741-62.

60. Forouhi NG, Wareham NJ. The EPIC-InterAct Study: A Study of the Interplay between Genetic and Lifestyle Behavioral Factors on the Risk of Type 2 Diabetes in European Populations. Curr Nutr Rep. 2014;3(4):355-63.

61. Maki KC, Phillips AK. Dietary substitutions for refined carbohydrate that show promise for reducing risk of type 2 diabetes in men and women. J Nutr. 2015;145(1):159S-63S.

62. Cespedes EM, Hu FB, Tinker L, Rosner B, Redline S, Garcia L, et al. Multiple Healthful Dietary Patterns and Type 2 Diabetes in the Women's Health Initiative. Am J Epidemiol. 2016;183(7):622-33.

63. Satija A, Bhupathiraju SN, Rimm EB, Spiegelman D, Chiuve SE, Borgi L, et al. Plant-Based Dietary Patterns and Incidence of Type 2 Diabetes in US Men and Women: Results from Three Prospective Cohort Studies. PLoS Med. 2016;13(6):e1002039.

64. Ma Y, He FJ, Yin Y, Hashem KM, MacGregor GA. Gradual reduction of sugar in soft drinks without substitution as a strategy to reduce overweight, obesity, and type 2 diabetes: a modelling study. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2016;4(2):105-14.

65. Lofvenborg JE, Andersson T, Carlsson PO, Dorkhan M, Groop L, Martinell M, et al. Sweetened beverage intake and risk of latent autoimmune diabetes in adults (LADA) and type 2 diabetes. Eur J Endocrinol. 2016;175(6):605-14.

66. Wang M, Yu M, Fang L, Hu RY. Association between sugar-sweetened beverages and type 2 diabetes: A meta-analysis. J Diabetes Investig. 2015;6(3):360-6.

67. Greenwood DC, Threapleton DE, Evans CE, Cleghorn CL, Nykjaer C, Woodhead C, et al. Association between sugar-sweetened and artificially sweetened soft drinks and type 2 diabetes: systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective studies. Br J Nutr. 2014;112(5):725-34.

68. Liu S, Manson JE, Stampfer MJ, Hu FB, Giovannucci E, Colditz GA, et al. A prospective study of whole-grain intake and risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus in US women. Am J Public Health. 2000;90(9):1409-15.

69. Hu FB, van Dam RM, Liu S. Diet and risk of Type II diabetes: the role of types of fat and carbohydrate. Diabetologia. 2001;44(7):805-17.

70. van Dam RM, Willett WC, Rimm EB, Stampfer MJ, Hu FB. Dietary fat and meat intake in relation to risk of type 2 diabetes in men. Diabetes Care. 2002;25(3):417-24.

71. French SA, Lin BH, Guthrie JF. National trends in soft drink consumption among children and adolescents age 6 to 17 years: prevalence, amounts, and sources, 1977/1978 to 1994/1998. J Am Diet Assoc. 2003;103(10):1326-31.

72. Harnack L, Stang J, Story M. Soft drink consumption among US children and adolescents: nutritional consequences. J Am Diet Assoc. 1999;99(4):436-41.

73. InterAct C, Romaguera D, Norat T, Wark PA, Vergnaud AC, Schulze MB, et al. Consumption of sweet beverages and type 2 diabetes incidence in European adults: results from EPIC-InterAct. Diabetologia. 2013;56(7):1520-30.

74. Nettleton JA, Lutsey PL, Wang Y, Lima JA, Michos ED, Jacobs DR, Jr. Diet soda intake and risk of incident metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes in the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). Diabetes Care. 2009;32(4):688-94.

75. de Koning L, Malik VS, Rimm EB, Willett WC, Hu FB. Sugar-sweetened and artificially sweetened beverage consumption and risk of type 2 diabetes in men. Am J Clin Nutr. 2011;93(6):1321-7.

76. Sakurai M, Nakamura K, Miura K, Takamura T, Yoshita K, Nagasawa SY, et al. Sugar-sweetened beverage and diet soda consumption and the 7-year risk for type 2 diabetes mellitus in middle-aged Japanese men. Eur J Nutr. 2014;53(4):1137-8.

77. Duffey KJ, Steffen LM, Van Horn L, Jacobs DR, Jr., Popkin BM. Dietary patterns matter: diet beverages and cardiometabolic risks in the longitudinal Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults (CARDIA) Study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2012;95(4):909-15.

78. Imamura F, O'Connor L, Ye Z, Mursu J, Hayashino Y, Bhupathiraju SN, et al. Consumption of sugar sweetened beverages, artificially sweetened beverages, and fruit juice and incidence of type 2 diabetes: systematic review, meta-analysis, and estimation of population attributable fraction. BMJ. 2015;351:h3576.

79. Aune D, Norat T, Leitzmann M, Tonstad S, Vatten LJ. Physical activity and the risk of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis. Eur J Epidemiol. 2015;30(7):529-42.

80. DiPietro L, Gribok A, Stevens MS, Hamm LF, Rumpler W. Three 15-min bouts of moderate postmeal walking significantly improves 24-h glycemic control in older people at risk for impaired glucose tolerance. Diabetes Care. 2013;36(10):3262-8.

81. Parker L, Shaw CS, Banting L, Levinger I, Hill KM, McAinch AJ, et al. Acute Low-Volume High-Intensity Interval Exercise and Continuous Moderate-Intensity Exercise Elicit a Similar Improvement in 24-h Glycemic Control in Overweight and Obese Adults. Front Physiol. 2016;7:661.

82. Yates T, Henson J, Edwardson C, Dunstan D, Bodicoat DH, Khunti K, et al. Objectively measured sedentary time and associations with insulin sensitivity:

Importance of reallocating sedentary time to physical activity. Prev Med. 2015;76:79-83.

83. Hamilton MT, Hamilton DG, Zderic TW. Sedentary behavior as a mediator of type 2 diabetes. Med Sport Sci. 2014;60:11-26.

84. de Rezende LF, Rey-Lopez JP, Matsudo VK, do Carmo Luiz O. Sedentary behavior and health outcomes among older adults: a systematic review. BMC Public Health. 2014;14:333.

85. Rockette-Wagner B, Edelstein S, Venditti EM, Reddy D, Bray GA, Carrion-Petersen ML, et al. The impact of lifestyle intervention on sedentary time in individuals at high risk of diabetes. Diabetologia. 2015;58(6):1198-202.

86. Biswas A, Oh PI, Faulkner GE, Bajaj RR, Silver MA, Mitchell MS, et al. Sedentary time and its association with risk for disease incidence, mortality, and hospitalization in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Intern Med. 2015;162(2):123-32.

87. Dempsey PC, Owen N, Yates TE, Kingwell BA, Dunstan DW. Sitting Less and Moving More: Improved Glycaemic Control for Type 2 Diabetes Prevention and Management. Curr Diab Rep. 2016;16(11):114.

88. Willi C, Bodenmann P, Ghali WA, Faris PD, Cornuz J. Active smoking and the risk of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA. 2007;298(22):2654-64.

89. Pan A, Wang Y, Talaei M, Hu FB, Wu T. Relation of active, passive, and quitting smoking with incident type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2015;3(12):958-67.

90. Zhang L, Curhan GC, Hu FB, Rimm EB, Forman JP. Association between passive and active smoking and incident type 2 diabetes in women. Diabetes Care. 2011;34(4):892-7.

91. Boudina S, Abel ED. Diabetic cardiomyopathy, causes and effects. Rev Endocr Metab Disord. 2010;11(1):31-9.

92. Rubler S, Dlugash J, Yuceoglu YZ, Kumral T, Branwood AW, Grishman A. New type of cardiomyopathy associated with diabetic glomerulosclerosis. Am J Cardiol. 1972;30(6):595-602.

93. Beckman JA, Creager MA, Libby P. Diabetes and atherosclerosis: epidemiology, pathophysiology, and management. JAMA. 2002;287(19):2570-81.

94. Waddingham MT, Edgley AJ, Tsuchimochi H, Kelly DJ, Shirai M, Pearson JT. Contractile apparatus dysfunction early in the pathophysiology of diabetic cardiomyopathy. World J Diabetes. 2015;6(7):943-60.

95. Varga ZV, Giricz Z, Liaudet L, Hasko G, Ferdinandy P, Pacher P. Interplay of oxidative, nitrosative/nitrative stress, inflammation, cell death and autophagy in diabetic cardiomyopathy. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2015;1852(2):232-42.

96. Neubauer S. The failing heart--an engine out of fuel. N Engl J Med. 2007;356(11):1140-51.

97. Heather LC, Clarke K. Metabolism, hypoxia and the diabetic heart. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2011;50(4):598-605.

98. Aasum E, Hafstad AD, Severson DL, Larsen TS. Age-dependent changes in metabolism, contractile function, and ischemic sensitivity in hearts from db/db mice. Diabetes. 2003;52(2):434-41.

99. Belke DD, Larsen TS, Gibbs EM, Severson DL. Altered metabolism causes cardiac dysfunction in perfused hearts from diabetic (db/db) mice. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2000;279(5):E1104-13.

100. Peterson LR, Herrero P, Schechtman KB, Racette SB, Waggoner AD, Kisrieva-Ware Z, et al. Effect of obesity and insulin resistance on myocardial substrate metabolism and efficiency in young women. Circulation. 2004;109(18):2191-6.

101. Finck BN, Lehman JJ, Leone TC, Welch MJ, Bennett MJ, Kovacs A, et al. The cardiac phenotype induced by PPARalpha overexpression mimics that caused by diabetes mellitus. J Clin Invest. 2002;109(1):121-30.

102. An D, Rodrigues B. Role of changes in cardiac metabolism in development of diabetic cardiomyopathy. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2006;291(4):H1489-506.

103. Duncan JG. Mitochondrial dysfunction in diabetic cardiomyopathy. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2011;1813(7):1351-9.

104. Bugger H, Abel ED. Molecular mechanisms for myocardial mitochondrial dysfunction in the metabolic syndrome. Clin Sci (Lond). 2008;114(3):195-210.

105. Atkinson LL, Kozak R, Kelly SE, Onay Besikci A, Russell JC, Lopaschuk GD. Potential mechanisms and consequences of cardiac triacylglycerol accumulation in insulin-resistant rats. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2003;284(5):E923-30.

106. Jia G, Whaley-Connell A, Sowers JR. Diabetic cardiomyopathy: a hyperglycaemia- and insulin-resistance-induced heart disease. Diabetologia. 2018;61(1):21-8.

107. Hafstad AD, Boardman N, Aasum E. How exercise may amend metabolic disturbances in diabetic cardiomyopathy. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2015;22(17):1587-605.

108. Chong CR, Clarke K, Levelt E. Metabolic Remodeling in Diabetic Cardiomyopathy. Cardiovasc Res. 2017.

109. Jia G, DeMarco VG, Sowers JR. Insulin resistance and hyperinsulinaemia in diabetic cardiomyopathy. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2016;12(3):144-53.

110. Dhalla NS, Pierce GN, Innes IR, Beamish RE. Pathogenesis of cardiac dysfunction in diabetes mellitus. Can J Cardiol. 1985;1(4):263-81.

111. Jia G, Habibi J, Bostick BP, Ma L, DeMarco VG, Aroor AR, et al. Uric acid promotes left ventricular diastolic dysfunction in mice fed a Western diet. Hypertension. 2015;65(3):531-9.

112. Kim JA, Jang HJ, Martinez-Lemus LA, Sowers JR. Activation of mTOR/p70S6 kinase by ANG II inhibits insulin-stimulated endothelial nitric oxide synthase and vasodilation. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2012;302(2):E201-8.

113. Saha AK, Xu XJ, Balon TW, Brandon A, Kraegen EW, Ruderman NB. Insulin resistance due to nutrient excess: is it a consequence of AMPK downregulation? Cell Cycle. 2011;10(20):3447-51.

114. Bertrand L, Horman S, Beauloye C, Vanoverschelde JL. Insulin signalling in the heart. Cardiovasc Res. 2008;79(2):238-48.

115. Jia G, Habibi J, DeMarco VG, Martinez-Lemus LA, Ma L, Whaley-Connell AT, et al. Endothelial Mineralocorticoid Receptor Deletion Prevents Diet-Induced Cardiac Diastolic Dysfunction in Females. Hypertension. 2015;66(6):1159-67.

116. Gray S, Kim JK. New insights into insulin resistance in the diabetic heart. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2011;22(10):394-403.

117. Sowers JR. Role of TRIB3 in diabetic and overnutrition-induced atherosclerosis. Diabetes. 2012;61(2):265-6.

118. Pulakat L, Aroor AR, Gul R, Sowers JR. Cardiac insulin resistance and microRNA modulators. Exp Diabetes Res. 2012;2012:654904.

119. Zhang J, Gao Z, Yin J, Quon MJ, Ye J. S6K directly phosphorylates IRS-1 on Ser-270 to promote insulin resistance in response to TNF-(alpha) signaling through IKK2. J Biol Chem. 2008;283(51):35375-82.

120. Sheng CH, Di J, Jin Y, Zhang YC, Wu M, Sun Y, et al. Resistin is expressed in human hepatocytes and induces insulin resistance. Endocrine. 2008;33(2):135-43.

121. Whaley-Connell A, McCullough PA, Sowers JR. The role of oxidative stress in the metabolic syndrome. Rev Cardiovasc Med. 2011;12(1):21-9.

122. Putnam K, Shoemaker R, Yiannikouris F, Cassis LA. The renin-angiotensin system: a target of and contributor to dyslipidemias, altered glucose homeostasis, and hypertension of the metabolic syndrome. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2012;302(6):H1219-30.

123. Rocha VZ, Folco EJ. Inflammatory concepts of obesity. Int J Inflam. 2011;2011:529061.

124. Domenighetti AA, Danes VR, Curl CL, Favaloro JM, Proietto J, Delbridge LM. Targeted GLUT-4 deficiency in the heart induces cardiomyocyte hypertrophy and impaired contractility linked with Ca(2+) and proton flux dysregulation. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2010;48(4):663-72.

125. Falcao-Pires I, Leite-Moreira AF. Diabetic cardiomyopathy: understanding the molecular and cellular basis to progress in diagnosis and treatment. Heart Fail Rev. 2012;17(3):325-44.

126. Drummond GR, Selemidis S, Griendling KK, Sobey CG. Combating oxidative stress in vascular disease: NADPH oxidases as therapeutic targets. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2011;10(6):453-71.

127. Bedard K, Krause KH. The NOX family of ROS-generating NADPH oxidases: physiology and pathophysiology. Physiol Rev. 2007;87(1):245-313.

128. Aroor AR, Mandavia CH, Sowers JR. Insulin resistance and heart failure: molecular mechanisms. Heart Fail Clin. 2012;8(4):609-17.

129. Deluyker D, Evens L, Bito V. Advanced glycation end products (AGEs) and cardiovascular dysfunction: focus on high molecular weight AGEs. Amino Acids. 2017;49(9):1535-41.

130. Vlassara H, Striker GE. Advanced glycation endproducts in diabetes and diabetic complications. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am. 2013;42(4):697-719.

131. Hegab Z, Gibbons S, Neyses L, Mamas MA. Role of advanced glycation end products in cardiovascular disease. World J Cardiol. 2012;4(4):90-102.

132. Hartog JW, Voors AA, Bakker SJ, Smit AJ, van Veldhuisen DJ. Advanced glycation end-products (AGEs) and heart failure: pathophysiology and clinical implications. Eur J Heart Fail. 2007;9(12):1146-55.

133. Deluyker D, Ferferieva V, Noben JP, Swennen Q, Bronckaers A, Lambrichts I, et al. Cross-linking versus RAGE: How do high molecular weight advanced glycation products induce cardiac dysfunction? Int J Cardiol. 2016;210:100-8.

134. Goldin A, Beckman JA, Schmidt AM, Creager MA. Advanced glycation end products: sparking the development of diabetic vascular injury. Circulation. 2006;114(6):597-605.

135. Aronson D. Cross-linking of glycated collagen in the pathogenesis of arterial and myocardial stiffening of aging and diabetes. J Hypertens. 2003;21(1):3-12.

136. Bidasee KR, Xu L, Meissner G, Besch HR, Jr. Diketopyridylryanodine has three concentration-dependent effects on the cardiac calcium-release channel/ryanodine receptor. J Biol Chem. 2003;278(16):14237-48.

137. Bidasee KR, Nallani K, Yu Y, Cocklin RR, Zhang Y, Wang M, et al. Chronic diabetes increases advanced glycation end products on cardiac ryanodine receptors/calcium-release channels. Diabetes. 2003;52(7):1825-36.

138. Bidasee KR, Zhang Y, Shao CH, Wang M, Patel KP, Dincer UD, et al. Diabetes increases formation of advanced glycation end products on Sarco(endo)plasmic reticulum Ca2+-ATPase. Diabetes. 2004;53(2):463-73.

139. Nielsen JM, Kristiansen SB, Norregaard R, Andersen CL, Denner L, Nielsen TT, et al. Blockage of receptor for advanced glycation end products prevents development of cardiac dysfunction in db/db type 2 diabetic mice. Eur J Heart Fail. 2009;11(7):638-47.

140. Aleshin A, Ananthakrishnan R, Li Q, Rosario R, Lu Y, Qu W, et al. RAGE modulates myocardial injury consequent to LAD infarction via impact on JNK and STAT signaling in a murine model. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2008;294(4):H1823-32.

141. Bucciarelli LG, Kaneko M, Ananthakrishnan R, Harja E, Lee LK, Hwang YC, et al. Receptor for advanced-glycation end products: key modulator of myocardial ischemic injury. Circulation. 2006;113(9):1226-34.
142. Petrova R, Yamamoto Y, Muraki K, Yonekura H, Sakurai S, Watanabe T, et al. Advanced glycation endproduct-induced calcium handling impairment in mouse cardiac myocytes. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2002;34(10):1425-31.

143. Bucala R, Tracey KJ, Cerami A. Advanced glycosylation products quench nitric oxide and mediate defective endothelium-dependent vasodilatation in experimental diabetes. J Clin Invest. 1991;87(2):432-8.

144. Zhang J, Ren S, Sun D, Shen GX. Influence of glycation on LDL-induced generation of fibrinolytic regulators in vascular endothelial cells. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1998;18(7):1140-8.

145. Eddy AA. Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 and the kidney. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. 2002;283(2):F209-20.

146. Oda T, Jung YO, Kim HS, Cai X, Lopez-Guisa JM, Ikeda Y, et al. PAI-1 deficiency attenuates the fibrogenic response to ureteral obstruction. Kidney Int. 2001;60(2):587-96.

147. Kaikita K, Fogo AB, Ma L, Schoenhard JA, Brown NJ, Vaughan DE. Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 deficiency prevents hypertension and vascular fibrosis in response to long-term nitric oxide synthase inhibition. Circulation. 2001;104(7):839-44.

148. Hattori N, Degen JL, Sisson TH, Liu H, Moore BB, Pandrangi RG, et al. Bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis in fibrinogen-null mice. J Clin Invest. 2000;106(11):1341-50.

149. Eitzman DT, Westrick RJ, Xu Z, Tyson J, Ginsburg D. Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 deficiency protects against atherosclerosis progression in the mouse carotid artery. Blood. 2000;96(13):4212-5.

150. Yarmolinsky J, Bordin Barbieri N, Weinmann T, Ziegelmann PK, Duncan BB, Ines Schmidt M. Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 and type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Sci Rep. 2016;6:17714.

151. Hedrick CC, Thorpe SR, Fu MX, Harper CM, Yoo J, Kim SM, et al. Glycation impairs high-density lipoprotein function. Diabetologia. 2000;43(3):312-20.

152. Iribarren C, Karter AJ, Go AS, Ferrara A, Liu JY, Sidney S, et al. Glycemic control and heart failure among adult patients with diabetes. Circulation. 2001;103(22):2668-73.

153. Elder DH, Singh JS, Levin D, Donnelly LA, Choy AM, George J, et al. Mean HbA1c and mortality in diabetic individuals with heart failure: a population cohort study. Eur J Heart Fail. 2016;18(1):94-102.

154. Zancan P, Sola-Penna M. Regulation of human erythrocyte metabolism by insulin: cellular distribution of 6-phosphofructo-1-kinase and its implication for red blood cell function. Mol Genet Metab. 2005;86(3):401-11.

155. Wilson JE. Isozymes of mammalian hexokinase: structure, subcellular localization and metabolic function. J Exp Biol. 2003;206(Pt 12):2049-57.

156. Garcia M, Pujol A, Ruzo A, Riu E, Ruberte J, Arbos A, et al. Phosphofructo-1-kinase deficiency leads to a severe cardiac and hematological disorder in addition to skeletal muscle glycogenosis. PLoS Genet. 2009;5(8):e1000615.

157. Lunt SY, Vander Heiden MG. Aerobic glycolysis: meeting the metabolic requirements of cell proliferation. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. 2011;27:441-64.

158. Bolanos JP, Almeida A, Moncada S. Glycolysis: a bioenergetic or a survival pathway? Trends Biochem Sci. 2010;35(3):145-9.

159. Brahma MK, Pepin ME, Wende AR. My Sweetheart Is Broken: Role of Glucose in Diabetic Cardiomyopathy. Diabetes Metab J. 2017;41(1):1-9.

160. Bendall JK, Damy T, Ratajczak P, Loyer X, Monceau V, Marty I, et al. Role of myocardial neuronal nitric oxide synthase-derived nitric oxide in betaadrenergic hyporesponsiveness after myocardial infarction-induced heart failure in rat. Circulation. 2004;110(16):2368-75.

161. Kolwicz SC, Jr., Tian R. Glucose metabolism and cardiac hypertrophy. Cardiovasc Res. 2011;90(2):194-201.

162. Hawkins M, Barzilai N, Liu R, Hu M, Chen W, Rossetti L. Role of the glucosamine pathway in fat-induced insulin resistance. J Clin Invest. 1997;99(9):2173-82.

163. Marshall S, Bacote V, Traxinger RR. Discovery of a metabolic pathway mediating glucose-induced desensitization of the glucose transport system. Role of hexosamine biosynthesis in the induction of insulin resistance. J Biol Chem. 1991;266(8):4706-12.

164. Dassanayaka S, Jones SP. O-GlcNAc and the cardiovascular system. Pharmacol Ther. 2014;142(1):62-71.

165. Wang Z, Park K, Comer F, Hsieh-Wilson LC, Saudek CD, Hart GW. Sitespecific GlcNAcylation of human erythrocyte proteins: potential biomarker(s) for diabetes. Diabetes. 2009;58(2):309-17.

166. Marsh SA, Dell'italia LJ, Chatham JC. Interaction of diet and diabetes on cardiovascular function in rats. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2009;296(2):H282-92.

167. Fulop N, Mason MM, Dutta K, Wang P, Davidoff AJ, Marchase RB, et al. Impact of Type 2 diabetes and aging on cardiomyocyte function and O-linked Nacetylglucosamine levels in the heart. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2007;292(4):C1370-8.

168. Buse MG, Robinson KA, Marshall BA, Hresko RC, Mueckler MM. Enhanced O-GlcNAc protein modification is associated with insulin resistance in GLUT1overexpressing muscles. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2002;283(2):E241-50.

169. Akimoto Y, Kreppel LK, Hirano H, Hart GW. Hyperglycemia and the O-GlcNAc transferase in rat aortic smooth muscle cells: elevated expression and altered patterns of O-GlcNAcylation. Arch Biochem Biophys. 2001;389(2):166-75. 170. Akimoto Y, Kreppel LK, Hirano H, Hart GW. Increased O-GlcNAc transferase in pancreas of rats with streptozotocin-induced diabetes. Diabetologia. 2000;43(10):1239-47.

171. Hu Y, Suarez J, Fricovsky E, Wang H, Scott BT, Trauger SA, et al. Increased enzymatic O-GlcNAcylation of mitochondrial proteins impairs mitochondrial function in cardiac myocytes exposed to high glucose. J Biol Chem. 2009;284(1):547-55.

172. Hu Y, Belke D, Suarez J, Swanson E, Clark R, Hoshijima M, et al. Adenovirus-mediated overexpression of O-GlcNAcase improves contractile function in the diabetic heart. Circ Res. 2005;96(9):1006-13.

173. Yokoe S, Asahi M, Takeda T, Otsu K, Taniguchi N, Miyoshi E, et al. Inhibition of phospholamban phosphorylation by O-GlcNAcylation: implications for diabetic cardiomyopathy. Glycobiology. 2010;20(10):1217-26.

174. Kohlgruber A, Lynch L. Adipose tissue inflammation in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes. Curr Diab Rep. 2015;15(11):92.

175. Nishimura S, Manabe I, Nagai R. Adipose tissue inflammation in obesity and metabolic syndrome. Discov Med. 2009;8(41):55-60.

176. DeBoer MD. Obesity, systemic inflammation, and increased risk for cardiovascular disease and diabetes among adolescents: a need for screening tools to target interventions. Nutrition. 2013;29(2):379-86.

177. Hoogwerf BJ, Sferra J, Donley BG. Diabetes mellitus--overview. Foot Ankle Clin. 2006;11(4):703-15.

178. Bugger H, Abel ED. Molecular mechanisms of diabetic cardiomyopathy. Diabetologia. 2014;57(4):660-71.

179. Pickering RJ, Rosado CJ, Sharma A, Buksh S, Tate M, de Haan JB. Recent novel approaches to limit oxidative stress and inflammation in diabetic complications. Clin Transl Immunology. 2018;7(4):e1016.

180. Suryavanshi SV, Kulkarni YA. NF-kappabeta: A Potential Target in the Management of Vascular Complications of Diabetes. Front Pharmacol. 2017;8:798.

181. Fuentes-Antras J, Ioan AM, Tunon J, Egido J, Lorenzo O. Activation of tolllike receptors and inflammasome complexes in the diabetic cardiomyopathyassociated inflammation. Int J Endocrinol. 2014;2014:847827.

182. Lorenzo O, Picatoste B, Ares-Carrasco S, Ramirez E, Egido J, Tunon J. Potential role of nuclear factor kappaB in diabetic cardiomyopathy. Mediators Inflamm. 2011;2011:652097.

183. Basta G, Schmidt AM, De Caterina R. Advanced glycation end products and vascular inflammation: implications for accelerated atherosclerosis in diabetes. Cardiovasc Res. 2004;63(4):582-92.

184. Giacchetti G, Sechi LA, Rilli S, Carey RM. The renin-angiotensinaldosterone system, glucose metabolism and diabetes. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2005;16(3):120-6.

185. Kawano S, Kubota T, Monden Y, Kawamura N, Tsutsui H, Takeshita A, et al. Blockade of NF-kappaB ameliorates myocardial hypertrophy in response to chronic infusion of angiotensin II. Cardiovasc Res. 2005;67(4):689-98.

186. Endoh M. Signal transduction and Ca2+ signaling in intact myocardium. J Pharmacol Sci. 2006;100(5):525-37.

187. Yilmaz S, Canpolat U, Aydogdu S, Abboud HE. Diabetic Cardiomyopathy; Summary of 41 Years. Korean Circ J. 2015;45(4):266-72.

188. Boudina S, Abel ED. Diabetic cardiomyopathy revisited. Circulation. 2007;115(25):3213-23.

189. Battiprolu PK, Gillette TG, Wang ZV, Lavandero S, Hill JA. Diabetic Cardiomyopathy: Mechanisms and Therapeutic Targets. Drug Discov Today Dis Mech. 2010;7(2):e135-e43.

190. Malhotra A, Sanghi V. Regulation of contractile proteins in diabetic heart. Cardiovasc Res. 1997;34(1):34-40.

191. Jweied EE, McKinney RD, Walker LA, Brodsky I, Geha AS, Massad MG, et al. Depressed cardiac myofilament function in human diabetes mellitus. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2005;289(6):H2478-83.

192. Goyal BR, Mehta AA. Diabetic cardiomyopathy: pathophysiological mechanisms and cardiac dysfuntion. Hum Exp Toxicol. 2013;32(6):571-90.

193. Chen S, Evans T, Mukherjee K, Karmazyn M, Chakrabarti S. Diabetesinduced myocardial structural changes: role of endothelin-1 and its receptors. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2000;32(9):1621-9.

194. Wold LE, Ceylan-Isik AF, Ren J. Oxidative stress and stress signaling: menace of diabetic cardiomyopathy. Acta Pharmacol Sin. 2005;26(8):908-17.

195. Poornima IG, Parikh P, Shannon RP. Diabetic cardiomyopathy: the search for a unifying hypothesis. Circ Res. 2006;98(5):596-605.

196. Bell DS. Diabetic cardiomyopathy. A unique entity or a complication of coronary artery disease? Diabetes Care. 1995;18(5):708-14.

197. Kristal BS, Jackson CT, Chung HY, Matsuda M, Nguyen HD, Yu BP. Defects at center P underlie diabetes-associated mitochondrial dysfunction. Free Radic Biol Med. 1997;22(5):823-33.

198. Nishikawa T, Edelstein D, Du XL, Yamagishi S, Matsumura T, Kaneda Y, et al. Normalizing mitochondrial superoxide production blocks three pathways of hyperglycaemic damage. Nature. 2000;404(6779):787-90.

199. Shen X, Ye G, Metreveli NS, Epstein PN. Cardiomyocyte defects in diabetic models and protection with cardiac-targeted transgenes. Methods Mol Med. 2005;112:379-88.

200. Shen X, Zheng S, Thongboonkerd V, Xu M, Pierce WM, Jr., Klein JB, et al. Cardiac mitochondrial damage and biogenesis in a chronic model of type 1 diabetes. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2004;287(5):E896-905.

201. Xu X, Hua Y, Nair S, Zhang Y, Ren J. Akt2 knockout preserves cardiac function in high-fat diet-induced obesity by rescuing cardiac autophagosome maturation. J Mol Cell Biol. 2013;5(1):61-3.

202. Guo R, Zhang Y, Turdi S, Ren J. Adiponectin knockout accentuates high fat diet-induced obesity and cardiac dysfunction: role of autophagy. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2013;1832(8):1136-48.

203. Sciarretta S, Zhai P, Shao D, Maejima Y, Robbins J, Volpe M, et al. Rheb is a critical regulator of autophagy during myocardial ischemia: pathophysiological implications in obesity and metabolic syndrome. Circulation. 2012;125(9):1134-46.

204. He C, Bassik MC, Moresi V, Sun K, Wei Y, Zou Z, et al. Exercise-induced BCL2-regulated autophagy is required for muscle glucose homeostasis. Nature. 2012;481(7382):511-5.

205. Jia G, Sowers JR. Autophagy: a housekeeper in cardiorenal metabolic health and disease. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2015;1852(2):219-24.

206. Falskov B, Hermann TS, Rask-Madsen C, Major-Pedersen A, Christiansen B, Raunso J, et al. The effect of chronic heart failure and type 2 diabetes on insulinstimulated endothelial function is similar and additive. Vasc Health Risk Manag. 2011;7:771-6.

207. Wensley I, Salaveria K, Bulmer AC, Donner DG, du Toit EF. Myocardial structure, function and ischaemic tolerance in a rodent model of obesity with insulin resistance. Exp Physiol. 2013;98(11):1552-64.

208. Jia G, Aroor AR, Martinez-Lemus LA, Sowers JR. Overnutrition, mTOR signaling, and cardiovascular diseases. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2014;307(10):R1198-206.

209. Halse R, Fryer LG, McCormack JG, Carling D, Yeaman SJ. Regulation of glycogen synthase by glucose and glycogen: a possible role for AMP-activated protein kinase. Diabetes. 2003;52(1):9-15.

210. Jorgensen SB, Nielsen JN, Birk JB, Olsen GS, Viollet B, Andreelli F, et al. The alpha2-5'AMP-activated protein kinase is a site 2 glycogen synthase kinase in skeletal muscle and is responsive to glucose loading. Diabetes. 2004;53(12):3074-81.

211. Lee CT, Ussher JR, Mohammad A, Lam A, Lopaschuk GD. 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase increases glucose uptake independent of GLUT4 translocation in cardiac myocytes. Can J Physiol Pharmacol. 2014;92(4):307-14.

212. Russell RR, 3rd, Bergeron R, Shulman GI, Young LH. Translocation of myocardial GLUT-4 and increased glucose uptake through activation of AMPK by AICAR. Am J Physiol. 1999;277(2):H643-9.

213. Palomer X, Salvado L, Barroso E, Vazquez-Carrera M. An overview of the crosstalk between inflammatory processes and metabolic dysregulation during diabetic cardiomyopathy. Int J Cardiol. 2013;168(4):3160-72.

214. Corona JC, Duchen MR. PPARgamma and PGC-1alpha as therapeutic targets in Parkinson's. Neurochem Res. 2015;40(2):308-16.

215. Wang J, Song Y, Wang Q, Kralik PM, Epstein PN. Causes and characteristics of diabetic cardiomyopathy. Rev Diabet Stud. 2006;3(3):108-17.

216. Liu J, Shen W, Zhao B, Wang Y, Wertz K, Weber P, et al. Targeting mitochondrial biogenesis for preventing and treating insulin resistance in diabetes and obesity: Hope from natural mitochondrial nutrients. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2009;61(14):1343-52.

217. Yi CH, Vakifahmetoglu-Norberg H, Yuan J. Integration of apoptosis and metabolism. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol. 2011;76:375-87.

218. Kayama Y, Raaz U, Jagger A, Adam M, Schellinger IN, Sakamoto M, et al. Diabetic Cardiovascular Disease Induced by Oxidative Stress. Int J Mol Sci. 2015;16(10):25234-63.

219. Suzuki H, Kayama Y, Sakamoto M, Iuchi H, Shimizu I, Yoshino T, et al. Arachidonate 12/15-lipoxygenase-induced inflammation and oxidative stress are involved in the development of diabetic cardiomyopathy. Diabetes. 2015;64(2):618-30.

220. Kowluru RA, Mishra M. Oxidative stress, mitochondrial damage and diabetic retinopathy. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2015;1852(11):2474-83.

221. Brownlee M. The pathobiology of diabetic complications: a unifying mechanism. Diabetes. 2005;54(6):1615-25.

222. Stadtman ER. Protein oxidation and aging. Science. 1992;257(5074):1220-4.

223. Li JM, Gall NP, Grieve DJ, Chen M, Shah AM. Activation of NADPH oxidase during progression of cardiac hypertrophy to failure. Hypertension. 2002;40(4):477-84.

224. Pickup JC, Chusney GD, Thomas SM, Burt D. Plasma interleukin-6, tumour necrosis factor alpha and blood cytokine production in type 2 diabetes. Life Sci. 2000;67(3):291-300.

225. Eguchi K, Boden-Albala B, Jin Z, Rundek T, Sacco RL, Homma S, et al. Association between diabetes mellitus and left ventricular hypertrophy in a multiethnic population. Am J Cardiol. 2008;101(12):1787-91.

226. Nakamura K, Fushimi K, Kouchi H, Mihara K, Miyazaki M, Ohe T, et al. Inhibitory effects of antioxidants on neonatal rat cardiac myocyte hypertrophy induced by tumor necrosis factor-alpha and angiotensin II. Circulation. 1998;98(8):794-9.

227. Fiordaliso F, Cuccovillo I, Bianchi R, Bai A, Doni M, Salio M, et al. Cardiovascular oxidative stress is reduced by an ACE inhibitor in a rat model of streptozotocin-induced diabetes. Life Sci. 2006;79(2):121-9.

228. Matsusaka H, Kinugawa S, Ide T, Matsushima S, Shiomi T, Kubota T, et al. Angiotensin II type 1 receptor blocker attenuates exacerbated left ventricular remodeling and failure in diabetes-associated myocardial infarction. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 2006;48(3):95-102.

229. Candido R, Allen TJ, Lassila M, Cao Z, Thallas V, Cooper ME, et al. Irbesartan but not amlodipine suppresses diabetes-associated atherosclerosis. Circulation. 2004;109(12):1536-42.

230. Candido R, Jandeleit-Dahm KA, Cao Z, Nesteroff SP, Burns WC, Twigg SM, et al. Prevention of accelerated atherosclerosis by angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition in diabetic apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Circulation. 2002;106(2):246-53.

231. Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation Study I, Yusuf S, Sleight P, Pogue J, Bosch J, Davies R, et al. Effects of an angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibitor, ramipril, on cardiovascular events in high-risk patients. N Engl J Med. 2000;342(3):145-53.

232. Miller JA, Floras JS, Zinman B, Skorecki KL, Logan AG. Effect of hyperglycaemia on arterial pressure, plasma renin activity and renal function in early diabetes. Clin Sci (Lond). 1996;90(3):189-95.

233. Frustaci A, Kajstura J, Chimenti C, Jakoniuk I, Leri A, Maseri A, et al. Myocardial cell death in human diabetes. Circ Res. 2000;87(12):1123-32. 234. Tang R, Li Q, Lv L, Dai H, Zheng M, Ma K, et al. Angiotensin II mediates the high-glucose-induced endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition in human aortic endothelial cells. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2010;9:31.

235. Singh VP, Baker KM, Kumar R. Activation of the intracellular reninangiotensin system in cardiac fibroblasts by high glucose: role in extracellular matrix production. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2008;294(4):H1675-84.

236. Singh VP, Le B, Bhat VB, Baker KM, Kumar R. High-glucose-induced regulation of intracellular ANG II synthesis and nuclear redistribution in cardiac myocytes. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2007;293(2):H939-48.

237. Fiordaliso F, Leri A, Cesselli D, Limana F, Safai B, Nadal-Ginard B, et al. Hyperglycemia activates p53 and p53-regulated genes leading to myocyte cell death. Diabetes. 2001;50(10):2363-75.

238. Singh VP, Le B, Khode R, Baker KM, Kumar R. Intracellular angiotensin II production in diabetic rats is correlated with cardiomyocyte apoptosis, oxidative stress, and cardiac fibrosis. Diabetes. 2008;57(12):3297-306.

239. Arun KH, Kaul CL, Ramarao P. High glucose concentration augments angiotensin II mediated contraction via AT1 receptors in rat thoracic aorta. Pharmacol Res. 2004;50(6):561-8.

240. Natarajan R, Scott S, Bai W, Yerneni KK, Nadler J. Angiotensin II signaling in vascular smooth muscle cells under high glucose conditions. Hypertension. 1999;33(1 Pt 2):378-84.

241. Mandavia CH, Aroor AR, Demarco VG, Sowers JR. Molecular and metabolic mechanisms of cardiac dysfunction in diabetes. Life Sci. 2013;92(11):601-8.

242. Gurantz D, Cowling RT, Villarreal FJ, Greenberg BH. Tumor necrosis factoralpha upregulates angiotensin II type 1 receptors on cardiac fibroblasts. Circ Res. 1999;85(3):272-9.

243. Nickenig G, Baumer AT, Temur Y, Kebben D, Jockenhovel F, Bohm M. Statin-sensitive dysregulated AT1 receptor function and density in hypercholesterolemic men. Circulation. 1999;100(21):2131-4.

244. Nickenig G, Jung O, Strehlow K, Zolk O, Linz W, Scholkens BA, et al. Hypercholesterolemia is associated with enhanced angiotensin AT1-receptor expression. Am J Physiol. 1997;272(6 Pt 2):H2701-7. 245. Thomas MC, Tikellis C, Burns WM, Bialkowski K, Cao Z, Coughlan MT, et al. Interactions between renin angiotensin system and advanced glycation in the kidney. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2005;16(10):2976-84.

246. Tikellis C, Pickering R, Tsorotes D, Du XJ, Kiriazis H, Nguyen-Huu TP, et al. Interaction of diabetes and ACE2 in the pathogenesis of cardiovascular disease in experimental diabetes. Clin Sci (Lond). 2012;123(8):519-29.

247. Wilson DM, Luetscher JA. Plasma prorenin activity and complications in children with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med. 1990;323(16):1101-6.

248. Cattadori G, Segurini C, Picozzi A, Padeletti L, Anza C. Exercise and heart failure: an update. ESC Heart Fail. 2018;5(2):222-32.

249. Medicine ACoS. ACSM's Guidelines for Exercise Testing and Prescription. 10 ed2016.

250. O'Donovan G, Blazevich AJ, Boreham C, Cooper AR, Crank H, Ekelund U, et al. The ABC of Physical Activity for Health: a consensus statement from the British Association of Sport and Exercise Sciences. J Sports Sci. 2010;28(6):573-91.

251. Garber CE, Blissmer B, Deschenes MR, Franklin BA, Lamonte MJ, Lee IM, et al. American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Quantity and quality of exercise for developing and maintaining cardiorespiratory, musculoskeletal, and neuromotor fitness in apparently healthy adults: guidance for prescribing exercise. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2011;43(7):1334-59.

252. American Diabetes A. Standards of medical care in diabetes--2010. Diabetes Care. 2010;33 Suppl 1:S11-61.

253. Roxburgh BH, Nolan PB, Weatherwax RM, Dalleck LC. Is moderate intensity exercise training combined with high intensity interval training more effective at improving cardiorespiratory fitness than moderate intensity exercise training alone? J Sports Sci Med. 2014;13(3):702-7.

254. Fuchsjager-Mayrl G, Pleiner J, Wiesinger GF, Sieder AE, Quittan M, Nuhr MJ, et al. Exercise training improves vascular endothelial function in patients with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2002;25(10):1795-801.

255. Garza MA, Wason EA, Zhang JQ. Cardiac remodeling and physical training post myocardial infarction. World J Cardiol. 2015;7(2):52-64.

256. Balducci S, Sacchetti M, Haxhi J, Orlando G, D'Errico V, Fallucca S, et al. Physical exercise as therapy for type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2014;30 Suppl 1:13-23.

257. Kirwan JP, Sacks J, Nieuwoudt S. The essential role of exercise in the management of type 2 diabetes. Cleve Clin J Med. 2017;84(7 Suppl 1):S15-S21.
258. Colberg SR, Sigal RJ, Yardley JE, Riddell MC, Dunstan DW, Dempsey PC, et al. Physical Activity/Exercise and Diabetes: A Position Statement of the American Diabetes Association. Diabetes Care. 2016;39(11):2065-79.

259. Sluik D, Buijsse B, Muckelbauer R, Kaaks R, Teucher B, Johnsen NF, et al. Physical Activity and Mortality in Individuals With Diabetes Mellitus: A Prospective Study and Meta-analysis. Arch Intern Med. 2012;172(17):1285-95.

260. Kadoglou NP, Iliadis F, Angelopoulou N, Perrea D, Ampatzidis G, Liapis CD, et al. The anti-inflammatory effects of exercise training in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil. 2007;14(6):837-43.

261. Boule NG, Kenny GP, Haddad E, Wells GA, Sigal RJ. Meta-analysis of the effect of structured exercise training on cardiorespiratory fitness in Type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetologia. 2003;46(8):1071-81.

262. Zanuso S, Jimenez A, Pugliese G, Corigliano G, Balducci S. Exercise for the management of type 2 diabetes: a review of the evidence. Acta Diabetol. 2010;47(1):15-22.

263. Umpierre D, Ribeiro PA, Kramer CK, Leitao CB, Zucatti AT, Azevedo MJ, et al. Physical activity advice only or structured exercise training and association with HbA1c levels in type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA. 2011;305(17):1790-9.

264. Jenkins DW, Jenks A. Exercise and Diabetes: A Narrative Review. J Foot Ankle Surg. 2017;56(5):968-74.

265. Delevatti RS, Bracht CG, Lisboa SDC, Costa RR, Marson EC, Netto N, et al. The Role of Aerobic Training Variables Progression on Glycemic Control of Patients with Type 2 Diabetes: a Systematic Review with Meta-analysis. Sports Med Open. 2019;5(1):22.

266. American Diabetes A. 4. Lifestyle Management: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes-2018. Diabetes Care. 2018;41(Suppl 1):S38-S50.

267. Gordon BA, Benson AC, Bird SR, Fraser SF. Resistance training improves metabolic health in type 2 diabetes: a systematic review. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2009;83(2):157-75.

268. Dunstan DW, Puddey IB, Beilin LJ, Burke V, Morton AR, Stanton KG. Effects of a short-term circuit weight training program on glycaemic control in NIDDM. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 1998;40(1):53-61.

269. Dunstan DW, Daly RM, Owen N, Jolley D, De Courten M, Shaw J, et al. High-intensity resistance training improves glycemic control in older patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2002;25(10):1729-36.

270. Castaneda C, Layne JE, Munoz-Orians L, Gordon PL, Walsmith J, Foldvari M, et al. A randomized controlled trial of resistance exercise training to improve glycemic control in older adults with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2002;25(12):2335-41.

271. Sigal RJ, Kenny GP, Wasserman DH, Castaneda-Sceppa C, White RD. Physical activity/exercise and type 2 diabetes: a consensus statement from the American Diabetes Association. Diabetes Care. 2006;29(6):1433-8.

272. Schwingshackl L, Missbach B, Dias S, Konig J, Hoffmann G. Impact of different training modalities on glycaemic control and blood lipids in patients with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Diabetologia. 2014;57(9):1789-97.

273. Snowling NJ, Hopkins WG. Effects of different modes of exercise training on glucose control and risk factors for complications in type 2 diabetic patients: a meta-analysis. Diabetes Care. 2006;29(11):2518-27.

274. Balducci S, Leonetti F, Di Mario U, Fallucca F. Is a long-term aerobic plus resistance training program feasible for and effective on metabolic profiles in type 2 diabetic patients? Diabetes Care. 2004;27(3):841-2.

275. Cuff DJ, Meneilly GS, Martin A, Ignaszewski A, Tildesley HD, Frohlich JJ. Effective exercise modality to reduce insulin resistance in women with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2003;26(11):2977-82.

276. DB Z, P L, RO B, E B. Braunwald's Heart Disease. A Textbook of Cardiovascular Medicine. 1980;1.

277. McDonald CD, Burch GE, Walsh JJ. Prolonged bed rest in the treatment of idiopathic cardiomyopathy. Am J Med. 1972;52(1):41-50.

278. Sullivan MJ, Higginbotham MB, Cobb FR. Exercise training in patients with severe left ventricular dysfunction. Hemodynamic and metabolic effects. Circulation. 1988;78(3):506-15.

279. Doukky R, Mangla A, Ibrahim Z, Poulin MF, Avery E, Collado FM, et al. Impact of Physical Inactivity on Mortality in Patients With Heart Failure. Am J Cardiol. 2016;117(7):1135-43.

280. Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Anker SD, Bueno H, Cleland JGF, Coats AJS, et al. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Acute and Chronic Heart Failure. Rev Esp Cardiol (Engl Ed). 2016;69(12):1167.

281. Fleg JL, Cooper LS, Borlaug BA, Haykowsky MJ, Kraus WE, Levine BD, et al. Exercise training as therapy for heart failure: current status and future directions. Circ Heart Fail. 2015;8(1):209-20.

282. Piepoli MF, Binno S, Corra U, Seferovic P, Conraads V, Jaarsma T, et al. ExtraHF survey: the first European survey on implementation of exercise training in heart failure patients. Eur J Heart Fail. 2015;17(6):631-8.

283. Phillips SA, Vuckovic K, Cahalin LP, Baynard T. Defining the system: contributors to exercise limitations in heart failure. Heart Fail Clin. 2015;11(1):1-16.

284. Jette M, Heller R, Landry F, Blumchen G. Randomized 4-week exercise program in patients with impaired left ventricular function. Circulation. 1991;84(4):1561-7.

285. Hambrecht R, Gielen S, Linke A, Fiehn E, Yu J, Walther C, et al. Effects of exercise training on left ventricular function and peripheral resistance in patients with chronic heart failure: A randomized trial. JAMA. 2000;283(23):3095-101.

286. Haykowsky MJ, Liang Y, Pechter D, Jones LW, McAlister FA, Clark AM. A meta-analysis of the effect of exercise training on left ventricular remodeling in heart failure patients: the benefit depends on the type of training performed. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2007;49(24):2329-36.

287. Fu TC, Yang NI, Wang CH, Cherng WJ, Chou SL, Pan TL, et al. Aerobic Interval Training Elicits Different Hemodynamic Adaptations Between Heart Failure Patients with Preserved and Reduced Ejection Fraction. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2016;95(1):15-27.

288. Borlaug BA, Redfield MM. Diastolic and systolic heart failure are distinct phenotypes within the heart failure spectrum. Circulation. 2011;123(18):2006-13; discussion 14.

289. De Keulenaer GW, Brutsaert DL. Systolic and diastolic heart failure are overlapping phenotypes within the heart failure spectrum. Circulation. 2011;123(18):1996-2004; discussion 5.

290. Jia G, Hill MA, Sowers JR. Diabetic Cardiomyopathy: An Update of Mechanisms Contributing to This Clinical Entity. Circ Res. 2018;122(4):624-38.

291. MacDonald MR, Petrie MC, Varyani F, Ostergren J, Michelson EL, Young JB, et al. Impact of diabetes on outcomes in patients with low and preserved ejection fraction heart failure: an analysis of the Candesartan in Heart failure: Assessment of Reduction in Mortality and morbidity (CHARM) programme. Eur Heart J. 2008;29(11):1377-85.

292. Seferovic PM, Paulus WJ. Clinical diabetic cardiomyopathy: a two-faced disease with restrictive and dilated phenotypes. Eur Heart J. 2015;36(27):1718-27, 27a-27c.

293. Paulus WJ, Dal Canto E. Distinct Myocardial Targets for Diabetes Therapy in Heart Failure With Preserved or Reduced Ejection Fraction. JACC Heart Fail. 2018;6(1):1-7.

294. Pandey A, Parashar A, Kumbhani D, Agarwal S, Garg J, Kitzman D, et al. Exercise training in patients with heart failure and preserved ejection fraction: meta-analysis of randomized control trials. Circ Heart Fail. 2015;8(1):33-40.

295. Edelmann F, Gelbrich G, Dungen HD, Frohling S, Wachter R, Stahrenberg R, et al. Exercise training improves exercise capacity and diastolic function in patients with heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: results of the Ex-DHF (Exercise training in Diastolic Heart Failure) pilot study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011;58(17):1780-91.

296. Fukuta H, Goto T, Wakami K, Kamiya T, Ohte N. Effects of exercise training on cardiac function, exercise capacity, and quality of life in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Heart Fail Rev. 2019.

297. Chen YM, Li ZB, Zhu M, Cao YM. Effects of exercise training on left ventricular remodelling in heart failure patients: an updated meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Int J Clin Pract. 2012;66(8):782-91.

298. Miyachi M, Yazawa H, Furukawa M, Tsuboi K, Ohtake M, Nishizawa T, et al. Exercise training alters left ventricular geometry and attenuates heart failure in dahl salt-sensitive hypertensive rats. Hypertension. 2009;53(4):701-7.

299. Emter CA, Baines CP. Low-intensity aerobic interval training attenuates pathological left ventricular remodeling and mitochondrial dysfunction in aorticbanded miniature swine. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2010;299(5):H1348-56. 300. Hambrecht R, Fiehn E, Weigl C, Gielen S, Hamann C, Kaiser R, et al. Regular physical exercise corrects endothelial dysfunction and improves exercise capacity in patients with chronic heart failure. Circulation. 1998;98(24):2709-15. 301. Giannuzzi P, Temporelli PL, Corra U, Tavazzi L, Group E-CS. Antiremodeling effect of long-term exercise training in patients with stable chronic heart failure: results of the Exercise in Left Ventricular Dysfunction and Chronic Heart Failure (ELVD-CHF) Trial. Circulation. 2003;108(5):554-9.

302. Adams V, Alves M, Fischer T, Rolim N, Werner S, Schutt N, et al. Highintensity interval training attenuates endothelial dysfunction in a Dahl saltsensitive rat model of heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2015;119(6):745-52.

303. Kitzman DW, Brubaker P, Morgan T, Haykowsky M, Hundley G, Kraus WE, et al. Effect of Caloric Restriction or Aerobic Exercise Training on Peak Oxygen Consumption and Quality of Life in Obese Older Patients With Heart Failure With Preserved Ejection Fraction: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA. 2016;315(1):36-46.

304. Cappuzzello C, Di Vito L, Melchionna R, Melillo G, Silvestri L, Cesareo E, et al. Increase of plasma IL-9 and decrease of plasma IL-5, IL-7, and IFN-gamma in patients with chronic heart failure. J Transl Med. 2011;9:28.

305. Deswal A, Petersen NJ, Feldman AM, Young JB, White BG, Mann DL. Cytokines and cytokine receptors in advanced heart failure: an analysis of the cytokine database from the Vesnarinone trial (VEST). Circulation. 2001;103(16):2055-9.

306. Paulus WJ, Tschope C. A novel paradigm for heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: comorbidities drive myocardial dysfunction and remodeling through coronary microvascular endothelial inflammation. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013;62(4):263-71.

307. Westermann D, Lindner D, Kasner M, Zietsch C, Savvatis K, Escher F, et al. Cardiac inflammation contributes to changes in the extracellular matrix in patients with heart failure and normal ejection fraction. Circ Heart Fail. 2011;4(1):44-52.

308. Matsubara J, Sugiyama S, Nozaki T, Sugamura K, Konishi M, Ohba K, et al. Pentraxin 3 is a new inflammatory marker correlated with left ventricular diastolic dysfunction and heart failure with normal ejection fraction. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011;57(7):861-9.

309. Shah KB, Kop WJ, Christenson RH, Diercks DB, Henderson S, Hanson K, et al. Prognostic utility of ST2 in patients with acute dyspnea and preserved left ventricular ejection fraction. Clin Chem. 2011;57(6):874-82.

310. Collier P, Watson CJ, Voon V, Phelan D, Jan A, Mak G, et al. Can emerging biomarkers of myocardial remodelling identify asymptomatic hypertensive patients at risk for diastolic dysfunction and diastolic heart failure? Eur J Heart Fail. 2011;13(10):1087-95.

311. Kalogeropoulos A, Georgiopoulou V, Psaty BM, Rodondi N, Smith AL, Harrison DG, et al. Inflammatory markers and incident heart failure risk in older adults: the Health ABC (Health, Aging, and Body Composition) study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2010;55(19):2129-37.

312. Batista ML, Jr., Rosa JC, Lopes RD, Lira FS, Martins E, Jr., Yamashita AS, et al. Exercise training changes IL-10/TNF-alpha ratio in the skeletal muscle of post-MI rats. Cytokine. 2010;49(1):102-8.

313. Gielen S, Adams V, Mobius-Winkler S, Linke A, Erbs S, Yu J, et al. Antiinflammatory effects of exercise training in the skeletal muscle of patients with chronic heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2003;42(5):861-8.

314. Smart NA, Larsen AI, Le Maitre JP, Ferraz AS. Effect of exercise training on interleukin-6, tumour necrosis factor alpha and functional capacity in heart failure. Cardiol Res Pract. 2011;2011:532620.

315. Adamopoulos S, Parissis J, Kroupis C, Georgiadis M, Karatzas D, Karavolias G, et al. Physical training reduces peripheral markers of inflammation in patients with chronic heart failure. Eur Heart J. 2001;22(9):791-7.

316. Niebauer J, Clark AL, Webb-Peploe KM, Coats AJ. Exercise training in chronic heart failure: effects on pro-inflammatory markers. Eur J Heart Fail. 2005;7(2):189-93.

317. Trippel TD, Holzendorf V, Halle M, Gelbrich G, Nolte K, Duvinage A, et al. Ghrelin and hormonal markers under exercise training in patients with heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: results from the Ex-DHF pilot study. ESC Heart Fail. 2017;4(1):56-65.

318. Kim SH, Lee SH, Ahn KY, Lee DH, Suh YJ, Cho SG, et al. Effect of lifestyle modification on serum chemerin concentration and its association with insulin sensitivity in overweight and obese adults with type 2 diabetes. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2014;80(6):825-33.

319. Leehey DJ, Collins E, Kramer HJ, Cooper C, Butler J, McBurney C, et al. Structured Exercise in Obese Diabetic Patients with Chronic Kidney Disease: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Am J Nephrol. 2016;44(1):54-62.

320. Annibalini G, Lucertini F, Agostini D, Vallorani L, Gioacchini A, Barbieri E, et al. Concurrent Aerobic and Resistance Training Has Anti-Inflammatory Effects and Increases Both Plasma and Leukocyte Levels of IGF-1 in Late Middle-Aged Type 2 Diabetic Patients. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 2017;2017:3937842.

321. Mallard AR, Hollekim-Strand SM, Coombes JS, Ingul CB. Exercise intensity, redox homeostasis and inflammation in type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Sci Med Sport. 2017;20(10):893-8.

322. Thompson D, Walhin JP, Batterham AM, Stokes KA, Cooper AR, Andrews RC. Effect of diet or diet plus physical activity versus usual care on inflammatory markers in patients with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes: the Early ACTivity in Diabetes (ACTID) randomized, controlled trial. J Am Heart Assoc. 2014;3(3):e000828.

323. Dos Anjos D, Moreira BS, Kirkwood RN, Dias RC, Pereira DS, Pereira LSM. Effects of aerobic exercise on functional capacity, anthropometric measurements and inflammatory markers in diabetic elderly women. J Bodyw Mov Ther. 2017;21(3):509-16.

324. Kadoglou NP, Fotiadis G, Kapelouzou A, Kostakis A, Liapis CD, Vrabas IS. The differential anti-inflammatory effects of exercise modalities and their association with early carotid atherosclerosis progression in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabet Med. 2013;30(2):e41-50.

325. Simmonds MJ, Sabapathy S, Serre KR, Haseler LJ, Gass GC, Marshall-Gradisnik SM, et al. Regular walking improves plasma protein concentrations that

promote blood hyperviscosity in women 65-74 yr with type 2 diabetes. Clin Hemorheol Microcirc. 2016;64(2):189-98.

326. Ryan AS. Inflammatory Markers in Older Women with a History of Gestational Diabetes and the Effects of Weight Loss. J Diabetes Res. 2018;2018:5172091.

327. Brinkmann C, Schulte-Korne B, Grau M, Obels S, Kemmerling R, Schiffer T, et al. Effects of Endurance Training on the Skeletal Muscle Nitric Oxide Metabolism in Insulin-Independent Type 2 Diabetic Men-A Pilot Study. Metab Syndr Relat Disord. 2017;15(1):52-8.

328. Abd El-Kader SM, Al-Jiffri OH, Al-Shreef FM. Aerobic exercises alleviate symptoms of fatigue related to inflammatory cytokines in obese patients with type 2 diabetes. Afr Health Sci. 2015;15(4):1142-8.

329. Robinson E, Durrer C, Simtchouk S, Jung ME, Bourne JE, Voth E, et al. Short-term high-intensity interval and moderate-intensity continuous training reduce leukocyte TLR4 in inactive adults at elevated risk of type 2 diabetes. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2015;119(5):508-16.

330. Karstoft K, Clark MA, Jakobsen I, Muller IA, Pedersen BK, Solomon TP, et al. The effects of 2 weeks of interval vs continuous walking training on glycaemic control and whole-body oxidative stress in individuals with type 2 diabetes: a controlled, randomised, crossover trial. Diabetologia. 2017;60(3):508-17.

331. Muller IA, Wedell-Neergaard AS, Solomon TPJ, Karstoft K. The impact of acute bouts of interval and continuous walking on energy-intake and appetite regulation in subjects with type 2 diabetes. Physiol Rep. 2017;5(23).

332. Wasfy MM, Baggish AL. Exercise Dose in Clinical Practice. Circulation. 2016;133(23):2297-313.

333. Norton K, Norton L, Sadgrove D. Position statement on physical activity and exercise intensity terminology. J Sci Med Sport. 2010;13(5):496-502.

334. Ekblom-Bak E, Ekblom B, Vikstrom M, de Faire U, Hellenius ML. The importance of non-exercise physical activity for cardiovascular health and longevity. Br J Sports Med. 2014;48(3):233-8.

335. Wilmot EG, Edwardson CL, Achana FA, Davies MJ, Gorely T, Gray LJ, et al. Sedentary time in adults and the association with diabetes, cardiovascular disease and death: systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetologia. 2012;55(11):2895-905. 336. Hamasaki H. Daily physical activity and type 2 diabetes: A review. World J Diabetes. 2016;7(12):243-51.

337. Kriska A, Delahanty L, Edelstein S, Amodei N, Chadwick J, Copeland K, et al. Sedentary behavior and physical activity in youth with recent onset of type 2 diabetes. Pediatrics. 2013;131(3):e850-6.

338. George ES, Rosenkranz RR, Kolt GS. Chronic disease and sitting time in middle-aged Australian males: findings from the 45 and Up Study. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2013;10:20.

339. Standards of medical care in diabetes--2015: summary of revisions. Diabetes Care. 2015;38 Suppl:S4.

340. Duvivier BM, Schaper NC, Bremers MA, van Crombrugge G, Menheere PP, Kars M, et al. Minimal intensity physical activity (standing and walking) of longer duration improves insulin action and plasma lipids more than shorter periods of moderate to vigorous exercise (cycling) in sedentary subjects when energy expenditure is comparable. PLoS One. 2013;8(2):e55542.

341. Yanai H, Adachi H, Masui Y, Katsuyama H, Kawaguchi A, Hakoshima M, et al. Exercise Therapy for Patients With Type 2 Diabetes: A Narrative Review. J Clin Med Res. 2018;10(5):365-9.

342. Fedewa MV, Hathaway ED, Williams TD, Schmidt MD. Effect of Exercise Training on Non-Exercise Physical Activity: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. Sports Med. 2017;47(6):1171-82.

343. Manthou E, Gill JM, Wright A, Malkova D. Behavioral compensatory adjustments to exercise training in overweight women. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2010;42(6):1121-8.

344. Westerterp KR. Alterations in energy balance with exercise. Am J Clin Nutr. 1998;68(4):970S-4S.

345. Drenowatz C. Reciprocal Compensation to Changes in Dietary Intake and Energy Expenditure within the Concept of Energy Balance. Adv Nutr. 2015;6(5):592-9.

346. Balducci S, D'Errico V, Haxhi J, Sacchetti M, Orlando G, Cardelli P, et al. Level and correlates of physical activity and sedentary behavior in patients with type 2 diabetes: A cross-sectional analysis of the Italian Diabetes and Exercise Study_2. PLoS One. 2017;12(3):e0173337. 347. Colberg SR, Sigal RJ, Fernhall B, Regensteiner JG, Blissmer BJ, Rubin RR, et al. Exercise and type 2 diabetes: the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Diabetes Association: joint position statement executive summary. Diabetes Care. 2010;33(12):2692-6.

348. Ekelund U, Ward HA, Norat T, Luan J, May AM, Weiderpass E, et al. Physical activity and all-cause mortality across levels of overall and abdominal adiposity in European men and women: the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition Study (EPIC). Am J Clin Nutr. 2015;101(3):613-21.

349. Kokkinos P, Myers J, Nylen E, Panagiotakos DB, Manolis A, Pittaras A, et al. Exercise capacity and all-cause mortality in African American and Caucasian men with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2009;32(4):623-8.

350. Yates T, Davies M, Gorely T, Bull F, Khunti K. Effectiveness of a pragmatic education program designed to promote walking activity in individuals with impaired glucose tolerance: a randomized controlled trial. Diabetes Care. 2009;32(8):1404-10.

351. Myers J, Prakash M, Froelicher V, Do D, Partington S, Atwood JE. Exercise capacity and mortality among men referred for exercise testing. N Engl J Med. 2002;346(11):793-801.

352. Krishnan S, Rosenberg L, Palmer JR. Physical activity and television watching in relation to risk of type 2 diabetes: the Black Women's Health Study. Am J Epidemiol. 2009;169(4):428-34.

353. Laaksonen DE, Lindstrom J, Lakka TA, Eriksson JG, Niskanen L, Wikstrom K, et al. Physical activity in the prevention of type 2 diabetes: the Finnish diabetes prevention study. Diabetes. 2005;54(1):158-65.

354. Grontved A, Pan A, Mekary RA, Stampfer M, Willett WC, Manson JE, et al. Muscle-strengthening and conditioning activities and risk of type 2 diabetes: a prospective study in two cohorts of US women. PLoS Med. 2014;11(1):e1001587. 355. Demakakos P, Hamer M, Stamatakis E, Steptoe A. Low-intensity physical activity is associated with reduced risk of incident type 2 diabetes in older adults: evidence from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. Diabetologia. 2010;53(9):1877-85.

356. Weinstein AR, Sesso HD, Lee IM, Cook NR, Manson JE, Buring JE, et al. Relationship of physical activity vs body mass index with type 2 diabetes in women. JAMA. 2004;292(10):1188-94. 357. Helmrich SP, Ragland DR, Leung RW, Paffenbarger RS, Jr. Physical activity and reduced occurrence of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med. 1991;325(3):147-52.

358. Villegas R, Shu XO, Li H, Yang G, Matthews CE, Leitzmann M, et al. Physical activity and the incidence of type 2 diabetes in the Shanghai women's health study. Int J Epidemiol. 2006;35(6):1553-62.

359. Hsia J, Wu L, Allen C, Oberman A, Lawson WE, Torrens J, et al. Physical activity and diabetes risk in postmenopausal women. Am J Prev Med. 2005;28(1):19-25.

360. Nakanishi N, Takatorige T, Suzuki K. Daily life activity and risk of developing impaired fasting glucose or type 2 diabetes in middle-aged Japanese men. Diabetologia. 2004;47(10):1768-75.

361. Hu FB, Sigal RJ, Rich-Edwards JW, Colditz GA, Solomon CG, Willett WC, et al. Walking compared with vigorous physical activity and risk of type 2 diabetes in women: a prospective study. JAMA. 1999;282(15):1433-9.

362. Balducci S, Zanuso S, Cardelli P, Salvi L, Bazuro A, Pugliese L, et al. Effect of high- versus low-intensity supervised aerobic and resistance training on modifiable cardiovascular risk factors in type 2 diabetes; the Italian Diabetes and Exercise Study (IDES). PLoS One. 2012;7(11):e49297.

363. Colberg SR. Key Points from the Updated Guidelines on Exercise and Diabetes. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2017;8:33.

364. Blomster JI, Chow CK, Zoungas S, Woodward M, Patel A, Poulter NR, et al. The influence of physical activity on vascular complications and mortality in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2013;15(11):1008-12.

365. Dixit S, Maiya AG, Shastry BA. Effect of aerobic exercise on peripheral nerve functions of population with diabetic peripheral neuropathy in type 2 diabetes: a single blind, parallel group randomized controlled trial. J Diabetes Complications. 2014;28(3):332-9.

366. De Nardi AT, Tolves T, Lenzi TL, Signori LU, Silva A. High-intensity interval training versus continuous training on physiological and metabolic variables in prediabetes and type 2 diabetes: A meta-analysis. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2018;137:149-59.

367. Buchheit M, Laursen PB. High-intensity interval training, solutions to the programming puzzle: Part I: cardiopulmonary emphasis. Sports Med. 2013;43(5):313-38.

368. Hwang CL, Lim J, Yoo JK, Kim HK, Hwang MH, Handberg EM, et al. Effect of all-extremity high-intensity interval training vs. moderate-intensity continuous training on aerobic fitness in middle-aged and older adults with type 2 diabetes: A randomized controlled trial. Exp Gerontol. 2019;116:46-53.

369. Wisloff U, Stoylen A, Loennechen JP, Bruvold M, Rognmo O, Haram PM, et al. Superior cardiovascular effect of aerobic interval training versus moderate continuous training in heart failure patients: a randomized study. Circulation. 2007;115(24):3086-94.

370. Tjonna AE, Lee SJ, Rognmo O, Stolen TO, Bye A, Haram PM, et al. Aerobic interval training versus continuous moderate exercise as a treatment for the metabolic syndrome: a pilot study. Circulation. 2008;118(4):346-54.

371. Schjerve IE, Tyldum GA, Tjonna AE, Stolen T, Loennechen JP, Hansen HE, et al. Both aerobic endurance and strength training programmes improve cardiovascular health in obese adults. Clin Sci (Lond). 2008;115(9):283-93.

372. Mitranun W, Deerochanawong C, Tanaka H, Suksom D. Continuous vs interval training on glycemic control and macro- and microvascular reactivity in type 2 diabetic patients. Scand J Med Sci Sports. 2014;24(2):e69-76.

373. Taylor JL, Holland DJ, Spathis JG, Beetham KS, Wisloff U, Keating SE, et al. Guidelines for the delivery and monitoring of high intensity interval training in clinical populations. Prog Cardiovasc Dis. 2019;62(2):140-6.

374. Gibala MJ, Little JP. Just HIT it! A time-efficient exercise strategy to improve muscle insulin sensitivity. J Physiol. 2010;588(Pt 18):3341-2.

375. Thomas N, Alder E, Leese GP. Barriers to physical activity in patients with diabetes. Postgrad Med J. 2004;80(943):287-91.

376. Bartlett JD, Close GL, MacLaren DP, Gregson W, Drust B, Morton JP. Highintensity interval running is perceived to be more enjoyable than moderateintensity continuous exercise: implications for exercise adherence. J Sports Sci. 2011;29(6):547-53.

377. Ross LM, Porter RR, Durstine JL. High-intensity interval training (HIIT) for patients with chronic diseases. J Sport Health Sci. 2016;5(2):139-44.

378. Seeger JP, Lenting CJ, Schreuder TH, Landman TR, Cable NT, Hopman MT, et al. Interval exercise, but not endurance exercise, prevents endothelial ischemia-reperfusion injury in healthy subjects. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2015;308(4):H351-7.

379. Chilibeck PD, Bell GJ, Farrar RP, Martin TP. Higher mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation following intermittent versus continuous endurance exercise training. Can J Physiol Pharmacol. 1998;76(9):891-4.

380. Weston KS, Wisloff U, Coombes JS. High-intensity interval training in patients with lifestyle-induced cardiometabolic disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Sports Med. 2014;48(16):1227-34.

381. Ross R, Hudson R, Stotz PJ, Lam M. Effects of exercise amount and intensity on abdominal obesity and glucose tolerance in obese adults: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med. 2015;162(5):325-34.

382. Milanovic Z, Sporis G, Weston M. Effectiveness of High-Intensity Interval Training (HIT) and Continuous Endurance Training for VO2max Improvements: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Controlled Trials. Sports Med. 2015;45(10):1469-81.

383. Bacon AP, Carter RE, Ogle EA, Joyner MJ. VO2max trainability and high intensity interval training in humans: a meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2013;8(9):e73182.

384. Miele EM, Headley SAE. The Effects of Chronic Aerobic Exercise on Cardiovascular Risk Factors in Persons with Diabetes Mellitus. Curr Diab Rep. 2017;17(10):97.

385. Gibala MJ, Little JP, Macdonald MJ, Hawley JA. Physiological adaptations to low-volume, high-intensity interval training in health and disease. J Physiol. 2012;590(5):1077-84.

386. Jelleyman C, Yates T, O'Donovan G, Gray LJ, King JA, Khunti K, et al. The effects of high-intensity interval training on glucose regulation and insulin resistance: a meta-analysis. Obes Rev. 2015;16(11):942-61.

387. Cornish AK, Broadbent S, Cheema BS. Interval training for patients with coronary artery disease: a systematic review. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2011;111(4):579-89.

388. Guiraud T, Nigam A, Gremeaux V, Meyer P, Juneau M, Bosquet L. Highintensity interval training in cardiac rehabilitation. Sports Med. 2012;42(7):587-605.

389. Bugger H, Abel ED. Rodent models of diabetic cardiomyopathy. Dis Model Mech. 2009;2(9-10):454-66.

390. Malik VS, Popkin BM, Bray GA, Despres JP, Hu FB. Sugar-sweetened beverages, obesity, type 2 diabetes mellitus, and cardiovascular disease risk. Circulation. 2010;121(11):1356-64.

391. Vaisy M, Szlufcik K, De Bock K, Eijnde BO, Van Proeyen K, Verbeke K, et al. Exercise-induced, but not creatine-induced, decrease in intramyocellular lipid content improves insulin sensitivity in rats. J Nutr Biochem. 2011;22(12):1178-85.

392. Sampey BP, Vanhoose AM, Winfield HM, Freemerman AJ, Muehlbauer MJ, Fueger PT, et al. Cafeteria diet is a robust model of human metabolic syndrome with liver and adipose inflammation: comparison to high-fat diet. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2011;19(6):1109-17.

393. Nichols GA, Gullion CM, Koro CE, Ephross SA, Brown JB. The incidence of congestive heart failure in type 2 diabetes: an update. Diabetes Care. 2004;27(8):1879-84.

394. Asghar O, Al-Sunni A, Khavandi K, Khavandi A, Withers S, Greenstein A, et al. Diabetic cardiomyopathy. Clin Sci (Lond). 2009;116(10):741-60.

395. Dandamudi S, Slusser J, Mahoney DW, Redfield MM, Rodeheffer RJ, Chen HH. The prevalence of diabetic cardiomyopathy: a population-based study in Olmsted County, Minnesota. J Card Fail. 2014;20(5):304-9.

396. Kass DA, Bronzwaer JG, Paulus WJ. What mechanisms underlie diastolic dysfunction in heart failure? Circ Res. 2004;94(12):1533-42.

397. Kobayashi S, Liang Q. Autophagy and mitophagy in diabetic cardiomyopathy. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2015;1852(2):252-61.

398. Reed MJ, Meszaros K, Entes LJ, Claypool MD, Pinkett JG, Gadbois TM, et al. A new rat model of type 2 diabetes: the fat-fed, streptozotocin-treated rat. Metabolism. 2000;49(11):1390-4.

399. King A, Bowe J. Animal models for diabetes: Understanding the pathogenesis and finding new treatments. Biochem Pharmacol. 2016;99:1-10.

400. Ley SH, Hamdy O, Mohan V, Hu FB. Prevention and management of type 2 diabetes: dietary components and nutritional strategies. Lancet. 2014;383(9933):1999-2007.

401. Fats and fatty acids in human nutrition. Report of an expert consultation. FAO Food Nutr Pap. 2010;91:1-166.

402. Diet, nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases. World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser. 2003;916:i-viii, 1-149, backcover.

403. Malik VS, Popkin BM, Bray GA, Despres JP, Willett WC, Hu FB. Sugarsweetened beverages and risk of metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis. Diabetes Care. 2010;33(11):2477-83.

404. Stevens AL, Ferferieva V, Bito V, Wens I, Verboven K, Deluyker D, et al. Exercise improves cardiac function and attenuates insulin resistance in Dahl salt-sensitive rats. Int J Cardiol. 2015;186:154-60.

405. Camacho P, Fan H, Liu Z, He JQ. Small mammalian animal models of heart disease. Am J Cardiovasc Dis. 2016;6(3):70-80.

406. Portha B, Giroix MH, Tourrel-Cuzin C, Le-Stunff H, Movassat J. The GK rat: a prototype for the study of non-overweight type 2 diabetes. Methods Mol Biol. 2012;933:125-59.

407. Hunter I, Soler A, Joseph G, Hutcheson B, Bradford C, Zhang FF, et al. Cardiovascular function in male and female JCR:LA-cp rats: effect of high-fat/high-sucrose diet. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2017;312(4):H742-H51.

408. Zhang M, Lv XY, Li J, Xu ZG, Chen L. The characterization of high-fat diet and multiple low-dose streptozotocin induced type 2 diabetes rat model. Exp Diabetes Res. 2008;2008:704045.

409. Srinivasan K, Viswanad B, Asrat L, Kaul CL, Ramarao P. Combination of high-fat diet-fed and low-dose streptozotocin-treated rat: a model for type 2 diabetes and pharmacological screening. Pharmacol Res. 2005;52(4):313-20.

410. Sahin K, Onderci M, Tuzcu M, Ustundag B, Cikim G, Ozercan IH, et al. Effect of chromium on carbohydrate and lipid metabolism in a rat model of type 2 diabetes mellitus: the fat-fed, streptozotocin-treated rat. Metabolism. 2007;56(9):1233-40.

411. Lu HE, Jian CH, Chen SF, Chen TM, Lee ST, Chang CS, et al. Hypoglycaemic effects of fermented mycelium of Paecilomyces farinosus (G30801) on high-fat fed rats with streptozotocin-induced diabetes. Indian J Med Res. 2010;131:696-701.

412. Albersen M, Lin G, Fandel TM, Zhang H, Qiu X, Lin CS, et al. Functional, metabolic, and morphologic characteristics of a novel rat model of type 2 diabetesassociated erectile dysfunction. Urology. 2011;78(2):476 e1-8.

413. Prentki M, Nolan CJ. Islet beta cell failure in type 2 diabetes. J Clin Invest. 2006;116(7):1802-12.

414. Pi-Sunyer FX. Weight and non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Am J Clin Nutr. 1996;63(3 Suppl):426S-9S.

415. Harris MI, Flegal KM, Cowie CC, Eberhardt MS, Goldstein DE, Little RR, et al. Prevalence of diabetes, impaired fasting glucose, and impaired glucose tolerance in U.S. adults. The Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-1994. Diabetes Care. 1998;21(4):518-24.

416. Ramarao P, Kaul CL. Insulin resistance: current therapeutic approaches. Drugs Today (Barc). 1999;35(12):895-911.

417. Collaborators GBDRF, Forouzanfar MH, Alexander L, Anderson HR, Bachman VF, Biryukov S, et al. Global, regional, and national comparative risk assessment of 79 behavioural, environmental and occupational, and metabolic risks or clusters of risks in 188 countries, 1990-2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet. 2015;386(10010):2287-323.

418. DeMarco VG, Aroor AR, Sowers JR. The pathophysiology of hypertension in patients with obesity. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2014;10(6):364-76.

419. Kruithof EK. Regulation of plasminogen activator inhibitor type 1 gene expression by inflammatory mediators and statins. Thromb Haemost. 2008;100(6):969-75.

420. Juhan-Vague I, Alessi MC, Mavri A, Morange PE. Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1, inflammation, obesity, insulin resistance and vascular risk. J Thromb Haemost. 2003;1(7):1575-9.

421. Cesari M, Pahor M, Incalzi RA. Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1): a key factor linking fibrinolysis and age-related subclinical and clinical conditions. Cardiovasc Ther. 2010;28(5):e72-91.

422. Gupta KK, Donahue DL, Sandoval-Cooper MJ, Castellino FJ, Ploplis VA. Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor-1 Protects Mice Against Cardiac Fibrosis by

Inhibiting Urokinase-type Plasminogen Activator-mediated Plasminogen Activation. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):365.

423. Ghosh AK, Vaughan DE. PAI-1 in tissue fibrosis. J Cell Physiol. 2012;227(2):493-507.

424. Wautier MP, Chappey O, Corda S, Stern DM, Schmidt AM, Wautier JL. Activation of NADPH oxidase by AGE links oxidant stress to altered gene expression via RAGE. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2001;280(5):E685-94.

425. Bayraktar A, Canpolat U, Demiri E, Kunak AU, Ozer N, Aksoyek S, et al. New insights into the mechanisms of diastolic dysfunction in patients with type 2 diabetes. Scand Cardiovasc J. 2015;49(3):142-8.

426. Lyons TJ, Basu A. Biomarkers in diabetes: hemoglobin A1c, vascular and tissue markers. Transl Res. 2012;159(4):303-12.

427. Cassidy S, Thoma C, Hallsworth K, Parikh J, Hollingsworth KG, Taylor R, et al. High intensity intermittent exercise improves cardiac structure and function and reduces liver fat in patients with type 2 diabetes: a randomised controlled trial. Diabetologia. 2016;59(1):56-66.

428. Shortreed SM, Peeters A, Forbes AB. Estimating the effect of long-term physical activity on cardiovascular disease and mortality: evidence from the Framingham Heart Study. Heart. 2013;99(9):649-54.

429. Montero D, Diaz-Canestro C, Lundby C. Endurance Training and V O2max: Role of Maximal Cardiac Output and Oxygen Extraction. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2015;47(10):2024-33.

430. Palacios G, Pedrero-Chamizo R, Palacios N, Maroto-Sanchez B, Aznar S, Gonzalez-Gross M, et al. Biomarkers of physical activity and exercise. Nutr Hosp. 2015;31 Suppl 3:237-44.

431. Hordern MD, Coombes JS, Cooney LM, Jeffriess L, Prins JB, Marwick TH. Effects of exercise intervention on myocardial function in type 2 diabetes. Heart. 2009;95(16):1343-9.

432. Li Y, Cai M, Cao L, Qin X, Zheng T, Xu X, et al. Endurance exercise accelerates myocardial tissue oxygenation recovery and reduces ischemia reperfusion injury in mice. PLoS One. 2014;9(12):e114205.

433. Marongiu E, Crisafulli A. Cardioprotection acquired through exercise: the role of ischemic preconditioning. Curr Cardiol Rev. 2014;10(4):336-48.

434. Marwick TH, Hordern MD, Miller T, Chyun DA, Bertoni AG, Blumenthal RS, et al. Exercise training for type 2 diabetes mellitus: impact on cardiovascular risk: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2009;119(25):3244-62.

435. Stoggl TL, Bjorklund G. High Intensity Interval Training Leads to Greater Improvements in Acute Heart Rate Recovery and Anaerobic Power as High Volume Low Intensity Training. Front Physiol. 2017;8:562.

436. Abe T, Kitaoka Y, Kikuchi DM, Takeda K, Numata O, Takemasa T. Highintensity interval training-induced metabolic adaptation coupled with an increase in Hif-1alpha and glycolytic protein expression. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2015;119(11):1297-302.

437. Rankin AJ, Rankin AC, MacIntyre P, Hillis WS. Walk or run? Is highintensity exercise more effective than moderate-intensity exercise at reducing cardiovascular risk? Scott Med J. 2012;57(2):99-102.

438. Wen CP, Wai JP, Tsai MK, Yang YC, Cheng TY, Lee MC, et al. Minimum amount of physical activity for reduced mortality and extended life expectancy: a prospective cohort study. Lancet. 2011;378(9798):1244-53.

439. Pilis W, Zarzeczny R, Langfort J, Kaciuba-Uscilko H, Nazar K, Wojtyna J. Anaerobic threshold in rats. Comp Biochem Physiol Comp Physiol. 1993;106(2):285-9.

440. Deluyker D, Ferferieva V, Driesen RB, Verboven M, Lambrichts I, Bito V. Pyridoxamine improves survival and limits cardiac dysfunction after MI. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):16010.

441. Galan DT, Bito V, Claus P, Holemans P, Abi-Char J, Nagaraju CK, et al. Reduced mitochondrial respiration in the ischemic as well as in the remote nonischemic region in postmyocardial infarction remodeling. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2016;311(5):H1075-H90.

442. Palmer GS, Borghouts LB, Noakes TD, Hawley JA. Metabolic and performance responses to constant-load vs. variable-intensity exercise in trained cyclists. J Appl Physiol (1985). 1999;87(3):1186-96.

443. Bernardo BC, Weeks KL, Pretorius L, McMullen JR. Molecular distinction between physiological and pathological cardiac hypertrophy: experimental findings and therapeutic strategies. Pharmacol Ther. 2010;128(1):191-227.

444. Johnson EJ, Dieter BP, Marsh SA. Evidence for distinct effects of exercise in different cardiac hypertrophic disorders. Life Sci. 2015;123:100-6.

445. Scheuer J. Catecholamines in cardiac hypertrophy. Am J Cardiol. 1999;83(12A):70H-4H.

446. Scheuer J, Malhotra A, Hirsch C, Capasso J, Schaible TF. Physiologic cardiac hypertrophy corrects contractile protein abnormalities associated with pathologic hypertrophy in rats. J Clin Invest. 1982;70(6):1300-5.

Hafstad AD, Lund J, Hadler-Olsen E, Hoper AC, Larsen TS, Aasum E. High-447. normalizes and moderate-intensity training ventricular function and mechanoenergetics with diet-induced obesity. Diabetes. in mice 2013:62(7):2287-94.

448. Kemi OJ, Haram PM, Loennechen JP, Osnes JB, Skomedal T, Wisloff U, et al. Moderate vs. high exercise intensity: differential effects on aerobic fitness, cardiomyocyte contractility, and endothelial function. Cardiovasc Res. 2005;67(1):161-72.

449. Dawes TJ, Corden B, Cotter S, de Marvao A, Walsh R, Ware JS, et al. Moderate Physical Activity in Healthy Adults Is Associated With Cardiac Remodeling. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging. 2016;9(8).

450. Vincent JL. Understanding cardiac output. Crit Care. 2008;12(4):174.

451. Moore RL, Musch TI, Yelamarty RV, Scaduto RC, Jr., Semanchick AM, Elensky M, et al. Chronic exercise alters contractility and morphology of isolated rat cardiac myocytes. Am J Physiol. 1993;264(5 Pt 1):C1180-9.

452. Amundsen BH, Wisloff U, Slordahl SA. [Exercise training in cardiovascular diseases]. Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen. 2007;127(4):446-8.

453. Haram PM, Kemi OJ, Lee SJ, Bendheim MO, Al-Share QY, Waldum HL, et al. Aerobic interval training vs. continuous moderate exercise in the metabolic syndrome of rats artificially selected for low aerobic capacity. Cardiovasc Res. 2009;81(4):723-32.

454. Rognmo O, Bjornstad TH, Kahrs C, Tjonna AE, Bye A, Haram PM, et al. Endothelial function in highly endurance-trained men: effects of acute exercise. J Strength Cond Res. 2008;22(2):535-42.

455. Hoydal MA, Wisloff U, Kemi OJ, Britton SL, Koch LG, Smith GL, et al. Nitric oxide synthase type-1 modulates cardiomyocyte contractility and calcium

handling: association with low intrinsic aerobic capacity. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil. 2007;14(2):319-25.

456. Kemi OJ, Haram PM, Wisloff U, Ellingsen O. Aerobic fitness is associated with cardiomyocyte contractile capacity and endothelial function in exercise training and detraining. Circulation. 2004;109(23):2897-904.

457. Akahori H, Tsujino T, Naito Y, Matsumoto M, Sasaki N, Iwasaku T, et al. Atorvastatin ameliorates cardiac fibrosis and improves left ventricular diastolic function in hypertensive diastolic heart failure model rats. J Hypertens. 2014;32(7):1534-41; discussion 41.

458. Buakhamsri A, Popovic ZB, Lin J, Lim P, Greenberg NL, Borowski AG, et al. Impact of left ventricular volume/mass ratio on diastolic function. Eur Heart J. 2009;30(10):1213-21.

459. Motoyasu M, Kurita T, Onishi K, Uemura S, Tanigawa T, Okinaka T, et al. Correlation between late gadolinium enhancement and diastolic function in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy assessed by magnetic resonance imaging. Circ J. 2008;72(3):378-83.

460. Wang Y, Wang J, Zou Y, Bao J, Sun K, Zhu L, et al. Female sex is associated with worse prognosis in patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy in China. PLoS One. 2014;9(7):e102969.

461. Takimoto E, Champion HC, Li M, Belardi D, Ren S, Rodriguez ER, et al. Chronic inhibition of cyclic GMP phosphodiesterase 5A prevents and reverses cardiac hypertrophy. Nat Med. 2005;11(2):214-22.

462. Tirziu D, Chorianopoulos E, Moodie KL, Palac RT, Zhuang ZW, Tjwa M, et al. Myocardial hypertrophy in the absence of external stimuli is induced by angiogenesis in mice. J Clin Invest. 2007;117(11):3188-97.

463. Walsh K, Shiojima I. Cardiac growth and angiogenesis coordinated by intertissue interactions. J Clin Invest. 2007;117(11):3176-9.

464. Machado MV, Vieira AB, da Conceicao FG, Nascimento AR, da Nobrega ACL, Tibirica E. Exercise training dose differentially alters muscle and heart capillary density and metabolic functions in an obese rat with metabolic syndrome. Exp Physiol. 2017;102(12):1716-28.

465. Takada S, Masaki Y, Kinugawa S, Matsumoto J, Furihata T, Mizushima W, et al. Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor improved exercise capacity and

mitochondrial biogenesis in mice with heart failure via activation of glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor signalling. Cardiovasc Res. 2016;111(4):338-47.

466. Park SY, Rossman MJ, Gifford JR, Bharath LP, Bauersachs J, Richardson RS, et al. Exercise training improves vascular mitochondrial function. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2016;310(7):H821-9.

467. Kolwicz SC, Jr. An "Exercise" in Cardiac Metabolism. Front Cardiovasc Med. 2018;5:66.

468. Wadowski PP, Hulsmann M, Schorgenhofer C, Lang IM, Wurm R, Gremmel T, et al. Sublingual functional capillary rarefaction in chronic heart failure. Eur J Clin Invest. 2017.

469. Kang HJ, Kim HS, Koo BK, Kim YJ, Lee D, Sohn DW, et al. Intracoronary infusion of the mobilized peripheral blood stem cell by G-CSF is better than mobilization alone by G-CSF for improvement of cardiac function and remodeling: 2-year follow-up results of the Myocardial Regeneration and Angiogenesis in Myocardial Infarction with G-CSF and Intra-Coronary Stem Cell Infusion (MAGIC Cell) 1 trial. Am Heart J. 2007;153(2):237 e1-8.

470. Pingitore A, Lima GP, Mastorci F, Quinones A, Iervasi G, Vassalle C. Exercise and oxidative stress: potential effects of antioxidant dietary strategies in sports. Nutrition. 2015;31(7-8):916-22.

471. Murdoch CE, Zhang M, Cave AC, Shah AM. NADPH oxidase-dependent redox signalling in cardiac hypertrophy, remodelling and failure. Cardiovasc Res. 2006;71(2):208-15.

472. Jorgensen PG, Jensen MT, Mogelvang R, von Scholten BJ, Bech J, Fritz-Hansen T, et al. Abnormal echocardiography in patients with type 2 diabetes and relation to symptoms and clinical characteristics. Diab Vasc Dis Res. 2016;13(5):321-30.

473. Lee WS, Kim J. Diabetic cardiomyopathy: where we are and where we are going. Korean J Intern Med. 2017;32(3):404-21.

474. Murarka S, Movahed MR. Diabetic cardiomyopathy. J Card Fail. 2010;16(12):971-9.

475. Sagar VA, Davies EJ, Briscoe S, Coats AJ, Dalal HM, Lough F, et al. Exercise-based rehabilitation for heart failure: systematic review and metaanalysis. Open Heart. 2015;2(1):e000163. 476. Boule NG, Haddad E, Kenny GP, Wells GA, Sigal RJ. Effects of exercise on glycemic control and body mass in type 2 diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis of controlled clinical trials. JAMA. 2001;286(10):1218-27.

477. Kelley GA, Kelley KS. Effects of aerobic exercise on lipids and lipoproteins in adults with type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis of randomized-controlled trials. Public Health. 2007;121(9):643-55.

478. Nojima H, Watanabe H, Yamane K, Kitahara Y, Sekikawa K, Yamamoto H, et al. Effect of aerobic exercise training on oxidative stress in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Metabolism. 2008;57(2):170-6.

479. Stratton IM, Adler AI, Neil HA, Matthews DR, Manley SE, Cull CA, et al. Association of glycaemia with macrovascular and microvascular complications of type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 35): prospective observational study. BMJ. 2000;321(7258):405-12.

480. McGrath JC, Drummond GB, McLachlan EM, Kilkenny C, Wainwright CL. Guidelines for reporting experiments involving animals: the ARRIVE guidelines. Br J Pharmacol. 2010;160(7):1573-6.

481. Sherrington C, Herbert RD, Maher CG, Moseley AM. PEDro. A database of randomized trials and systematic reviews in physiotherapy. Man Ther. 2000;5(4):223-6.

482. Hollekim-Strand SM, Bjorgaas MR, Albrektsen G, Tjonna AE, Wisloff U, Ingul CB. High-intensity interval exercise effectively improves cardiac function in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and diastolic dysfunction: a randomized controlled trial. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2014;64(16):1758-60.

483. Loimaala A, Groundstroem K, Rinne M, Nenonen A, Huhtala H, Vuori I. Exercise training does not improve myocardial diastolic tissue velocities in Type 2 diabetes. Cardiovasc Ultrasound. 2007;5:32.

484. Sacre JW, Jellis CL, Jenkins C, Haluska BA, Baumert M, Coombes JS, et al. A six-month exercise intervention in subclinical diabetic heart disease: effects on exercise capacity, autonomic and myocardial function. Metabolism. 2014;63(9):1104-14.

485. Schmidt JF, Andersen TR, Horton J, Brix J, Tarnow L, Krustrup P, et al. Soccer training improves cardiac function in men with type 2 diabetes. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2013;45(12):2223-33. 486. Hollekim-Strand SM, Hoydahl SF, Follestad T, Dalen H, Bjorgaas MR, Wisloff U, et al. Exercise Training Normalizes Timing of Left Ventricular Untwist Rate, but Not Peak Untwist Rate, in Individuals with Type 2 Diabetes and Diastolic Dysfunction: A Pilot Study. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2016;29(5):421-30 e2.

487. Boardman NT, Hafstad AD, Lund J, Rossvoll L, Aasum E. Exercise of obese mice induces cardioprotection and oxygen sparing in hearts exposed to high-fat load. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2017;313(5):H1054-H62.

488. Stolen TO, Hoydal MA, Kemi OJ, Catalucci D, Ceci M, Aasum E, et al. Interval training normalizes cardiomyocyte function, diastolic Ca2+ control, and SR Ca2+ release synchronicity in a mouse model of diabetic cardiomyopathy. Circ Res. 2009;105(6):527-36.

489. Kesherwani V, Chavali V, Hackfort BT, Tyagi SC, Mishra PK. Exercise ameliorates high fat diet induced cardiac dysfunction by increasing interleukin 10. Front Physiol. 2015;6:124.

490. Veeranki S, Givvimani S, Kundu S, Metreveli N, Pushpakumar S, Tyagi SC. Moderate intensity exercise prevents diabetic cardiomyopathy associated contractile dysfunction through restoration of mitochondrial function and connexin 43 levels in db/db mice. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2016;92:163-73.

491. Wang H, Bei Y, Lu Y, Sun W, Liu Q, Wang Y, et al. Exercise Prevents Cardiac Injury and Improves Mitochondrial Biogenesis in Advanced Diabetic Cardiomyopathy with PGC-1alpha and Akt Activation. Cell Physiol Biochem. 2015;35(6):2159-68.

492. Ko TH, Marquez JC, Kim HK, Jeong SH, Lee S, Youm JB, et al. Resistance exercise improves cardiac function and mitochondrial efficiency in diabetic rat hearts. Pflugers Arch. 2018;470(2):263-75.

493. VanHoose L, Sawers Y, Loganathan R, Vacek JL, Stehno-Bittel L, Novikova L, et al. Electrocardiographic changes with the onset of diabetes and the impact of aerobic exercise training in the Zucker Diabetic Fatty (ZDF) rat. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2010;9:56.

494. Howorka K, Pumprla J, Haber P, Koller-Strametz J, Mondrzyk J, Schabmann A. Effects of physical training on heart rate variability in diabetic patients with various degrees of cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy. Cardiovasc Res. 1997;34(1):206-14.

495. Hansen D, Coninx K, Dendale P. The EAPC EXPERT tool. Eur Heart J. 2017;38(30):2318-20.

496. Nakamura M, Sadoshima J. Mechanisms of physiological and pathological cardiac hypertrophy. Nat Rev Cardiol. 2018;15(7):387-407.

497. Schultz MG, Hordern MD, Leano R, Coombes JS, Marwick TH, Sharman JE. Lifestyle change diminishes a hypertensive response to exercise in type 2 diabetes. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2011;43(5):764-9.

498. Drosatos K, Schulze PC. Cardiac lipotoxicity: molecular pathways and therapeutic implications. Curr Heart Fail Rep. 2013;10(2):109-21.

499. Lopaschuk GD, Ussher JR, Folmes CD, Jaswal JS, Stanley WC. Myocardial fatty acid metabolism in health and disease. Physiol Rev. 2010;90(1):207-58.

500. Pulinilkunnil T, Kienesberger PC, Nagendran J, Waller TJ, Young ME, Kershaw EE, et al. Myocardial adipose triglyceride lipase overexpression protects diabetic mice from the development of lipotoxic cardiomyopathy. Diabetes. 2013;62(5):1464-77.

501. Anderson EJ, Kypson AP, Rodriguez E, Anderson CA, Lehr EJ, Neufer PD. Substrate-specific derangements in mitochondrial metabolism and redox balance in the atrium of the type 2 diabetic human heart. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2009;54(20):1891-8.

502. Diez J, Querejeta R, Lopez B, Gonzalez A, Larman M, Martinez Ubago JL. Losartan-dependent regression of myocardial fibrosis is associated with reduction of left ventricular chamber stiffness in hypertensive patients. Circulation. 2002;105(21):2512-7.

503. Nagueh SF, Smiseth OA, Appleton CP, Byrd BF, 3rd, Dokainish H, Edvardsen T, et al. Recommendations for the Evaluation of Left Ventricular Diastolic Function by Echocardiography: An Update from the American Society of Echocardiography and the European Association of Cardiovascular Imaging. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2016;17(12):1321-60.

504. Voigt JU, Pedrizzetti G, Lysyansky P, Marwick TH, Houle H, Baumann R, et al. Definitions for a common standard for 2D speckle tracking echocardiography: consensus document of the EACVI/ASE/Industry Task Force to standardize deformation imaging. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2015;28(2):183-93.

505. Organization WH. The top 10 causes of death 2016 [Available from: https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/the-top-10-causes-of-death.

506. Liou K, Ho S, Fildes J, Ooi SY. High Intensity Interval versus Moderate Intensity Continuous Training in Patients with Coronary Artery Disease: A Metaanalysis of Physiological and Clinical Parameters. Heart Lung Circ. 2016;25(2):166-74.

507. Elliott AD, Rajopadhyaya K, Bentley DJ, Beltrame JF, Aromataris EC. Interval training versus continuous exercise in patients with coronary artery disease: a meta-analysis. Heart Lung Circ. 2015;24(2):149-57.

508. Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes-2017: Summary of Revisions. Diabetes Care. 2017;40(Suppl 1):S4-S5.

509. Trost SG, Owen N, Bauman AE, Sallis JF, Brown W. Correlates of adults' participation in physical activity: review and update. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2002;34(12):1996-2001.

510. Jung ME, Bourne JE, Beauchamp MR, Robinson E, Little JP. High-intensity interval training as an efficacious alternative to moderate-intensity continuous training for adults with prediabetes. J Diabetes Res. 2015;2015:191595.

511. Kong Z, Fan X, Sun S, Song L, Shi Q, Nie J. Comparison of High-Intensity Interval Training and Moderate-to-Vigorous Continuous Training for Cardiometabolic Health and Exercise Enjoyment in Obese Young Women: A Randomized Controlled Trial. PLoS One. 2016;11(7):e0158589.

512. Steckling FM, Farinha JB, Santos DL, Bresciani G, Mortari JA, Stefanello ST, et al. High Intensity Interval Training Reduces the Levels of Serum Inflammatory Cytokine on Women with Metabolic Syndrome. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes. 2016;124(10):597-601.

513. Francois ME, Little JP. Effectiveness and safety of high-intensity interval training in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Spectr. 2015;28(1):39-44.

514. Little JP, Gillen JB, Percival ME, Safdar A, Tarnopolsky MA, Punthakee Z, et al. Low-volume high-intensity interval training reduces hyperglycemia and increases muscle mitochondrial capacity in patients with type 2 diabetes. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2011;111(6):1554-60.

515. Verboven M, Deluyker D, Ferferieva V, Lambrichts I, Hansen D, Eijnde BO, et al. Western diet given to healthy rats mimics the human phenotype of diabetic cardiomyopathy. J Nutr Biochem. 2018;61:140-6.

516. Verboven M, Cuypers A, Deluyker D, Lambrichts I, Eijnde BO, Hansen D, et al. High intensity training improves cardiac function in healthy rats. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):5612.

517. Fletcher B, Gulanick M, Lamendola C. Risk factors for type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Cardiovasc Nurs. 2002;16(2):17-23.

518. Armstrong MJ, Martin BJ, Arena R, Hauer TL, Austford LD, Stone JA, et al. Patients with diabetes in cardiac rehabilitation: attendance and exercise capacity. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2014;46(5):845-50.

519. Korkiakangas EE, Alahuhta MA, Laitinen JH. Barriers to regular exercise among adults at high risk or diagnosed with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review. Health Promot Int. 2009;24(4):416-27.

520. Skarfors ET, Wegener TA, Lithell H, Selinus I. Physical training as treatment for type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes in elderly men. A feasibility study over 2 years. Diabetologia. 1987;30(12):930-3.

521. Donahue KE, Mielenz TJ, Sloane PD, Callahan LF, Devellis RF. Identifying supports and barriers to physical activity in patients at risk for diabetes. Prev Chronic Dis. 2006;3(4):A119.

522. Terada T, Friesen A, Chahal BS, Bell GJ, McCargar LJ, Boule NG. Feasibility and preliminary efficacy of high intensity interval training in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2013;99(2):120-9.

523. Church TS, LaMonte MJ, Barlow CE, Blair SN. Cardiorespiratory fitness and body mass index as predictors of cardiovascular disease mortality among men with diabetes. Arch Intern Med. 2005;165(18):2114-20.

524. Church TS, Cheng YJ, Earnest CP, Barlow CE, Gibbons LW, Priest EL, et al. Exercise capacity and body composition as predictors of mortality among men with diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2004;27(1):83-8.

525. Novoa U, Arauna D, Moran M, Nunez M, Zagmutt S, Saldivia S, et al. High-Intensity Exercise Reduces Cardiac Fibrosis and Hypertrophy but Does Not Restore the Nitroso-Redox Imbalance in Diabetic Cardiomyopathy. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 2017;2017:7921363.
526. Bostick B, Habibi J, Ma L, Aroor A, Rehmer N, Hayden MR, et al. Dipeptidyl peptidase inhibition prevents diastolic dysfunction and reduces myocardial fibrosis in a mouse model of Western diet induced obesity. Metabolism. 2014;63(8):1000-11.

527. Bostick B, Habibi J, DeMarco VG, Jia G, Domeier TL, Lambert MD, et al. Mineralocorticoid receptor blockade prevents Western diet-induced diastolic dysfunction in female mice. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2015;308(9):H1126-35.

528. Adeghate E, Singh J. Structural changes in the myocardium during diabetes-induced cardiomyopathy. Heart Fail Rev. 2014;19(1):15-23.

529. MacDonald MR, Petrie MC, Hawkins NM, Petrie JR, Fisher M, McKelvie R, et al. Diabetes, left ventricular systolic dysfunction, and chronic heart failure. Eur Heart J. 2008;29(10):1224-40.

530. Vaur L, Gueret P, Lievre M, Chabaud S, Passa P, study DSG. Development of congestive heart failure in type 2 diabetic patients with microalbuminuria or proteinuria: observations from the DIABHYCAR (type 2 DIABetes, Hypertension, CArdiovascular Events and Ramipril) study. Diabetes Care. 2003;26(3):855-60.

531. Murray AJ, Anderson RE, Watson GC, Radda GK, Clarke K. Uncoupling proteins in human heart. Lancet. 2004;364(9447):1786-8.

532. Young ME, Patil S, Ying J, Depre C, Ahuja HS, Shipley GL, et al. Uncoupling protein 3 transcription is regulated by peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (alpha) in the adult rodent heart. FASEB J. 2001;15(3):833-45.

533. Schrauwen P, Hoeks J, Schaart G, Kornips E, Binas B, Van De Vusse GJ, et al. Uncoupling protein 3 as a mitochondrial fatty acid anion exporter. FASEB J. 2003;17(15):2272-4.

534. Kageyama H, Suga A, Kashiba M, Oka J, Osaka T, Kashiwa T, et al. Increased uncoupling protein-2 and -3 gene expressions in skeletal muscle of STZ-induced diabetic rats. FEBS Lett. 1998;440(3):450-3.

535. Chou CJ, Cha MC, Jung DW, Boozer CN, Hashim SA, Pi-Sunyer FX. Highfat diet feeding elevates skeletal muscle uncoupling protein 3 levels but not its activity in rats. Obes Res. 2001;9(5):313-9.

536. Zhang L, Ussher JR, Oka T, Cadete VJ, Wagg C, Lopaschuk GD. Cardiac diacylglycerol accumulation in high fat-fed mice is associated with impaired insulin-stimulated glucose oxidation. Cardiovasc Res. 2011;89(1):148-56.

537. Wang ZV, Hill JA. Diabetic cardiomyopathy: catabolism driving metabolism. Circulation. 2015;131(9):771-3.

538. Goldstein BJ. Insulin resistance as the core defect in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Am J Cardiol. 2002;90(5A):3G-10G.

539. Esser N, Legrand-Poels S, Piette J, Scheen AJ, Paquot N. Inflammation as a link between obesity, metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2014;105(2):141-50.

540. Shirazi LF, Bissett J, Romeo F, Mehta JL. Role of Inflammation in Heart Failure. Curr Atheroscler Rep. 2017;19(6):27.

541. Awad AE, Kandalam V, Chakrabarti S, Wang X, Penninger JM, Davidge ST, et al. Tumor necrosis factor induces matrix metalloproteinases in cardiomyocytes and cardiofibroblasts differentially via superoxide production in a PI3Kgamma-dependent manner. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2010;298(3):C679-92.

542. Kubota T, Miyagishima M, Alvarez RJ, Kormos R, Rosenblum WD, Demetris AJ, et al. Expression of proinflammatory cytokines in the failing human heart: comparison of recent-onset and end-stage congestive heart failure. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2000;19(9):819-24.

543. Levine B, Kalman J, Mayer L, Fillit HM, Packer M. Elevated circulating levels of tumor necrosis factor in severe chronic heart failure. N Engl J Med. 1990;323(4):236-41.

544. Bluher M. Adipose tissue inflammation: a cause or consequence of obesityrelated insulin resistance? Clin Sci (Lond). 2016;130(18):1603-14.

545. Mookerjee SA, Divakaruni AS, Jastroch M, Brand MD. Mitochondrial uncoupling and lifespan. Mech Ageing Dev. 2010;131(7-8):463-72.

546. Galloway CA, Yoon Y. Mitochondrial dynamics in diabetic cardiomyopathy. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2015;22(17):1545-62.

547. Boudina S, Sena S, Theobald H, Sheng X, Wright JJ, Hu XX, et al. Mitochondrial energetics in the heart in obesity-related diabetes: direct evidence for increased uncoupled respiration and activation of uncoupling proteins. Diabetes. 2007;56(10):2457-66.

548. Boudina S, Sena S, O'Neill BT, Tathireddy P, Young ME, Abel ED. Reduced mitochondrial oxidative capacity and increased mitochondrial uncoupling impair myocardial energetics in obesity. Circulation. 2005;112(17):2686-95.

549. Martin-Timon I, Sevillano-Collantes C, Segura-Galindo A, Del Canizo-Gomez FJ. Type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease: Have all risk factors the same strength? World J Diabetes. 2014;5(4):444-70.

550. Blair SN, Kohl HW, 3rd, Paffenbarger RS, Jr., Clark DG, Cooper KH, Gibbons LW. Physical fitness and all-cause mortality. A prospective study of healthy men and women. JAMA. 1989;262(17):2395-401.

551. Blair SN, Kampert JB, Kohl HW, 3rd, Barlow CE, Macera CA, Paffenbarger RS, Jr., et al. Influences of cardiorespiratory fitness and other precursors on cardiovascular disease and all-cause mortality in men and women. JAMA. 1996;276(3):205-10.

552. Fletcher GF, Balady G, Blair SN, Blumenthal J, Caspersen C, Chaitman B, et al. Statement on exercise: benefits and recommendations for physical activity programs for all Americans. A statement for health professionals by the Committee on Exercise and Cardiac Rehabilitation of the Council on Clinical Cardiology, American Heart Association. Circulation. 1996;94(4):857-62.

553. Thompson PD, Buchner D, Pina IL, Balady GJ, Williams MA, Marcus BH, et al. Exercise and physical activity in the prevention and treatment of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease: a statement from the Council on Clinical Cardiology (Subcommittee on Exercise, Rehabilitation, and Prevention) and the Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism (Subcommittee on Physical Activity). Circulation. 2003;107(24):3109-16.

554. King P, Peacock I, Donnelly R. The UK prospective diabetes study (UKPDS): clinical and therapeutic implications for type 2 diabetes. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 1999;48(5):643-8.

555. Wilmore JH, Green JS, Stanforth PR, Gagnon J, Rankinen T, Leon AS, et al. Relationship of changes in maximal and submaximal aerobic fitness to changes in cardiovascular disease and non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus risk factors with endurance training: the HERITAGE Family Study. Metabolism. 2001;50(11):1255-63.

556. Yeater RA, Ullrich IH, Maxwell LP, Goetsch VL. Coronary risk factors in type II diabetes: response to low-intensity aerobic exercise. W V Med J. 1990;86(7):287-90.

557. de Lemos ET, Oliveira J, Pinheiro JP, Reis F. Regular physical exercise as a strategy to improve antioxidant and anti-inflammatory status: benefits in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 2012;2012:741545.

558. Karstoft K, Pedersen BK. Exercise and type 2 diabetes: focus on metabolism and inflammation. Immunol Cell Biol. 2016;94(2):146-50.

559. Verboven M, Van Ryckeghem L, Belkhouribchia J, Dendale P, Eijnde BO, Hansen D, et al. Effect of Exercise Intervention on Cardiac Function in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: A Systematic Review. Sports Med. 2019;49(2):255-68.

560. Association AD. 4. Lifestyle management: standards of medical care in diabetes-2018. Diabetes Care. 2018;41(Suppl 1):S38-S50.

561. Mujika I, Padilla S. Detraining: loss of training-induced physiological and performance adaptations. Part II: Long term insufficient training stimulus. Sports Med. 2000;30(3):145-54.

562. Mujika I, Padilla S. Detraining: loss of training-induced physiological and performance adaptations. Part I: short term insufficient training stimulus. Sports Med. 2000;30(2):79-87.

563. Najafipour F, Mobasseri M, Yavari A, Nadrian H, Aliasgarzadeh A, Mashinchi Abbasi N, et al. Effect of regular exercise training on changes in HbA1c, BMI and VO2max among patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: an 8-year trial. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care. 2017;5(1):e000414.

564. Wofford TS, Greenlund KJ, Croft JB, Labarthe DR. Diet and physical activity of U.S. adults with heart disease following preventive advice. Prev Med. 2007;45(4):295-301.

565. Zhao G, Ford ES, Li C, Balluz LS. Physical activity in U.S. older adults with diabetes mellitus: prevalence and correlates of meeting physical activity recommendations. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2011;59(1):132-7.

566. Zhao G, Ford ES, Li C, Mokdad AH. Are United States adults with coronary heart disease meeting physical activity recommendations? Am J Cardiol. 2008;101(5):557-61.

567. Bock BC, Carmona-Barros RE, Esler JL, Tilkemeier PL. Program participation and physical activity maintenance after cardiac rehabilitation. Behav Modif. 2003;27(1):37-53.

568. Hellman EA. Use of the stages of change in exercise adherence model among older adults with a cardiac diagnosis. J Cardiopulm Rehabil. 1997;17(3):145-55.

569. Ades PA, Savage PD, Tischler MD, Poehlman ET, Dee J, Niggel J. Determinants of disability in older coronary patients. Am Heart J. 2002;143(1):151-6.

570. Kilkenny C, Browne WJ, Cuthill IC, Emerson M, Altman DG. Improving bioscience research reporting: the ARRIVE guidelines for reporting animal research. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2012;20(4):256-60.

571. Yuing Farias T, Santos-Lozano A, Solis Urra P, Cristi-Montero C. Effects of Training and Detraining on Glycosylated Haemoglobin, Glycaemia and Lipid Profile in Type-Ii Diabetics. Nutr Hosp. 2015;32(4):1729-34.

572. Kubota M, Nagasaki M, Tokudome M, Shinomiya Y, Ozawa T, Sato Y. Mechanical horseback riding improves insulin sensitivity in elder diabetic patients. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2006;71(2):124-30.

573. Park SY, Lee IH. Effects on training and detraining on physical function, control of diabetes and anthropometrics in type 2 diabetes; a randomized controlled trial. Physiother Theory Pract. 2015;31(2):83-8.

574. Tokmakidis SP, Touvra AM, Douda HT, Smilios I, Kotsa K, Volaklis KA. Training, detraining, and retraining effects on glycemic control and physical fitness in women with type 2 diabetes. Horm Metab Res. 2014;46(13):974-9.

575. Dela F, Larsen JJ, Mikines KJ, Ploug T, Petersen LN, Galbo H. Insulinstimulated muscle glucose clearance in patients with NIDDM. Effects of one-legged physical training. Diabetes. 1995;44(9):1010-20.

576. Mostarda C, Rogow A, Silva IC, De La Fuente RN, Jorge L, Rodrigues B, et al. Benefits of exercise training in diabetic rats persist after three weeks of detraining. Auton Neurosci. 2009;145(1-2):11-6.

577. Heidarianpour A. Does detraining restore influence of exercise training on microvascular responses in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats? Microvasc Res. 2010;80(3):422-6.

578. Swift DL, Johannsen NM, Lavie CJ, Earnest CP, Church TS. The role of exercise and physical activity in weight loss and maintenance. Prog Cardiovasc Dis. 2014;56(4):441-7.

579. Alberti KG, Eckel RH, Grundy SM, Zimmet PZ, Cleeman JI, Donato KA, et al. Harmonizing the metabolic syndrome: a joint interim statement of the International Diabetes Federation Task Force on Epidemiology and Prevention; National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute; American Heart Association; World Heart Federation; International Atherosclerosis Society; and International Association for the Study of Obesity. Circulation. 2009;120(16):1640-5.

580. Bastard JP, Jardel C, Bruckert E, Blondy P, Capeau J, Laville M, et al. Elevated levels of interleukin 6 are reduced in serum and subcutaneous adipose tissue of obese women after weight loss. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2000;85(9):3338-42.

581. Belalcazar LM, Haffner SM, Lang W, Hoogeveen RC, Rushing J, Schwenke DC, et al. Lifestyle intervention and/or statins for the reduction of C-reactive protein in type 2 diabetes: from the look AHEAD study. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2013;21(5):944-50.

582. Bruun JM, Helge JW, Richelsen B, Stallknecht B. Diet and exercise reduce low-grade inflammation and macrophage infiltration in adipose tissue but not in skeletal muscle in severely obese subjects. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2006;290(5):E961-7.

583. Haffner S, Temprosa M, Crandall J, Fowler S, Goldberg R, Horton E, et al. Intensive lifestyle intervention or metformin on inflammation and coagulation in participants with impaired glucose tolerance. Diabetes. 2005;54(5):1566-72.

584. Pickup JC, Mattock MB, Chusney GD, Burt D. NIDDM as a disease of the innate immune system: association of acute-phase reactants and interleukin-6 with metabolic syndrome X. Diabetologia. 1997;40(11):1286-92.

585. Yudkin JS, Stehouwer CD, Emeis JJ, Coppack SW. C-reactive protein in healthy subjects: associations with obesity, insulin resistance, and endothelial dysfunction: a potential role for cytokines originating from adipose tissue? Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1999;19(4):972-8.

586. Kuk JL, Katzmarzyk PT, Nichaman MZ, Church TS, Blair SN, Ross R. Visceral fat is an independent predictor of all-cause mortality in men. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2006;14(2):336-41.

587. Carr DB, Utzschneider KM, Hull RL, Kodama K, Retzlaff BM, Brunzell JD, et al. Intra-abdominal fat is a major determinant of the National Cholesterol

Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III criteria for the metabolic syndrome. Diabetes. 2004;53(8):2087-94.

588. Kuk JL, Nichaman MZ, Church TS, Blair SN, Ross R. Liver fat is not a marker of metabolic risk in lean premenopausal women. Metabolism. 2004;53(8):1066-71.

589. Goodpaster BH, Krishnaswami S, Harris TB, Katsiaras A, Kritchevsky SB, Simonsick EM, et al. Obesity, regional body fat distribution, and the metabolic syndrome in older men and women. Arch Intern Med. 2005;165(7):777-83.

590. Boyko EJ, Fujimoto WY, Leonetti DL, Newell-Morris L. Visceral adiposity and risk of type 2 diabetes: a prospective study among Japanese Americans. Diabetes Care. 2000;23(4):465-71.

591. Saito I, Folsom AR, Brancati FL, Duncan BB, Chambless LE, McGovern PG. Nontraditional risk factors for coronary heart disease incidence among persons with diabetes: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study. Ann Intern Med. 2000;133(2):81-91.

592. Best LG, Zhang Y, Lee ET, Yeh JL, Cowan L, Palmieri V, et al. C-reactive protein as a predictor of cardiovascular risk in a population with a high prevalence of diabetes: the Strong Heart Study. Circulation. 2005;112(9):1289-95.

593. Lowe G, Woodward M, Hillis G, Rumley A, Li Q, Harrap S, et al. Circulating inflammatory markers and the risk of vascular complications and mortality in people with type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease or risk factors: the ADVANCE study. Diabetes. 2014;63(3):1115-23.

594. Dolan NC, Liu K, Criqui MH, Greenland P, Guralnik JM, Chan C, et al. Peripheral artery disease, diabetes, and reduced lower extremity functioning. Diabetes Care. 2002;25(1):113-20.

595. Donnelly R, Emslie-Smith AM, Gardner ID, Morris AD. ABC of arterial and venous disease: vascular complications of diabetes. BMJ. 2000;320(7241):1062-6.

596. Schaan BD, Dall'Ago P, Maeda CY, Ferlin E, Fernandes TG, Schmid H, et al. Relationship between cardiovascular dysfunction and hyperglycemia in streptozotocin-induced diabetes in rats. Braz J Med Biol Res. 2004;37(12):1895-902.

597. Tate M, Grieve DJ, Ritchie RH. Are targeted therapies for diabetic cardiomyopathy on the horizon? Clin Sci (Lond). 2017;131(10):897-915.

598. Gaede P, Lund-Andersen H, Parving HH, Pedersen O. Effect of a multifactorial intervention on mortality in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2008;358(6):580-91.

599. Shimizu M, Umeda K, Sugihara N, Yoshio H, Ino H, Takeda R, et al. Collagen remodelling in myocardia of patients with diabetes. J Clin Pathol. 1993;46(1):32-6.

600. Di Bonito P, Moio N, Cavuto L, Covino G, Murena E, Scilla C, et al. Early detection of diabetic cardiomyopathy: usefulness of tissue Doppler imaging. Diabet Med. 2005;22(12):1720-5.

601. Smith AD, Crippa A, Woodcock J, Brage S. Physical activity and incident type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. Diabetologia. 2016;59(12):2527-45.

602. Gheibi S, Kashfi K, Ghasemi A. A practical guide for induction of type-2 diabetes in rat: Incorporating a high-fat diet and streptozotocin. Biomed Pharmacother. 2017;95:605-13.

603. Fuentes-Antras J, Picatoste B, Gomez-Hernandez A, Egido J, Tunon J, Lorenzo O. Updating experimental models of diabetic cardiomyopathy. J Diabetes Res. 2015;2015:656795.

604. Bonnevie-Nielsen V, Steffes MW, Lernmark A. A major loss in islet mass and B-cell function precedes hyperglycemia in mice given multiple low doses of streptozotocin. Diabetes. 1981;30(5):424-9.

605. Yu T, Sungelo MJ, Goldberg IJ, Wang H, Eckel RH. Streptozotocin-Treated High Fat Fed Mice: A New Type 2 Diabetes Model Used to Study Canagliflozin-Induced Alterations in Lipids and Lipoproteins. Horm Metab Res. 2017;49(5):400-6.

606. Lumb A. Diabetes and exercise. Clin Med (Lond). 2014;14(6):673-6.

607. Shi Y, Vanhoutte PM. Macro- and microvascular endothelial dysfunction in diabetes. J Diabetes. 2017;9(5):434-49.

608. Leung FP, Yung LM, Laher I, Yao X, Chen ZY, Huang Y. Exercise, vascular wall and cardiovascular diseases: an update (Part 1). Sports Med. 2008;38(12):1009-24.

609. Guiraud T, Juneau M, Nigam A, Gayda M, Meyer P, Mekary S, et al. Optimization of high intensity interval exercise in coronary heart disease. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2010;108(4):733-40. 610. Guiraud T, Nigam A, Juneau M, Meyer P, Gayda M, Bosquet L. Acute Responses to High-Intensity Intermittent Exercise in CHD Patients. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2011;43(2):211-7.

611. Meyer K, Samek L, Schwaibold M, Westbrook S, Hajric R, Lehmann M, et al. Physical responses to different modes of interval exercise in patients with chronic heart failure--application to exercise training. Eur Heart J. 1996;17(7):1040-7.

612. Rognmo O, Moholdt T, Bakken H, Hole T, Molstad P, Myhr NE, et al. Cardiovascular risk of high- versus moderate-intensity aerobic exercise in coronary heart disease patients. Circulation. 2012;126(12):1436-40.

613. Coquart JB, Lemaire C, Dubart AE, Luttembacher DP, Douillard C, GarcinM. Intermittent versus continuous exercise: effects of perceptually lower exercisein obese women. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2008;40(8):1546-53.

614. Martinez N, Kilpatrick MW, Salomon K, Jung ME, Little JP. Affective and Enjoyment Responses to High-Intensity Interval Training in Overweight-to-Obese and Insufficiently Active Adults. J Sport Exerc Psychol. 2015;37(2):138-49.

615. Hallsworth K, Thoma C, Hollingsworth KG, Cassidy S, Anstee QM, Day CP, et al. Modified high-intensity interval training reduces liver fat and improves cardiac function in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: a randomized controlled trial. Clin Sci (Lond). 2015;129(12):1097-105.

616. Karstoft K, Winding K, Knudsen SH, Nielsen JS, Thomsen C, Pedersen BK, et al. The effects of free-living interval-walking training on glycemic control, body composition, and physical fitness in type 2 diabetic patients: a randomized, controlled trial. Diabetes Care. 2013;36(2):228-36.

617. Masuki S, Mori M, Tabara Y, Sakurai A, Hashimoto S, Morikawa M, et al. The factors affecting adherence to a long-term interval walking training program in middle-aged and older people. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2015;118(5):595-603.

618. Kyselovic J, Leddy JJ. Cardiac Fibrosis: The Beneficial Effects of Exercise in Cardiac Fibrosis. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2017;999:257-68.

619. Oliveira RS, Ferreira JC, Gomes ER, Paixao NA, Rolim NP, Medeiros A, et al. Cardiac anti-remodelling effect of aerobic training is associated with a reduction in the calcineurin/NFAT signalling pathway in heart failure mice. J Physiol. 2009;587(Pt 15):3899-910.

620. Melo SF, Fernandes T, Barauna VG, Matos KC, Santos AA, Tucci PJ, et al. Expression of MicroRNA-29 and Collagen in Cardiac Muscle after Swimming Training in Myocardial-Infarcted Rats. Cell Physiol Biochem. 2014;33(3):657-69.

621. Garciarena CD, Pinilla OA, Nolly MB, Laguens RP, Escudero EM, Cingolani HE, et al. Endurance training in the spontaneously hypertensive rat: conversion of pathological into physiological cardiac hypertrophy. Hypertension. 2009;53(4):708-14.

622. Hafstad AD, Boardman NT, Lund J, Hagve M, Khalid AM, Wisloff U, et al. High intensity interval training alters substrate utilization and reduces oxygen consumption in the heart. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2011;111(5):1235-41.

623. Marcus BH, Dubbert PM, Forsyth LH, McKenzie TL, Stone EJ, Dunn AL, et al. Physical activity behavior change: issues in adoption and maintenance. Health Psychol. 2000;19(1S):32-41.

624. Svensson M, Rosvall P, Boza-Serrano A, Andersson E, Lexell J, Deierborg T. Forced treadmill exercise can induce stress and increase neuronal damage in a mouse model of global cerebral ischemia. Neurobiol Stress. 2016;5:8-18.

Curriculum Vitae

Maxim Verboven was born on the 27th of August 1990 in Geel, Belgium. In 2008, he graduated from Pius X College Tessenderlo, science-mathematics. In 2012, he obtained a bachelors degree at the Provenciale Hogeschool Limburg, Hasselt, in Biotechnology. In 2015, he obtained a Master's degree at Hasselt University/translational University Limburg in Biomedical Sciences, option Clinical Molecular Sciences. His Master dissertation was performed at the Ziekenhuis Oost-Limburg and entitled 'In vitro simulations of valvular heart diseases' under supervision of Dr. Philippe Bertrand and Prof. Dr. Pieter Vandervoort.

In November 2015, he started his PhD at the Biomedical research institute in the research group of Prof. dr. Virginie Bito. During his PhD, Maxim followed several courses and workshops, such as effective imaging skills, diabetes educator, introduction to JMP, and organized a symposium 'Obesitas: inzichten en behandeling in de 21^{ste} eeuw'.

The results obtained during this PhD were partially published in international peer reviewed journals and were presented at several (inter)national conferences, such as the American Heart Association and the European Society of Cardiology.

Bibliography

Publications

- **Verboven M**, Cuypers A, Deluyker D, Lambrichts I, Eijnde BO, Hansen D, Bito V. High intensity training improves cardiac function in healthy rats. Scientific reports (2019) IF: 4.525
- Verboven M, Van Ryckeghem L, Belkhouribchia J, Dendale P, Eijnde BO, Hansen D, Bito V. Effect of exercise intervention on cardiac function on type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review. Sports Medicine (2018) IF: 7.074
- **Verboven M**, Deluyker D, Ferferieva V, Lambrichts I, Hansen D, Eijnde BO, Bito V. Western diet given to healthy rats mimics the human phenotype of diabetic cardiomyopathy. Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry (2018) IF: 4.808
- Deluyker D, Ferferieva V, Driesen RB, Verboven M, Lambrichts I, Bito V.
 Pyridoxamine improves survival and limits cardiac dysfunction after MI.
 Scientific reports (2017) IF: 4.525

Articles in preparation

- Verboven M, Colson D, Cuypers A, Evens L, Deluyker D, Lambrichts I, Eijnde BO, Hansen D, Bito V. Is high-intensity interval training as efficient as moderate intensity training in reversing the adverse effects of diabetic cardiomyopathy?
- **Verboven M**, Bito V. Detraining in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and underlying mechanisms: a systematic review.
- **Verboven M**, Cuypers A, Bito V. Exercise and inflammation in diabetic cardiomyopathy.
- **Verboven M**, Colson D, Evens L, Deluyker D, Lambrichts I, Hansen D, Eijnde BO, Bito V. The prevention of Diabetic Cardiomyopathy: a Sprint or a Marathon?
- Deluyker D, Evens L, Haesen S, Driesen RB, Kuster D, Verboven M, Beliën H, van der Velden J, Lambrichts I, Bito V. Glycated proteins in cardiac dysfunction: the underlying mechanisms.

Published abstract

- Verboven M, Evens L, Deluyker D, Colson D, Eijnde BO, Hansen D, Bito V. High-Intensity Interval Training is as efficient as Moderate Intensity Training in reversing Diabetic Cardiomyopathy. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* (2019) IF = 19.896
- Verboven M, Bito V. Is there a role for cardiac inflammation in the development of diabetic cardiomyopathy? Acta Cardiologica (2019) IF = 0.808
- Deluyker D, Evens L, Verboven M, Bito V. Glycated proteins in cardiac dysfunction: Big molecules, Huge impact. *Acta Cardiologica* (2018) IF = 0.808
- **Verboven M**, Deluyker D, Eijnde BO, Hansen D, Bito V. High-intensity interval training is as potent as MIT in improving cardiac function in healthy rat hearts. *Acta Cardiologica* (2018) IF = 0.808
- Verboven M, Deluyker D, Hansen D, Eijnde BO, Bito V. The origin of diabetes: high-sugar diet to induce diabetic cardiomyopathy in rats. *European Heart Journal* (2018) IF = 19.651
- Ferferieva V, Deluyker D, Verboven M, Bito V. Pyridoxamine treatment improves diastolic function in a rat model of chronic myocardial infarction. *European Heart Journal* (2016) IF = 19.651
- Bertrand OB, Verboven M, Grieten L, Ameloot M, Verdonck P, Vandervoort P. Influence of left ventricular outflow tract size on discrepancies in aortic stenosis grading: in vitro study and clinical relevance. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* (2016) IF = 19.896

Poster presentations

- Verboven M, Bito V. Is there a role for cardiac inflammation in the development of diabetic cardiomyopathy? Belgian Society of Cardiology (2019)
- Verboven M, Evens L, Deluyker D, Colson D, Eijnde BO, Hansen D, Bito V. High-Intensity Interval Training is as efficient as Moderate Intensity Training in reversing diabetic cardiomyopathy. American Heart Association (2018)

- Colson D, Verboven M, Bito V. Is high-intensity interval training as efficient as moderate-intensity training in reversing the adverse effects of diabetic cardiomyopathy? MOSA conference (2018)
- Deluyker D, Evens L, Kuster D, Verboven M, van der Velden J, Bito V. Impact of glycated proteins on cardiomyocyte function. International Society for Heart Research (2018)
- **Verboven M**, Deluyker D, Eijnde BO, Hansen D, Bito V. High-intensity interval training is equally efficient in modulating heart function as moderate intensity training. Belgian Society of Cardiology (2018)
- Van Ryckeghem L, Verboven M, Belkhouribchia J, Bito V, Hansen D. Clinical studies and fundamental research: how does exercise intervention affect cardiac function and structure in type 2 diabetes mellitus in the perspective of diabetic cardiomyopathy? Belgian Society of Cardiology (2018)
- Evens L, Deluyker D, **Verboven M**, Bito V. Do glycated proteins change cardiomyocyte function? MOSA conference (2017)
- **Verboven M**, Deluyker D, Eijnde BO, Hansen D, Bito V. High-intensity interval training is as efficient as moderate intensity training for cardiac function. Exercise metabolism (2017)
- Verboven M, Deluyker D, Hansen D, Eijnde BO, Bito V. The origin of diabetes: high-sugar diet to induce diabetic cardiomyopathy in rats. European Society of Cardiology (2017)
- Ferferieva V, Deluyker D, **Verboven M**, Bito V. Pyridoxamine treatment improves diastolic function in a rat model of chronic myocardial infarction. European Society of Cardiology (2016)
- Bertrand PB, Verboven M, Grieten L, Ameloot M, Verdonck P, Vandervoort P. Influence of left ventricular outflow tract size on discrepancies in aortic stenosis grading: in vitro study and clinical relevance. American Heart Association (2016)

Oral presentations

• **Verboven M.** High-Intensity Interval Training is as efficient as Moderate Intensity Training in reversing Diabetic Cardiomyopathy. Belgian Working Group of Basic Research in Cardiology. Louvain-La-Neuve, Belgium (2018)

Dankwoord

Het laatste hoofdstuk van dit proefschrift, de laatste woorden die ik op papier zet maar misschien ook wel de moeilijkste! Ik zou graag iedereen willen bedanken die mij de voorbije jaren hulp en steun heeft geboden, wat uiteindelijk geleid heeft tot dit proefschrift. Hieronder heb ik dan ook geprobeerd om iedereen waarmee ik heb samengewerkt te bedanken.

Allereerst wil ik mijn promotor, **Virginie Bito** bedanken om me de kans te geven dit doctoraat onder haar supervisie te mogen starten. Jij hebt me gemaakt tot de wetenschapper die ik nu ben. Je bent een inspiratie, uitstekend begeleider en supervisor en stond altijd klaar wanneer ik met vragen of problemen zat. Ik denk dat ik mag zeggen dat we een sterk team waren, waaruit enkele mooie publicaties zijn gekomen! Je gaf me de vrijheid om mijn ideeën te ontwikkelen en vond altijd wel een manier om me te motiveren. Ook heb ik van je geleerd dat ontspanning ook belangrijk is, en dat je op congres gerust op het strand mag gaan liggen in plaats van naar de talks te gaan ;-)! Ook de manier waarop jij mijn project kon uitbeelden op labretreat zal me altijd bijblijven! Ik wil je dan ook vanuit de grond van mijn hart (cardio for life) bedanken voor de voobije mooie 4 jaar. Bedankt!

Bert en **Dominique**, mijn twee co-promotoren. Jullie hulp was van onschatbare waarde bij het voorbereiden van mijn experimenten, en met behulp van jullie opmerkingen heb ik dit manuscript naar een hoger niveau kunnen brengen. Zonder jullie input had mijn doctoraat er heel anders uitgezien. Jullie gaven me de juiste richting in verband met welk diermodel uit te testen, hoe het lopen te doen, OGTTs en nog veel meer. De kennis die jullie me hebben bijgebracht was van goudwaarde gedurende mijn doctoraat. Ook wil ik jullie danken voor de voetbalwedstrijden met BIOMED tegen jullie REVAL, met steeds een mooie afloop! ;-). Weet dat de transfermarkt snel weer zal opengaan!

Ik wil ook de andere leden van mijn jury bedanken, **Prof. dr. Marcel Ameloot**, **Prof. Dr. Paul Dendale, Prof. Dr. Bernard Cosyns** en **Prof. Dr. Dirk J Duncker**, voor het kritisch lezen en evalueren van mijn manuscript om dit zo te verbeteren. Een speciaal bedankje gaat natuurlijk naar **Dorien Deluyker.** Al van in de eerste week zat de sfeer er al goed in (en niet alleen de sfeer ;-)) !! Je hebt me meteen onder je vleugels genomen en me geholpen waar nodig. Ik kon altijd rekenen op je goede raad, en soms hielp je me eraan herinneren wat ik nog moest doen wat ook handig was ;). Ik vermoed dat wij het meest efficiënte team zijn dat BIOMED ooit heeft gezien als het gaat over OGTT! Verder heb ik veel genoten van onze babbels op de bureau, het samen stevig op stap gaan tot 9 uur 's avonds, aperol en kiwitini avonden en zo kan ik blijven doorgaan! Je bent een geweldige collega en vriendin, en ik heb iedere dag van onze samenwerking genoten!

Lize Evens, die andere collega van Cardio! Ook met jou heb ik geweldige (maar iets minder lange) tijden gehad op de bureau. Het getrouwde feestbeest, altijd wel in voor wat carnavalmuziek op de bureau! Ook jij stond altijd klaar om te helpen of om advies te geven. Met jullie twee was de bureau steeds weer een toffe plaats om te zijn, en kwam ik iedere dag met plezier naar BIOMED (uitgezonderd van sommige trainingsdagen)!

Vesselina, onze ex post-doc, aan jou heb ik ook veel te danken. We zijn maar even collega's geweest, maar die periode was genoeg voor een al bij al legendarische barbecue in Leuven mee te maken ;-)! Verder wil ik je danken voor alle praktische kennis die je mij hebt doorgegeven. Je was onmisbaar als echoen drukmetingspecialist, maar door je kennis zo goed mogelijk door te geven aan ons maken we er het beste van!

Ik kan natuurlijk mijn studenten, **Anne** en **Dora**, niet vergeten! Jullie hebben me uitstekend geholpen gedurende mijn PhD en mijn leven een stuk makkelijker gemaakt. Daarvoor wil ik jullie dan ook bedanken. Het was een plezier om jullie te mogen begeleiden.

Jens, ook jou wil ik bedanken voor de voorbije jaren. Allereerst om me te laten genieten van jouw kookskills tijdens de cooking nights. Verder ook voor alle bieren die we samen gedronken hebben op het terras van de fitlink, of de flessen wijn die we hebben leeggemaakt tijdens filmavonden en cooking nights. Ook voor de toffe surftrips, waar we uiteraard helemaal niet gesurft hebben, of de Lanzarote trip waar we uiteraard ook niet gesurfd hebben. Of voor die avonden uit die legendarisch waren, en het kamperen op Rock Herk. Zoveel mooie herinneringen van de voorbije jaren. Ook je steeds kritische blik op wetenschap waardeer ik, en de vele (muziek)discussies!

Sofie, hier dan de gecensureerde versie van mijn dankwoord over jou ;-)! Met jou heb ik ook vele mooie momenten beleefd. De korte gesprekken steeds om kwart voor vijf die eventueel een klein beetje konden uitlopen. Meestal gingen deze gesprekken uiteraard over hoog-wetenschappelijke onderwerpen zoals ex on the beach – double dutch en dergelijke. Je bent altijd vriendelijk en klaar om te helpen. Ik heb veel van je geleerd in de voorbije jaren, bv. om niet zo maar in het rond te sproeien. We hebben veel gelachen, en ik kan je alleen maar bedanken voor de goede tijd die je me gegeven hebt op BIOMED, als collega en vriendin.

Petra Bex, jou kon ik steeds van ver horen aankomen! Altijd klaar voor een kleine onderbreking gedurende dag, met een goed verhaal en daarbij de typische lach. Je bent veruit de beste performer van BIOMED, en een groot karaoketalent. Ik heb veel met je gelachen, maar je hebt me ook dikwijls uit de nood geholpen met het helpen trainen van mijn dieren.

Ook de andere leden en ex-leden van Fysiologie wil ik bedanken voor de voorbije jaren. **Lize, Jolien, Oyku, Joris, Bert, Silke, Sophie, Jirka, Jo** en **Rosette**, de hilarische labretreats, de vele etentjes in l'Avenida, de karaoke op de Biomeddag, het knutselen van kersttruien,... Jullie hebben mijn tijd op BIOMED geweldig gemaakt, en jullie waren allen geweldige collega's.

Met jou ben ik aan Biotechnologie begonnen zo vele jaren geleden, **Selien**, waarna we geschakeld zijn naar Biomedische Wetenschappen en dan uiteindelijk allebei aan een doctoraat mogen beginnen! Wie had dat gedacht bij de start in 2009 ;-). Jij hebt ondertussen al je doctoraat behaald, dr. Sanchez! Bedankt voor alle toffe gesprekken, lunchen, etentjes en meer de voorbije jaren! Ook met **Bram** ben ik vele jaren geleden samen begonnen aan Biotechnologie. Na een iets ander traject ben je nu ook op BIOMED beland, en ben je ook bezig aan een PhD. Bedankt dat je mij me laat uitleven op de squashcourt iedere woensdag, en geen paniek, binnenkort laat ik je nog wel eens winnen!

Ruth Mazon Cabrera, ook jou wil ik uiteraard graag bedanken. Mi Espanol es no muy bien, thus I will do this part in English! I would like to thank you to be there for me when I needed it when I was stressed. You helped me to always keep on going, never give up and you always believed in me. You did everything to make my life easier, and just having you by my side helped me to endure everything. When I needed some relaxation, you made sure to organize something nice so I could clear my head. We had some amazing adventures during my PhD, and we will have a lot more the rest of our lives ;-)! Together, we are the best team in almost everything, except canoeing. With you on my side, I can tackle every challenge or obstacle that is in my path. You are the best travelbuddy that I can imagine, as you always fall asleep and I can pick my favorite music ;)! Every single day you surprise me, and make me a better person. Thank you for being always there for me. And one last tip for when you have to defend your PhD: ontspanje! Juntos, ya escalamos una montaña, lo que demuestra que si estamos juntos, ningún obstáculo es lo suficientemente grande como para detenernos. Te quiero!

Als laatste wil ik **mama, papa, Rosanne** en **Matisse** bedanken! Al die jaren hebben jullie me gesteund en geholpen. Ik denk niet dat jullie zo veel jaren geleden ooit hadden kunnen denken dat ik nu hier zou staan, maar met jullie hulp is het gelukt! Meer nog, klaarblijkelijk heb ik het wetenschapsvirus thuis goed meegegeven, aangezien mijn twee kleine zusjes ook biomedische wetenschappen hebben gestudeerd, met succes. Ook jullie wens ik nog succes met jullie verdere carrière, en hopelijk kunnen jullie ooit in mijn voetsporen treden, no pressure!

"The most exciting phrase to hear in science, the one that heralds new discoveries, is not 'Eureka!' but 'That's funny...' " Isaac Asimov